# BIOMECHANICAL AND CLINICAL FACTORS INVOLVED IN KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS PROGRESSION

NICHOLAS M. BRISSON

# BIOMECHANICAL AND CLINICAL FACTORS INVOLVED IN THE PROGRESSION OF KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS

By NICHOLAS M. BRISSON, B.Sc. (Hons), M.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Nicholas Brisson, 2017

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2017)		McMaster University
(School of Rehabilitation Sc	ience)	Hamilton, Ontario
TITLE:	Biomechanical and clinical factors in progression of knee osteoarthritis	volved in the
AUTHOR:	Nicholas M. Brisson, B.Sc. (Hons), M University of Ottawa, Ontario)	A.Sc. (Human Kinetics,
SUPERVISOR:	Monica R. Maly, Ph.D.	
NUMBER OF PAGES:	xix, 195	

#### LAY ABSTRACT

Knee osteoarthritis is a multifactorial disease whose progression involves worsening joint structure, symptoms, and mobility. Various factors are linked to the progression of this disease, including biomechanical, patient-reported outcome and mobility measures. This thesis provides important information on how these factors, separately and collectively, are involved in worsening disease over time, as well as benchmarks that are useful to clinicians and researchers in interpreting results from interventional or longitudinal research. First, we examined how different elements of knee loading were associated with changes in knee cartilage quantity over time in persons with knee osteoarthritis. Second, we examined how different elements of knee muscle capacity and patientreported outcomes were related to changes in mobility over time in persons with knee osteoarthritis. Third, we examined the stability over time of various biomechanical risk factors for the progression of knee osteoarthritis. Novel results from this thesis showed that: (1) larger knee loads predicted cartilage loss over 2.5 years in obese individuals with knee osteoarthritis but not in persons of normal weight or overweight; (2) among women with knee osteoarthritis with lower self-efficacy (or confidence), lesser knee muscle capacity (strength, power) was an important predictor of declining stair-climbing performance over 2 years; and (3) clinical interventions that can positively alter knee biomechanics include weight loss, knee muscle strengthening, as well as specific knee surgery and alterations during walking to reduce knee loads. Interventions for knee osteoarthritis should target biomechanical and clinical outcomes simultaneously.

iii

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Knee osteoarthritis is a degenerative disease characterized by damaged joint tissues (e.g., cartilage) that leads to joint pain, and reduced mobility and quality of life. Various factors are involved in disease progression, including biomechanical, patient-reported outcome and mobility measures. This thesis provides important longitudinal data on the role of these factors in disease progression, and the trajectory of biomechanical factors in persons with knee osteoarthritis.

**Objectives:** (1) Determine the extent to which changes over 2.5 years in knee cartilage thickness and volume in persons with knee osteoarthritis were predicted by the knee adduction and flexion moment peaks, and knee adduction moment impulse and loading frequency. (2) Determine the extent to which changes over 2 years in walking and stair-climbing mobility in women with knee osteoarthritis were predicted by quadriceps strength and power, pain and self-efficacy. (3) Estimate the relative and absolute test-retest reliabilities of biomechanical risk factors for knee osteoarthritis progression.

**Methods:** Data were collected at 3-month intervals during a longitudinal (3-year), observational study of persons with clinical knee osteoarthritis (n=64). Magnetic resonance imaging of the study knee was acquired at the first and last assessments, and used to determine cartilage thickness and volume. Accelerometry and dynamometry data were acquired every 3 months, and used to determine knee loading frequency and knee muscle strength and power, respectively. Walking and stair-climbing mobility, as well as pain and self-efficacy data, were also collected every 3 months. Gait analyses were performed every 6 months, and used to calculate lower-extremity kinematics and kinetics.

iv

**Results:** (1) The knee adduction moment peak and impulse each interacted with body mass index to predict loss of medial tibial cartilage volume over 2.5 years. These interactions suggested that larger joint loads in those with a higher body mass index were associated with greater loss of cartilage volume. (2) In women, lower baseline selfefficacy predicted decreased walking and stair ascent performances over 2 years. Higher baseline pain intensity/frequency also predicted decreased walking performance. Quadriceps strength and power each interacted with self-efficacy to predict worsening stair ascent times. These interactions suggested that the impact of lesser quadriceps strength and power on worsening stair ascent performance was more important among women with lower self-efficacy. (3) Relative reliabilities were high for the knee adduction moment peak and impulse, quadriceps strength and power, and body mass index (i.e., intraclass correlation coefficients >0.80). Absolute reliabilities were high for quadriceps strength and body mass index (standard errors of measurement <15% of the mean). Data supported the use of interventions effective in reducing the knee adduction moment and body mass index, and increasing quadriceps strength, in persons with knee osteoarthritis.

**Conclusion:** Findings from this thesis suggest that biomechanical factors play a modest independent role in the progression of knee osteoarthritis. However, in the presence of other circumstances (e.g., obesity, low self-efficacy, high pain intensity/frequency), biomechanical factors can vastly worsen the disease. Strategies aiming to curb structural progression and improve clinical outcomes in knee osteoarthritis should target biomechanical and clinical outcomes simultaneously.

V

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are a number of people I would like to acknowledge who have helped, supported, and guided me throughout this journey. First, I would like to express a distinguished thank you to my academic Supervisor, Dr. Monica Maly, for having played such an important role as a teacher and mentor. You have provided me with wonderful learning and research opportunities, invested countless hours and immeasurable effort toward my work and success, and displayed patience, understanding and guidance throughout various challenges over the past years. I eagerly look to the future knowing that our experiences together have equipped me with a well-rounded skillset and research abilities required to succeed in whatever role I may pursue.

I would also like thank my Supervisory Committee Members, Professor Paul Stratford, Dr. Karen Beattie and Dr. Jim Potvin. You have each devoted a significant amount of time to my thesis work, and contributed in unique ways to my research training by providing valuable feedback and insight during the completion of my thesis. Professor Stratford, in the later years of my thesis, it seemed like we had weekly (and biweekly, and triweekly) stats meetings. Your prowess in statistical methods is unmatched. You were always willing to examine data and help with analyses, always ensuring I was on the right path. Your investment in my success did not go unnoticed and I am truly grateful for all of your help. It is often a relief knowing that where there's a pile, there's also a pony... Dr. Beattie, you were a cornerstone of the musculoskeletal imaging portion of my work. You always provided timely, thorough, constructive and thought-generating feedback. I always felt more confident about abstract and manuscript submissions knowing that you had reviewed them with a critical eye. Dr. Potvin, I can truly say that you were my favourite Biomechanics teacher. You have an unmatchable teaching style that captivated and inspired me. You not only taught important and complex biomechanical concepts in a way that was easily assimilable but you created an enjoyable learning environment that facilitated fruitful discussions and always ensured that I correctly grasped each concept. I will never forget your flip-it-and-reverse-it nivtopj T-Rex arms.

Thank you to my collaborators, Dr. Rick Adachi at the CAMRIS, as well as Dr. Saara Totterman and Dr. José Tamez-Peña at Qmetrics for sharing your invaluable resources and expertise, without which the completion of my thesis would not have been possible.

Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge my MacMobilize lab mates for contributing to an enjoyable and stimulating work environment. I never could have completed this thesis without all your help and support. Each of you has shared insight, feedback and a helping hand when needed. A special thanks to Emily, Christine and Neha for help with participant scheduling, equipment setup, and data collection and management. Thanks Brittany for your help processing gait data (by the way, did you find file 2a?). Thank you Anthony for your MATLAB expertise and helping with data processing, and more importantly, for always being there to bounce around ideas, talk stats, talk shop, and just being a friend. Also, thanks Liz Dzaman for all the administrative support you provided during my time in the School of Rehabilitation Science, and your willingness to help with various endeavours.

vii

To my friends who have been by my side during the completion of my PhD, thank you. Some of you have been there for many years, past and present, and have been pillars of support and encouragement, displaying unwavering friendship. Thanks Brian, Crystal, David, Joseph, Leanne, Marc, Maxine and Shawn. I recognize how lucky I am to have been surrounded by such amazing friends. Others represent newer friendships that flourished while living in Hamilton: Beau, Jeff, Alex, Chris, Andrew, Kayla, Ashley, Danielle, Catherine, and Holly. Although life may direct us on different paths, know that I have cherished moments with each of you and I thank you for having been there. I will always proudly wear my anchor tattoo.

Lastly, and importantly, thank you to my mom, dad and brother. You have shown me unconditional love, pride and support, through good and hard times, over the many years of my academic journey. I am truly lucky to have you not only as my family, but also as my friends. Mom and dad, through example, you instilled in me a set of core values – importance of family, respect, honesty, trust, hard work, and maintaining a healthy lifestyle and work/life balance. Undoubtedly, these attributes are cornerstones of my success and helped forge me into the man I am today. My accomplishments are a direct reflection of your own success in raising a wonderful family. Thank you for all that you have done for me. I love you with all my heart.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Lay Abstract	iii
Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	ix
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiii
List of Abbreviations	XV
Declaration of Academic Achievement	xvi
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction	1
Osteoarthritis & Socioeconomic Burden	2
Pathology – Knee Osteoarthritis	3
Methods of Measuring Knee Osteoarthritis Progression	5
Characterizing Structural Knee Osteoarthritis Progression	6
Radiography	6
Magnetic Resonance Imaging	
Characterizing Clinical Knee Osteoarthritis Progression	15
Patient-Reported Outcomes	15
Performance-Based Measures	19
Risk Factors for Radiographic Knee Osteoarthritis	21
Biomechanics in Knee Osteoarthritis Progression	24
Knee Adduction Moment	25
Knee Flexion Moment	
Loading Frequency	
Cumulative Knee Adductor Load	
Obesity	
Quadriceps Strength & Power	
Gaps in the Literature	
Research Objectives	42
Significance & Clinical Relevance	43

CHAPTER 2
Gait mechanics & obesity predict the progression of structural knee osteoarthritis45
Abstract46
Introduction47
Methods
Participants
Cartilage Morphology51
Biomechanical Assessment
Loading Frequency
Statistical Analysis53
Results55
Model 1: Knee Adduction and Flexion Moment Peaks
Model 2: Cumulative Knee Adductor Load57
Discussion
Acknowledgements
References
CHAPTER 3
Muscle capacity & patient-reported outcomes predict mobility changes in knee osteoarthritis
Abstract76
Introduction78
Materials and Methods
Participants
Quadriceps capacity
Patient-reported outcomes
Mobility performance
Statistical analysis
Results
Six Minute Walk Test
Stair ascent
Stair descent
Discussion
Acknowledgements

References97
CHAPTER 4
Knee adduction moment, body mass index & quadriceps strength are important clinical targets in knee osteoarthritis
Abstract111
Introduction113
Methods115
Participants115
Gait Analysis116
Quadriceps Strength and Power118
Physical Activity119
Body Mass Index120
Statistical Analysis
Results121
Discussion
Acknowledgements
References131
CHAPTER 5
Discussion
Thesis Summary141
Examining Different Elements of Osteoarthritis142
Knee Adduction Moment & Obesity Interact in Predicting Cartilage Loss
Knee Flexion Moment & Cartilage Loss146
Loading Frequency & Cartilage Loss
Cumulative Knee Adductor Load & Cartilage Loss
Pain & Mobility151
Muscle Capacity & Patient-Reported Outcomes Interact on Mobility Changes153
Role of Biomechanics in the Progression of Knee Osteoarthritis154
Developing Effective Treatment Strategies in Knee Osteoarthritis
Limitations157
Future Directions
References

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1.	Kellgren-Lawrence classification system of radiographic knee osteoarthritis	8
Table 1-2.	Osteoarthritis Research International grading scale of radiographic knee (tibiofemoral) osteoarthritis	9
Table 2-1.	Descriptive statistics of participants at baseline (n=52)	. 72
Table 2-2.	Statistically significant associations between baseline variables and longitudinal changes in cartilage morphology (n=49). The dependent variable is change in medial tibial cartilage volume (mm <sup>3</sup> /day) over 2.5 years. Baseline covariates are age, sex, BMI, and baseline medial tibial cartilage volume. Predictors are KAM peak and KFM peak for model 1, and KAM impulse and loading frequency for model 2. Regression models used centered data, with robust error estimates. Statistically significant values are presented in bold.	. 73
Table 3-1.	Descriptive statistics of the sample at baseline (n=37 women)	104
Table 3-2.	Relationships of baseline covariates (age, body mass index, mobility score) and statistically significant predictors [and trends] (pain, self-efficacy, quadriceps strength) with the dependent variable 2-year change in Six Minute Walk Test score (n=37)	105
Table 3-3.	Relationships of baseline covariates (age, body mass index, mobility score) and statistically significant predictors [and trends], (pain, self-efficacy, quadriceps strength, quadriceps power) with the dependent variable 2-year change in stair ascent score (n=37). Regression models used centered data for terms included in the interactions	106
Table 4-1.	Descriptive statistics of participants at baseline (n=46)	138
Table 4-2.	Biomechanical measurements of participants at the three times of assessment.	139
Table 4-3.	Summary of the relative (ICCs) and absolute (SEMs) test-retest reliabilities, as well as the minimum detectable change at the 95% confidence interval for biomechanical risk factors for knee osteoarthritis progression. Reliability estimates are based on data obtained at baseline, 6-month and 24-month follow-ups.	140

### LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 1-1. Example of a coronal weight-bearing knee radiograph acquired in a standardized fixed-flexion position, with the feet and knees in approximately 5° of external rotation and 20° of flexion, respectively. This x-ray depicts a knee with severe medial compartment dominant OA (KL-4). Joint space narrowing, osteophytes (and bone contour deformity) and sclerosis (i.e., hardening) are visible in the medial knee.. .... 7

- Figure 3-1. Interaction between baseline quadriceps strength and self-efficacy for functional tasks, after adjusting for baseline covariates (age, body mass index, mobility score), in predicting change in stair ascent time over 2 years in women (n=37) with knee osteoarthritis. Lower scores indicate lower self-efficacy. The impact of strength on change in stair ascent time is greater in those with lower self-efficacy.
- **Figure 3-2.** Interaction between baseline quadriceps power and self-efficacy for functional tasks, after adjusting for baseline covariates (age, body mass index, mobility score), in predicting change in stair ascent time over 2 years in women (n=37) with knee osteoarthritis. Lower scores indicate lower self-efficacy. The impact of power on change in stair ascent time is greater in those with lower self-efficacy. 109

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Definition
6MWT	Six Minute Walk Test
ASES	Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale
BLOKS	Boston Leeds Osteoarthritis Knee Score
BMI	Body Mass Index
dGEMRIC	Delayed Gadolinium Enhanced Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Cartilage
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficient
ICOAP	Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain Measure
K-L	Kellgren-Lawrence
KAM	Knee Adduction Moment
KFM	Knee Flexion Moment
KOOS	Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score
MDC95	Minimal Detectable Change at the 95% Confidence Level
MOAKS	MRI Osteoarthritis Knee Score
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MVIC	Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction
OA	Osteoarthritis
PRO	Patient-Reported Outcome
SD	Standard Deviation
SEM	Standard Error of Measurement
SPGR	Spoiled Gradient Recalled
WOMAC	Western Ontario and McMaster Universitites Osteoarthritis Index
WORMS	Whole-Organ Magnetic Resonance Imaging Score

#### DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

This thesis is the original work of Nicholas M. Brisson, Doctor of Philosophy Candidate in the School of Rehabilitation Science at McMaster University. Data enclosed in this thesis were collected from 2012–2016 during a longitudinal, observational study of one convenience sample of individuals with clinical knee osteoarthritis. Study participants (n=64) were recruited from local rheumatology and orthopaedic surgery offices. This prospective cohort was followed for approximately three years. Over this duration, data were collected at 3-month intervals for each participant. Magnetic resonance imaging scans of the study knee were acquired at the first and last assessments. Accelerometry and dynamometry data, as well as performance-based measures and patient-reported outcomes were collected every 3 months. Gait data were collected every 6 months.

This thesis is comprised of five chapters, the contents of which are described below. Mr. Brisson is the primary author of this document, including the three distinct manuscripts contained within. Mr. Brisson was part of a team responsible for executing this longitudinal research, and his specific contributions included: development of research questions and literature reviews for each distinct manuscript; data acquisition; data processing/reduction; data analysis and interpretation; and preparation of manuscripts.

The first chapter of this thesis is an introductory chapter that presents, in an integrated fashion, the overall context, key topics and relevant literature, as well as the rationales and objectives of this work.

xvi

The second chapter of this thesis (first manuscript) describes a study that examined the link between joint mechanics and longitudinal changes in cartilage morphology in knee OA. This manuscript has been published in the *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*. The full reference is as follows: **Brisson, N. M.**, Wiebenga, E. G., Stratford, P. W., Beattie, K. A., Totterman, S., Tamez-Peña, J. G., Callaghan, J.P., Adachi, J.D., Maly, M. R. (2017). Baseline knee adduction moment interacts with body mass index to predict loss of medial tibial cartilage volume over 2.5 years in knee osteoarthritis. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 1–8. doi.org/10.1002/jor.23564

The third chapter of this thesis (second manuscript) describes a study that examined the association between each of muscle capacity, pain and self-efficacy with longitudinal changes in mobility performance in knee OA. This manuscript is intended for future publication, and is currently formatted for submission to *Clinical Rheumatology*.

The fourth chapter of this thesis (third manuscript) describes a study that estimated test-retest reliabilities of biomechanical factors associated with knee OA progression. This manuscript is currently undergoing review in *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. Submission information is as follows: (Under review) Brisson, N. M., Stratford, P. W., Maly, M. R. (2017). Relative and absolute test-retest reliabilities of biomechanical risk factors for knee osteoarthritis progression: benchmark for meaningful change. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*; 30 pages. Manuscript number OAC8132.

xvii

The fifth chapter of this thesis is a discussion and conclusion chapter that summarizes the main findings and draws out the overall implications of the research, acknowledges study limitations and identifies potential future directions of research.

The following individuals were important contributors to this thesis work. Dr. Monica R. Maly was the thesis Supervisor and Principal Investigator who acquired funding for this research; lead study conception and design; advised on all research questions; was involved in the acquisition, analysis and interpretation of data; and critically revised all three manuscripts prior to publication. Professor Paul W. Stratford was a PhD Supervisory Committee Member who provided expertise in knee osteoarthritis research and guidance in statistical methods; contributed to the study conception and design; advised on all research questions; supported the analysis and interpretation of data; and critically revised all three manuscripts prior to publication. Dr. Karen A. Beattie was a PhD Supervisory Committee Member who provided expertise in knee osteoarthritis research and guidance in musculoskeletal imaging; contributed to the study conception and design, and data acquisition; and critically revised all three manuscripts prior to publication. Dr. Jim R. Potvin was a PhD Supervisory Committee Member who provided expertise and guidance in musculoskeletal modelling, and biomechanics concepts and methodologies; and contributed to the interpretation of data. Dr. Saara Totterman and Dr. José G. Tamez-Peña were collaborators from Qmetrics Technologies who contributed to the analysis and interpretation of radiographic and magnetic resonance imaging data; and critically revised the first manuscript prior to publication. Dr. Jonathan D. Adachi was a collaborator who provided access to patients and imaging equipment

xviii

required to carry out the research project; contributed to the study conception and design; and critically revised the first manuscript prior to publication. Dr. Jack P. Callaghan contributed to the study conception and design; and critically revised the first manuscript prior to publication. Emily G. Wiebenga, Christine Dibblee, Neha Arora and Dr. Kristina M. Calder helped with participant scheduling, equipment setup, data collection and data management required for this longitudinal research. Anthony Gatti and Brittany Bulbrook helped with processing of motion capture and dynamometry data.

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

This thesis focused on osteoarthritis (OA) of the knee, a complex disease mainly due to its multifactorial nature. The progression of knee OA can be characterized according to any one of its elements: be it changes in joint structures, symptoms or mobility; where each element reflects a different disease process. What further complicates our understanding of OA progression is that there exist various disease trajectories: some patients may experience worsening, no change, or improvements over time in diverse aspects of the disease. The overarching objective of this thesis was to investigate the role of various factors involved in the progression of knee OA, as well as the different consequences of the disease. Of particular interest were biomechanical, patient-reported, performance-based, and structural outcomes. By examining these different outcomes, we hoped to acquire a more comprehensive understanding of how knee OA evolves over time. The research purposes, specific to knee OA, were to advance the present body of knowledge concerning: (1) the association between mechanical joint loading and in vivo longitudinal changes in cartilage morphology; (2) the relationship of muscle capacity and patient-reported outcomes (PROs) with longitudinal changes in mobility performance; and (3) the reliability (or stability) of biomechanical measurements over longer time intervals. This introductory chapter reviews the socioeconomic burden of OA, knee OA pathology, methods of measuring and characterizing knee OA progression, as well as risk factors for and biomechanical factors implicated in the progression of knee OA. Further,

the gaps in the literature (for which detailed reviews of literature are provided in the distinct manuscripts (Chapters 2–4)) and corresponding research questions addressed in this thesis are summarized.

#### **Osteoarthritis & Socioeconomic Burden**

Osteoarthritis is a progressive degenerative disease of tissues (e.g., cartilage, bone, muscle) within and around synovial joints that leads to joint pain, stiffness, swelling, restricted mobility and ultimately, functional disability (Guccione, 1994). Osteoarthritis is the most debilitating musculoskeletal condition amongst older adults (Badley, 2005). Compared to the general population, individuals with OA have higher rates of comorbidities (e.g., cardiovascular, respiratory and gastrointestinal diseases; cancer; dementia), resulting in a higher risk of mortality (Nuesch et al., 2011). It was estimated that more than 50% of individuals over 65 years of age, and approximately 80% over 75 years old, have evidence of radiographic OA (Arden & Nevitt, 2006). In 2010, an estimated 4.4 million (or 1 in 8) Canadians were living with OA. As a result, the total economic burden of OA on the Canadian economy was approximately \$27.5 billion, with direct costs (e.g., hospitalizations, visits to healthcare professionals, diagnostic tests, drugs) exceeding \$10 billion, and indirect costs (e.g., lost productivity, informal care by family members) surpassing \$17 billion (Bombardier et al., 2011). The number of Canadians with OA was projected to nearly double between 2010 and 2031 (Sharif et al., 2012). Rising prevalence rates of OA are, in large part, attributable to an aging population and increasing rates of obesity (Bombardier et al., 2011).

#### Pathology – Knee Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis most commonly affects the knee joint due to its weight-bearing role (Felson, 2004). Knee OA is more prevalent and more severe in women than in men (Felson, 2004; Nuesch et al., 2011). Symptomatic knee OA affects ~13–16% of women and ~10–12% of men over 60 years of age (Turkiewicz et al., 2014; Zhang & Jordan, 2010). This disease is multifactorial, involving joint structure, symptoms, and mobility (Lane et al., 2011). While relationships do exist between structural breakdown and symptoms (Kaukinen et al., 2016; Oak et al., 2013), these do not necessarily overlap (Fukui et al., 2010; Hunter et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013).

Degenerative changes implicated in OA affect the whole joint (Arden & Nevitt, 2006; Felson, 2006). Hallmarks of structural OA include loss of articular cartilage, associated changes to the underlying bone, as well as the formation of cysts and osteophytes and thickening of the joint capsule (Felson, 2006; Goldring & Goldring, 2010). Degenerative changes can also occur in muscles, ligaments, and the synovium (Felson, 2006; Sun, 2010). Deleterious changes to chondral structures are of paramount importance in knee OA. The clinical impact of cartilage loss is likely most significant in contributing to, or perpetuating, malalignment of the joint, necessitating surgical realignment in many cases. Articular cartilage is a specialized (hyaline) tissue that lines the ends of bones within joints, for instance, the femur and tibia of the knee joint. This cartilage improves the congruency of the load-bearing surface and provides a frictionless surface to facilitate joint motion (Buckwalter et al., 2005; Lu & Mow, 2008). Cartilage also attenuates and distributes forces between articulating bones within a joint

(Buckwalter et al., 2005; Lu & Mow, 2008). Cartilage response to mechanical loads depends on loading magnitude, duration, frequency and rate (e.g., impact) (Chen et al., 1999; Jones et al., 2003; Lu & Mow, 2008; Qi & Changlin, 2006). The integrity of articular cartilage depends on its ability to maintain a balance between degenerative and synthesizing processes, including the maintenance of collagen and proteoglycans (Andriacchi et al., 2004; Buckwalter et al., 2005; Sun, 2010). Once mature articular cartilage is damaged, it has a poor ability for repair because it is devoid of nerves and blood vessels (Buckwalter et al., 2005; Sun, 2010). Cartilage damage and consequent impaired function may lead to abnormal joint mechanics, in turn promoting the deterioration of other joint tissues (Andriacchi et al., 2004; Buckwalter et al., 2005; Sun, 2010).

Knee OA is the leading cause of pain, restricted mobility and disability amongst older adults (Litwic et al., 2013). Clinical knee OA is diagnosed based on patient history and physical examination criteria. Clinical diagnosis is typically performed according to the specifications established by the American College of Rheumatology (Altman et al., 1986). These criteria include having knee pain on most days of the month and at least three of the following six criteria: 50 years of age or older, morning stiffness lasting less than 30 minutes, crepitus on active motion, bony enlargement, bony tenderness, and no palpable warmth of synovium (Altman et al., 1986).

Knee OA is a complex disease that involves degradation of joint structure, symptoms including pain, and mobility limitations; each element reflects different disease processes (Lane et al., 2011). The progression of knee OA can be characterized

according to changes observed in any one of these diverse aspects. Importantly, there exist various disease trajectories in knee OA. Some patients may experience worsening, no change, or improvements over time in diverse aspects of the disease (Bartlett et al., 2011; Bastick et al., 2016; Collins et al., 2014; Oiestad et al., 2016; White et al., 2016). To acquire a comprehensive understanding of knee OA evolution, clinical biomechanics research must consider the multiple factors implicated in disease progression.

#### Methods of Measuring Knee Osteoarthritis Progression

The progression of structural knee OA can be evaluated with musculoskeletal imaging (e.g., radiography, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)), whereas the progression of clinical knee OA can be characterized using PROs and performance-based measures. The relationship between radiographic and clinical measurements is not particularly strong (Bedson & Croft, 2008; Kinds et al., 2011). For instance, radiographic changes in knee OA were an imprecise marker of knee pain (Bedson & Croft, 2008), a finding confirmed by a systematic review of studies examining the association between radiographic and clinical OA features (Kinds et al., 2011). Results from this critical appraisal showed that, of the 39 studies included, only 10% noted the presence of an association, while 18% noted no association and 72% reported inconsistent relationships (Kinds et al., 2011). Therefore, a combination of each type of measure is likely required to gain in-depth insight regarding knee OA progression.

#### **Characterizing Structural Knee Osteoarthritis Progression**

#### Radiography

Radiographs, or x-rays, allow for excellent visualization of bone contours, including osteophytes and joint space width, the latter being an indirect measure of articular cartilage thickness (Braun & Gold, 2012). Typically, the knee joint is evaluated using standing extended or fixed-flexion knee anteroposterior (or posteroanterior) radiographs (Braun & Gold, 2012). Extended knee x-rays are advantageous in that they allow quantification of lower-limb alignment (hip-knee-ankle), a critical measurement in patients undergoing knee replacements or osteotomies. However, knees in the fixedflexion view showed higher reproducibility with respect to joint repositioning and joint space width measurements compared to extended knee radiographs (Buckland-Wright et al., 1999). In addition, fixed-flexion radiographs were more sensitive to joint space narrowing than extended knee x-rays, an important attribute in longitudinal assessments of knee OA (Niinimäki et al., 2010). The work described in this thesis utilized coronal weight-bearing knee radiographs acquired in a standardized fixed-flexion position (Figure 1-1) (Kothari et al., 2004). This particular positioning frame, which places the feet and knees in approximately 5° of external rotation and 20° of flexion, respectively, showed excellent short-term reproducibility (intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC)=0.94) for the medial compartment in individuals with knee OA (Kothari et al., 2004).



Figure 1-1. Example of a coronal weight-bearing knee radiograph acquired in a standardized fixed-flexion position, with the feet and knees in approximately 5° of external rotation and 20° of flexion, respectively. This x-ray depicts a knee with severe medial compartment dominant OA (KL-4). Joint space narrowing, osteophytes (and bone contour deformity) and sclerosis (i.e., hardening) are visible in the medial knee.

Two common radiographic measures exist to assess the severity of structural knee OA: the Kellgren-Lawrence (K-L) classification and the Osteoarthritis Research International grading scale (Bauer et al., 2006). The K-L system is currently the most widely used grading scheme and an established "gold standard" test for characterizing radiographic OA severity in clinical research (Bauer et al., 2006). This classification uses five grades (0–4) to classify the radiographic severity of OA for the whole knee joint based primarily on the absence/presence and severity of joint space narrowing and osteophytes (Table 1-1) (Kellgren & Lawrence, 1957; Kessler et al., 1998).

Grade	Description
0	no radiographic features of OA are present
1	doubtful joint space narrowing and possible osteophyte lipping
2	definite osteophytes and possible joint space narrowing
3	multiple osteophytes, definite joint space narrowing, some sclerosis, and possible bone contour deformity
4	large osteophytes, marked joint space narrowing, severe sclerosis, and definite bone contour deformity

Table 1-1. Kellgren-Lawrence classification system of radiographic knee osteoarthritis

(Kellgren & Lawrence, 1957)

The K-L classification has been criticized for overemphasizing the importance of osteophytes relative to joint space narrowing, and characterizing disease progression as linear (Altman & Gold, 2007; Roemer et al., 2011; Spector & Hochberg, 1994). Nonetheless, these limitations likely do not affect the ability of the K-L classification to distinguish between mild and severe disease.

The Osteoarthritis Research International grading scale, a more recently developed tool, rates from 0–3+ the severity of joint space narrowing and osteophytes separately. Contrary to the K-L classification, both features are equally weighted (Altman & Gold, 2007). This scale also assesses the presence or absence of sclerosis and attrition, and is compartment-specific which allows the separate assessment of the medial and lateral compartments (Table 1-2) (Altman & Gold, 2007). Consequently, this scale yields distinct scores for each feature but no composite score, which can make treating the data challenging. Further, at the start of this thesis work, this classification was relatively new and not as widely used in knee OA research as the K-L grading scheme.

For these reasons, the K-L classification was used to enable easier comparisons between

our data and those from other studies.

**Table 1-2.** Osteoarthritis Research International grading scale of radiographic knee

 (tibiofemoral) osteoarthritis.

Description	Scoring	
Marginal osteophytes		
Medial femoral condyle	(0-3+)	
Medial tibial plateau	(0-3+)	
Lateral femoral condyle	(0-3+)	
Lateral tibial plateau	(0-3+)	
Joint space narrowing		
Medial compartment	(0-3+)	
Lateral compartment	(0-3+)	
Other		
Medial tibial attrition	(absent/present)	
Medial tibial sclerosis	(absent/present)	
Lateral femoral sclerosis	(absent/present)	

(R. D. Altman & Gold, 2007)

Radiographic assessment is useful for assessment of bone contour and joint space width; however, it does not provide direct information about joint soft tissues. Because radiographs only visualize bone, evidence suggests they are less sensitive to detecting early and progressive signs of structural changes (Amin et al., 2005). For instance, patients demonstrated cartilage loss on MRI without displaying joint space narrowing or other signs of progression on x-rays (Amin et al., 2005). Accordingly, it is not surprising that disease severity and progression scored from x-rays and MRI scans were only weakly-to-moderately correlated (Bruyere et al., 2007; Cicuttini et al., 2005; Kijowski et al., 2006; Raynauld et al., 2004). Other musculoskeletal imaging modalities such as MRI are therefore important for obtaining direct soft tissue visualization allowing for quantification of tissues to be made and, thus, permitting a more comprehensive evaluation of disease progression.

#### Magnetic Resonance Imaging

MRI is an imaging modality that allows visualization of different joint tissues through manipulation of image contrast (Braun & Gold, 2012). The human body is mostly comprised of water whose molecules contain hydrogen nuclei (i.e., protons) that become aligned in a magnetic field. An MRI scanner applies a strong magnetic field to the body, which aligns the proton spins. The scanner also generates a radio frequency current that creates a varying magnetic field. The energy from the variable magnetic field is absorbed by the protons, causing their spin to flip. When the field is turned off, the protons gradually return to their natural spin – a process called precession – which produces a radio signal that can be measured by scanner receivers and converted into an image. Since protons in different body tissues return to their natural spins at different rates, different techniques and strategies employed during MRI allow the scanner to distinguish amongst, and produce contrasts between, different tissues. Accordingly, MRI allows detailed visualization of changes in subchondral bone indicative of disease progression.

including bone marrow lesions, subchondral cysts, and subchondral bone attrition. Importantly, MRI scans also enable the morphological assessment of soft tissues, such as cartilage, which provides information about tissue size and structural integrity (Braun & Gold, 2012).

A common protocol for visualizing cartilage is three-dimensional spoiled gradient recalled echo imaging (SPGR) with fat suppression (Cicuttini et al., 2000; Eckstein et al., 2001). The work described in this thesis employed this technique to acquire coronal knee scans. In three-dimensional SPGR, the transverse steady state is spoiled with semi-random radio frequency phase alterations, yielding contrast similar to T1-weighted sequences (Braun & Gold, 2012). Fat saturation is required to provide a sufficient dynamic range to the image contrast to delineate the cartilage, and also eliminate chemical shift artefacts that occur at the bone-cartilage interface (Crema et al., 2011). The voxels acquired with SPGR are nearly isotropic, creating excellent resolution images with high signal from cartilage and low signal from neighbouring joint fluid (Braun & Gold, 2012; Crema et al., 2011). This technique produces images on which cancellous bone, fat and liquid appear dark while cartilage appears bright (Figure 1-2). Specialized software programs (e.g., atlas-based protocol) can then be applied to these images to segment cartilage and yield morphological measurements (Figure 1-3).



Figure 1-2. Example of a knee MRI coronal scan acquired with a 1.0 Tesla peripheral scanner using three-dimensional SPGR with fat suppression. Cartilage appears bright; whereas cancellous bone, fat and liquid appear dark. This MRI scan depicts a knee with severe radiographic medial compartment dominant OA (KL-4). Cartilage loss can be seen in the medial knee.

Several semi-quantitative MRI scoring systems have been developed for detailed multi-feature assessment of knee OA. Popular semi-quantitative tools that provide whole-organ assessment include the Whole-Organ Magnetic Resonance Imaging Score (WORMS) (Peterfy et al., 2004), the Knee Osteoarthritis Scoring System (KOSS) (Kornaat et al., 2005), the Boston Leeds Osteoarthritis Knee Score (BLOKS) (Hunter et al., 2008), and the MRI Osteoarthritis Knee Score (MOAKS) (Hunter et al., 2011). These tools score, semi-quantitatively, various features that are relevant to the functional integrity of the knee and/or are linked to the pathophysiology of OA. Features include articular cartilage morphology, subchondral bone marrow lesions and cysts, osteophytes, menisci, ligaments, synovitis, joint effusion, bone attrition, intraarticular loose bodies, and periarticular cysts/bursitis. Each instrument produces data with acceptable reliability, specificity and sensitivity (Hunter et al., 2008, 2011; Kornaat et al., 2005; Peterfy et al., 2004).



Figure 1-3. Example of knee MRI scans used for cartilage segmentation using specialized software (i.e., atlas-based protocol) [left = baseline; right =  $\sim$ 3.5 year follow-up]. The larger images at the top depict coronal knee scans used for cartilage segmentation and measurement of medial knee cartilage thickness and volume. The smaller images at the bottom depict scout scans in the transverse, coronal and sagittal planes, respectively, used to ensure proper joint positioning in the scanner.

Cartilage morphology/morphometry can also be assessed as continuous variables with quantitative MRI measurements, such as volume and thickness. Cartilage volume is computed by numerically integrating all voxels attributed to cartilage. Cartilage volume is a function of cartilage thickness and cartilage surface area. Therefore, changes in cartilage volume can result from a change in either of these variables (Eckstein et al., 2006). Cartilage thickness may or may not include denuded areas, depending on the segmentation protocol. These measurements adjust for subchondral bone area and do not include osteophyte cartilage (Eckstein et al., 2006). Various measures of cartilage thickness can be determined, such as the maximum, minimum, mean and standard deviation. It should be noted, however, that the mean thickness for an entire cartilage plate may be relatively insensitive to focal/regional changes that affect only small parts of the surface (Eckstein & Glaser, 2004). As a result, regional cartilage thickness analyses may be required to detect site-specific cartilage thickness changes, particularly in biomechanical analyses of knee OA where regional variations in thickness may be related to joint loading patterns (Koo & Andriacchi, 2007).

The quantitative approach is advantageous in that it is less dependent on the observers and more objective than semi-quantitative scoring methods. Furthermore, relatively small changes over time in cartilage morphology that occur over larger areas may be detected, even though they are not apparent to the naked eye. Conversely, disadvantages of quantitative measurement include the need for specialized software and the time-intensive nature of analyses. Quantitative measurements are also less sensitive to focal lesions, which are more easily identified by expert assessors. Nonetheless, most knee joint features measured using quantitative and semi-quantitative methods are strongly correlated (Guermazi et al., 2015). Ideally, semi- and quantitative approaches should be used conjointly to complement one another.

#### **Characterizing Clinical Knee Osteoarthritis Progression**

#### Patient-Reported Outcomes

Patient-reported outcomes are health outcomes directly reported by the patient who experienced them. These outcome measures can comprise many domains, but pain and disability/physical function are of utmost importance in the assessment of knee OA as they provide valuable information about the severity of symptoms, which is used in determining an appropriate course of treatment (Dougados, 2004).

The Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcomes Score (KOOS) is a common and recommended instrument for the evaluation of pain in knee OA (Juhl et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2010). The KOOS is a standardized, patient-administered questionnaire used to assess patients' perceptions about their knee and associated problems (Roos & Lohmander, 2003). The pain subscale of the KOOS is composed of nine questions about pain intensity/frequency over the previous week. Standardized answer options are given (5 Likert boxes) and each question is assigned a score from 0 to 4. A normalized mean score is calculated, where 100 indicates no symptoms and 0 indicates extreme symptoms (Roos & Lohmander, 2003). Data from the KOOS pain subscale demonstrated adequate internal consistency (pooled Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.84), test-retest reliability (pooled ICC=0.90) and convergent construct validity with other pain measures (pooled r=0.54) in knee OA patients (Collins et al., 2016). In this thesis, pain was evaluated with the KOOS pain subscale.

The Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) is another widely used tool for assessing pain in knee OA (Bellamy et al., 1988). The

WOMAC pain subscale, which comprises five items, is incorporated in its entirety in the KOOS pain subscale and is scored in a similar fashion. Other versions of the WOMAC are available where items are rated on a 100 mm visual analogue scale. Data from the WOMAC pain subscale showed acceptable internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.82–0.89), test-retest reliability (ICC=0.65–0.90), and convergent construct validity with other pain measures in persons with knee OA (McConnell et al., 2001; Robbins et al., 2014).

The pain subscales of the KOOS and WOMAC have been criticized. The pain items require patients to rate their pain during functional activities (e.g., "walking on a flat surface"). Therefore, pain scores may not be able to adequately discriminate between changes in pain and physical function (Stratford & Kennedy, 2004). Actually, the pain and physical function subscales of the WOMAC were highly correlated and overlapped on the same factors, indicating that they are measuring the same construct (Faucher et al., 2002; Stratford & Kennedy, 2004). Consequently, these pain subscales might be capturing both pain and physical function statuses. To overcome this shortcoming, other pain measures have been recommended for knee OA.

The Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP) measure is a diseasespecific instrument that examines intermittent and constant pain domains distinctly (Hawker et al., 2008). The ICOAP is an 11-item measure with two subscales measuring constant pain (5 items) and intermittent pain (6 items) on a 5-point scale (0="not at all"/"never"; 4="very often"). The majority of items ask participants to rate the intensity (or frequency) of symptoms, how pain affects activities (e.g., sleep), and how pain affects emotions. Scores for each ICOAP subscale are obtained by tallying up the items and
normalizing the score out of 100, with higher values representing more extreme pain (Hawker et al., 2008). In knee OA patients, internal consistencies and test-retest reliabilities for the ICOAP were as follows: constant pain (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.97; ICC=0.77); intermittent pain (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.93; ICC=0.61); total (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.93; ICC=0.73) (Robbins et al., 2014). The KOOS, WOMAC and ICOAP pain measures are moderately-to-strongly related and display similar psychometric properties (Hawker et al., 2008; Robbins et al., 2014). It should be noted that the ICOAP questionnaire was fairly new and not yet commonly utilized in knee OA research (compared to the KOOS) at the time this thesis work began, thus explaining why it was not administered.

Patient-reported outcomes can also be used for measuring physical function (or disability) in knee OA. The function in daily living subscale of the KOOS and the function subscale of the WOMAC, which are made up of the same items, have been recommended for use in knee OA studies (Juhl et al., 2012). These subscales are composed of 17 questions about physical functioning during everyday activities over the previous week. Answer options and item scoring are the same as those described above for the pain subscales (Bellamy et al., 1988; Roos & Lohmander, 2003). These subscales have produced data that show adequate internal consistency (pooled Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.92), test-retest reliability (pooled ICC=0.89) and convergent construct validity with other physical function measures (pooled r=0.65) in individuals with knee OA (Collins et al., 2016). It should be noted that other PROs with varying psychometric properties exist for measuring knee function in OA (Bennell et al., 2011a). For instance, the 36- 12- and 8- Item Short Form Health Surveys are questionnaires that assess various health concepts

(Ware & Sherbourne, 1992; Ware et al., 1996). The physical function subscales from the Short Form Health Surveys, KOOS and WOMAC are strongly correlated (Collins et al., 2016; Ware et al., 1996; Webster & Feller, 2016), and amongst the most responsive in knee OA (Juhl et al., 2012). However, the Short Form Health Surveys are not disease-specific, an important distinction from the KOOS and WOMAC. Accordingly, these general surveys may not appropriately characterize physical function in patients (e.g., knee OA) that experience a unique set of symptoms and mobility challenges.

Other than pain and physical function, PROs capturing self-efficacy may provide valuable information in the assessment of knee OA. Self-efficacy is the belief that one has the capabilities to execute the actions required to satisfy specific situational demands (Bandura, 1998). Self-efficacy is a strong determinant of physical performance in individuals with knee OA (Harrison, 2004). In fact, Social Cognitive Theory suggests that self-efficacy is more important to physical performance than actual physical capacity (Bandura, 1998). The Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES) is a standardized, patientadministered questionnaire that assesses how certain patients are that they can perform specific tasks or achieve a result (Lorig et al., 1989). This 20-item instrument is made up of three subscales: self-efficacy for managing pain (5 items), physical function (9 items), and controlling other symptoms (6 items). Participants rate on a 10 cm visual analogue scale their level of certainty that they can perform each task. Each subscale is scored individually by taking the normalized mean score of the items. Higher scores indicate greater confidence or self-efficacy (Lorig et al., 1989). All three subscales of the ASES produce data with adequate internal consistencies (Cronbach's 0.76–0.89) and test-retest

reliabilities (ICC=0.85–0.90), and were correlated with theoretically relevant health outcomes in knee OA (Brady, 2011).

While PROs allow researchers to collect large amounts of data quickly and inexpensively, these tools can be subject to certain biases, including social desirability and cognitive demands of recall (Sallis & Saelens, 2000). The former refers to participants responding in a way that would be seen as socially acceptable, especially when the topic is sensitive; the latter refers to mental fatigue, memory burden or confusion when responding. Participants may also inadvertently under/over report when responding to certain items, for example physical activity habits (Sallis & Saelens, 2000). In addition, self-report scores do not necessarily correlate strongly with or reflect observed scores. This is often the case in the evaluation of physical function in knee OA. Self-reported measures of physical function represent participants' perceived performance. To measure the actual physical capabilities of participants, performancebased measures are required. Performance-based outcomes and PROs are distinct and only moderately related (Maly et al., 2006; Stratford et al., 2006). Thus, it has been recommended to use both types of measures to acquire complementary information about physical functioning in knee OA (Stratford et al., 2006).

# Performance-Based Measures

Performance-based tests of physical function usually involve repetition counts, timing or distance measurements, which are observed by assessors (Dobson et al., 2013). While a multitude of performance-based measures exist to evaluate physical function (Bennell et

al., 2011a; Dobson et al., 2012, 2013), the five following tests are recommended in the assessment of knee OA: the Six Minute Walk Test (6MWT), a stair-climbing test, the 30-second chair-stand time, the timed up-and-go test, and the 40 m fast-paced walk (Dobson et al., 2013). Important determinants of physical function in individuals with knee OA include muscle strength, pain and self-efficacy (Dekker et al., 2009). Limited evidence suggests that these aforementioned factors also interact with one another in predicting mobility performance (Miller et al., 2001; Rejeski et al., 2001). It is important to investigate mobility performance for a wide range of activities (e.g., walking, stair-climbing, chair-standing) because these reflect distinct biomechanical challenges and place different demands on the knee (Costigan et al., 2002; McFadyen & Winter, 1988; Protopapadaki et al., 2007). In this thesis, performance-based mobility was assessed with the 6MWT and a stair-climbing task. It should be noted that the abovementioned recommendations were established after the start of this longitudinal work.

The 6MWT is a submaximal test that evaluates walking capacity over long distances (Bennell et al., 2011a; Du et al., 2009). This test is performed on a flat, hard, indoor surface. Participants are asked to walk at a self-selected speed for 6 minutes with the goal of travelling the maximum distance. Standardized verbal encouragement can be provided at 1-minute intervals, and rest as well as adaptive aids are permitted as necessary. The total distance walked, in meters, is recorded (Bennell et al., 2011a; Du et al., 2009). Data from the 6MWT demonstrated high test-retest reliability (ICC=0.94; standard error of measurement (SEM)=26.3 meters) in end-stage knee OA (Kennedy et al., 2005). Though unknown in knee OA, convergent construct validity was demonstrated

by its moderate correlations (r=0.71–0.82) with treadmill performance in older adults (Dobson et al., 2012; Rikli & Jones, 1998).

The stair-climbing test evaluates the ability to ascend and descent a staircase with standard rise and run (Bennell et al., 2011a). Several test variations have been developed in terms of number of steps, whether ascent and descent are assessed conjointly or separately, and whether the goal is as many steps as possible over a given amount of time or as time required to climbing a given number of steps. Five-step and 9-step tests have been described for knee OA, where use of handrails and aids may or may not be permitted (Bennell et al., 2011a). Data from the 9-step stair-climbing test performed in one continuous bout showed high test-retest reliability (ICC=0.90; SEM=2.35 seconds) in end-stage knee OA (Kennedy et al., 2005). While no validity data exist for knee OA, the 11-step stair-climbing test (single bout) demonstrated converging construct validity by its moderate correlations (r=0.59–0.68) with other performance-based measures of physical function in persons with total knee arthroplasty (Almeida et al., 2010).

## **Risk Factors for Radiographic Knee Osteoarthritis**

Knee OA is a multifactorial disease with various potential risk factors. These can be classified as person-level and joint-level factors, which act collectively to cause the onset of OA. Person-level factors are believed to act at a systemic level on relevant joints or are a characteristic of the individual; joint-level factors are joint-specific.

Person-level risk factors include older age, female sex, race/ethnicity, obesity, and genetics (Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013). Older age is one of the strongest

risk factors for OA, though the precise mechanism is unknown. Alterations in the capacity of joint tissues to adapt to biomechanical demands, combined with natural accumulation of various risk factors over years, are likely predominantly involved (Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013). Female sex is associated with greater disease prevalence and severity (Felson et al., 1997; Neogi & Zhang, 2013; Srikanth et al., 2005). The role of hormones in OA, especially estrogen, has been identified as a possibility, though results are conflicting (Hanna et al., 2004; Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013). It has been speculated that the hormonal changes associated with menopause may amplify the effects of aging, further reducing the ability of cartilage to adapt and repair (Andriacchi et al., 2004; Hanna et al., 2004). Different ethnicities and race have a varying prevalence of OA and patterns of joint involvement (Neogi & Zhang, 2013). Obesity (or overweightness) acts on OA through a combination of mechanical and systemic effects (Griffin & Guilak, 2005; Neogi & Zhang, 2013). Obesity results in a greater total accumulation of load borne by weight-bearing joints that may cause tissue overload/damage (Griffin & Guilak, 2005; Harding et al., 2016), as well as reduced tissue tolerance due to exposure to inflammation (Ding et al., 2008; Stannus et al., 2010). The attribution of knee OA to genetics is estimated to be ~40-45%; several susceptibility loci have been linked with OA (Neogi & Zhang, 2013; Spector & MacGregor, 2004). Data supporting the role of other potential risk factors for OA, including bone mineral density and nutrition, remain inconsistent (Johnson & Hunter, 2014; Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013).

Joint-level factors associated with OA reflect mechanisms related to abnormal joint loading, including excessive joint use, knee injury, reduced or unbalanced muscle strength, joint malalignment, and morphology of joint structures (Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013). Excessive knee loading through specific physical and occupational activities (e.g., prolonged and/or repeated exposure to squatting or kneeling) can predispose to OA, particularly if other factors have already augmented joint vulnerability (Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013). Exposure to previous traumatic knee injuries, such as bone fractures and meniscal and cruciate ligament tears, is a strong risk factor for OA development (Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013). Such injuries directly damage joint tissues and may also disrupt the normal stability and load distribution within the joint, further increasing the risk of OA (Andriacchi et al., 2004; Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013). Muscle weakness (particularly of the quadriceps) could contribute to altered joint loading and an increased risk of OA, for example, by not adequately stabilizing the joint or absorbing forces across the knee (Bennell et al., 2013). It is theorized that muscle weakness can be caused by OA-related arthrogenic inhibition and/or disuse atrophy as a result of load-bearing avoidance due to pain (Neogi & Zhang, 2013; Rice & McNair, 2010). Knee malalignment during dynamic weight-bearing activities can modulate the load distribution across the articular surfaces. Abnormal increases in compartmental loading are believed to increase the demands on articular cartilage and other joint tissues, thereby leading to degenerative changes (Litwic et al., 2013; Neogi & Zhang, 2013; Tanamas et al., 2009). Finally, joint tissue morphology and congruency may influence the distribution of biomechanical loads

through the knee since this depends in part on the shape over which load is distributed, in addition to the material properties of the tissues being loaded (Neogi & Zhang, 2013).

## **Biomechanics in Knee Osteoarthritis Progression**

Biomechanical factors are implicated in knee OA progression. Healthy knee joint tissues, such as cartilage, have the ability to adapt to in vivo loads. In osteoarthritic knees, cartilage is damaged and has lost its ability to appropriately attenuate and distribute forces between articulating bones (Buckwalter et al., 2005; Lu & Mow, 2008; Sun, 2010). This impaired function can lead to altered (i.e., abnormal) joint motion and loading, which in turn, promote further cartilage deterioration as well as the degradation of other joint tissues (Andriacchi et al., 2004; Buckwalter et al., 2005; Sun, 2010).

Various biomechanical factors have been associated with knee OA progression. Factors of prime importance include the knee adduction moment (KAM) (Bennell et al., 2011b; Chang et al., 2015; Chehab et al., 2014; Miyazaki et al., 2002), knee flexion moment (KFM) (Chehab et al., 2014; Erhart-Hledik et al., 2015), knee loading frequency (Doré et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2013; Vignon et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2011), obesity (or body mass index (BMI)) (Lee & Kean, 2012; Mezhov et al., 2014), and muscle strength and power (Foley et al., 2007; Mikesky et al., 2006; Segal et al., 2010; Sun, 2010). These factors were examined in this thesis and touched upon within the three manuscripts (Chapters 2–4). All of these biomechanical factors have the ability to modulate forces across the knee and thus represent a means for altered joint loads in knee OA (Creaby,

2015; Moyer et al., 2014; Sun, 2010). Accordingly, these factors may represent important targets for clinical intervention.

Population-specific test-retest reliability and error estimates are required to ascertain whether these biomechanical factors are stable over time and can be used to characterize disease progression and/or evaluate the outcome of therapeutic interventions. While such estimates have been established previously, these have been either in healthy populations (Berkson et al., 2013; Callaghan et al., 2000; Leatherdale & Laxer, 2013; Maffiuletti et al., 2007; Robbins et al., 2009; Wilken et al., 2012) or in knee OA over short periods (i.e., days or weeks) (Birmingham et al., 2007; Carpenter et al., 2006; Kean et al., 2010; Robbins et al., 2013; Villadsen et al., 2012; Wessel, 1996). No known research has estimated the test-retest reliabilities of biomechanical variables over longer periods in knee OA to match work performed for mobility measures and PROs (e.g., pain, physical function) (Pisters et al., 2012; Van Dijk et al., 2006).

## Knee Adduction Moment

The external KAM is an indicator of the mechanical load distribution between the medial and lateral compartments of the knee (Meyer et al., 2013; Moyer et al., 2014). During the stance phase of gait, the frontal plane ground reaction force vector passes medially to the knee joint centre, which creates a moment in the frontal plane (i.e., KAM) that tends to adduct the knee (Schipplein & Andriacchi, 1991). The two primary determinants of the KAM are the frontal plane ground reaction force vector and the knee moment arm length (Hunt et al., 2006) (Figure 1-4).



Figure 1-4. Frontal plane depiction of the determinants of the KAM: the frontal plane ground reaction force vector (red arrow) and the knee moment arm length (red dotted line). The KAM describes the tendency to rotate the tibia inward on the femur (black curved arrow) during weight-bearing. A KAM is produced during the stance phase of gait when the ground reaction force vector passes medially to the knee joint centre.

The KAM peak reflects a single maximum at one instance during stance. The KAM impulse, computed as the area under the KAM curve, incorporates both the magnitude and duration of load during stance (Thorp et al., 2006) (Figure 1-5).

The mechanism by which a higher KAM is thought to relate to cartilage loss is theorized to be through its role in increasing the compressive forces across the medial compartment of the knee, the most commonly affected compartment in knee OA. During walking, 60–70% of weight-bearing forces pass through the medial knee compartment (Andriacchi, 1994). It is important to recognize that the KAM represents the medial-tolateral distribution of loads across the knee, not the actual force on the medial compartment (Meyer et al., 2013). Nonetheless, the KAM has demonstrated potential in inferring knee loads during gait (Kutzner et al., 2013; Meyer et al., 2013; Trepczynski et al., 2014; Walter et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2007). For instance, the KAM peak was an independent predictor of the peak medial contact force, accounting for about 63% of the variance (Manal et al., 2015). Importantly, the KAM is only a good indicator of medial knee contact force when the total force remains constant (Moyer et al., 2014).



Figure 1-5. Example of a typical bimodal external KAM waveform during the stance phase of gait. The KAM is an indicator of the distribution of mechanical loads between the medial and lateral knee compartments. The KAM peak represents a single maximum at one instance during stance. Usually, the first peak is larger than the second peak, and occurs during weight acceptance (between 20–40% of stance phase) prior to the contralateral foot leaving the ground (i.e., toe-off). The KAM impulse is calculated as the integrated area under the KAM curve (shaded area), and reflects the overall magnitude and duration of frontal plane loading during stance.

Individuals with knee OA often have higher KAM peaks and impulses compared

to their healthy counterparts (Baliunas et al., 2002; Kumar et al., 2013; Maly et al., 2013).

Surprisingly, there is very little research linking knee joint loading and the initiation of OA. In 80 older adults with no knee pain at baseline, seven developed new chronic knee pain 3 to 4 years later. Compared to those who did not develop knee pain, those who developed new chronic pain had higher baseline KAM peaks (by 8-39%) for all tested activities (i.e., standing, walking, rising from a chair, and descending stairs) (Amin et al., 2004). A case study analysis showed that, in 28 individuals with no clinical symptoms of OA at baseline, two developed both symptomatic and radiographic evidence of OA over 5 to 10 years (Lynn et al., 2007). Interestingly, the participant who exhibited the highest KAM peak at baseline developed medial knee OA, while the participant with the lowest KAM peak at baseline developed lateral knee OA (Lynn et al., 2007). Finally, an increased KAM during fast-paced walking at baseline was associated with the onset or deterioration of medial knee cartilage defects over 2 years in 70 individuals having undergone arthroscopic partial meniscectomy, a surgery used to manage symptoms associated with medial meniscal lesions but that is also associated with higher risks of developing radiographic knee OA (Hall et al., 2015). While these data appear to implicate the KAM in the initiation of OA, it is important to note that prospective studies with larger samples are required to provide compelling evidence.

There is a larger body of work examining the relationship of the KAM with knee OA severity and progression. In cross-sectional work, the KAM peak and impulse were associated with the severity of medial knee cartilage defects (Creaby et al., 2010), radiographic severity (Kean et al., 2012; Sharma et al., 1998; Thorp et al., 2006), and cartilage morphology (Maly et al., 2015) in knee OA. Furthermore, larger KAMs during

gait predicted the progression of structural knee OA (Bennell et al., 2011b; Chang et al., 2015; Chehab et al., 2014; Miyazaki et al., 2002). Precisely, the KAM peak predicted joint space narrowing at 6-year follow-up on X-ray (Miyazaki et al., 2002). In MRI studies, a higher KAM peak at baseline predicted greater loss of medial knee cartilage thickness over 2–5 years (Chang et al., 2015; Chehab et al., 2014), while a higher KAM impulse at baseline predicted larger reductions in medial knee cartilage volume and thickness over 1 and 2 years, respectively (Bennell et al., 2011b; Chang et al., 2015).

The mechanical basis for reducing the KAM is shown in surgical treatments (i.e., high tibial osteotomy) to realign (from varus to neutral) the lower limb in persons with medial knee OA. For instance, high tibial osteotomy reduced the KAM peak immediately following surgery and 3.2 years postoperatively in 21 patients, regardless of KAM magnitude preoperatively (Prodromos et al., 1985). However, those who had lower KAMs preoperatively had better postoperative clinical results (composite score of pain, function and deformity), lower KAMs and less recurrence of varus deformity (Prodromos et al., 1985). A follow-up study, based on the same sample (n=24) and with longer follow-up times (~3–9 years), confirmed these relationships (Wang et al., 1990). More recent work has yielded similar results, where patients with medial knee OA and varus alignment displayed marked mechanical (i.e., knee alignment, reduction in KAM) and clinical (i.e., patient-reported pain and function) improvements after staged medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy, with results persisting 3 to 4 years later (Sischek et al., 2014).

## Knee Flexion Moment

The external KFM during gait is an indicator of mechanical loading in the sagittal plane. The KFM is principally determined by the sagittal plane ground reaction force vector and moment arm that flexes the knee (Hall et al., 2015) (Figure 1-6). During the stance phase of gait, the quadriceps contract to produce an internal knee extension moment to counterbalance the external KFM, which together contribute to a compressive force within the tibiofemoral joint (Creaby, 2015). The KFM peak represents a single maximum at one instance during stance, and is indicative of an equal but opposite net internal moment that is mostly produced by the quadriceps (Figure 1-7).



Figure 1-6. Sagittal plane depiction of the determinants of the KFM: the sagittal plane ground reaction force vector (red arrow) and the knee moment arm length (red dotted line). A KFM (black curved arrow) is produced during the stance phase of gait, which is counterbalanced by an internal knee extension moment mostly created by the quadriceps.

The KFM and KAM are speculated to act collectively to modulate contact forces and overall loading environment at the knee (Chehab et al., 2014; Creaby, 2015; Manal et al., 2015; Walter et al., 2010). Limited evidence suggests that individuals with knee OA exhibit a lower KFM peak during gait compared to their healthy counterparts (Kaufman et al., 2001; Mills et al., 2013; Weidow et al., 2006). These lower KFM values may be indicative of abnormal sagittal plane loading patterns, for instance a sustained extension moment as a result of quadriceps-avoidance gait to minimize pain (Astephen et al., 2008a; Kaufman et al., 2001)



Figure 1-7. Example of a typical bimodal external KFM waveform during the stance phase of gait. The KFM peak represents a single maximum at one instance during stance. Usually, the first peak is larger than the second peak, and occurs during weight acceptance (~15–30% of stance phase) prior to the contralateral foot leaving the ground (i.e., toe-off). The net external KFM peak is indicative of an equal but opposite net internal extension moment mostly produced by the quadriceps.

While individuals with knee OA may exhibit lower KFM peaks (compared to healthy controls), higher KFM values within this patient population may be clinically important. For example, in individuals with moderate-to-severe knee OA, those with moderate-to-severe knee pain displayed a higher KFM peak (by ~1/3) compared to those with mild-to-no pain (O'Connell et al., 2016). The KFM may also be involved in structural knee OA progression; however, previous findings are inconsistent (Chang et al., 2015; Chehab et al., 2014; Erhart-Hledik et al., 2015). A higher KFM peak at baseline was associated with reduced medial tibial cartilage thickness and medial-to-lateral tibial cartilage thickness ratio over 5 years in 16 participants with knee OA (Chehab et al., 2014). In contrast, the KFM peak at baseline was not associated with changes in medial tibial or femoral cartilage thickness over 2 years in 385 knees (Chang et al., 2015).

## Loading Frequency

The frequency of mechanical loading can influence the integrity of joint tissues such as articular cartilage (Jones et al., 2003; Qi & Changlin, 2006). In healthy joints, cartilage has the ability to adapt to in vivo mechanical loads (Buckwalter et al., 2005). A moderate level of mechanical loading is thought to be paramount in maintaining the integrity of articular cartilage (Roos & Dahlberg, 2005; Sun, 2010). Joint overuse (i.e., excessive loading frequency) can result in cartilage degeneration; conversely, underuse or disuse (i.e., low loading frequency) may have a similar effect as a result of cartilage under-conditioning (Roos & Dahlberg, 2005; Sun, 2010). Few studies have investigated the association between physical activity levels (i.e. in vivo knee loading frequency) and

cartilage breakdown in adults. Some data support a curvilinear dose-response relationship, where knee loading frequency that is too low or too high is associated with joint tissue degradation (Doré et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2013; Vignon et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2011). Interestingly, some evidence suggests that higher levels of mechanical loading may in fact be protective against cartilage breakdown in non-pathological joints (Hanna et al., 2007; Newton et al., 1997). Further, in community-dwelling adults, higher knee loading frequency (>10,000 steps/day) was protective against cartilage volume loss over 2.7 years – but only in those with more volume at baseline. This higher loading frequency was associated with reduced cartilage volume in those with low baseline volume (Doré et al., 2013). It may be that cartilage quantity (e.g., volume) at baseline mediates the relationship between higher loading repetition and cartilage loss. In knees with OA, however, cartilage function is impaired, resulting in a diminished ability to adapt to mechanical loads (Andriacchi et al., 2004; Buckwalter et al., 2005; Sun, 2010). Only one known study has investigated the link between knee loading frequency and cartilage breakdown in persons with knee OA (Oiestad et al., 2015b). No association was noted between loading frequency and knee cartilage loss over 2 years in adults with mild radiographic knee OA (i.e., K-L≤2) (Oiestad et al., 2015b).

## Cumulative Knee Adductor Load

The measure of "cumulative knee adductor load" incorporates the KAM impulse (i.e., magnitude and duration of load) and loading frequency (i.e., # steps/day). This concept may better reflect a mechanism of joint degradation from the overall accumulation of

medial knee loads compared to individual measurements (i.e., KAM, loading frequency) (Robbins et al., 2009). Cumulative load was higher in individuals with knee OA compared to healthy controls, and had a superior ability to discriminate between these groups than the KAM peak (Maly et al., 2013). No known study has evaluated whether the measure of cumulative load is valuable in linking joint mechanics with cartilage degradation longitudinally in knee OA.

#### **Obesity**

Obesity is often characterized by a BMI  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (World Health Organization, 2006). A higher BMI is one of the most important risk factors for both the incidence and progression of knee OA (Bastick et al., 2015; Silverwood et al., 2015). Obesity is linked to OA via two main mechanisms: biomechanical factors, as well as metabolic and inflammatory factors (Iannone & Lapadula, 2010; Issa & Griffin, 2012). It can be speculated that these two mechanisms are implicated in the pathogenesis and progression of knee OA due to either abnormal loading acting on normal physiology, or normal loading acting in the presence of abnormal physiology (Guilak, 2011).

First, obesity represents increased body weight, which is directly associated with increased joint loading (Harding et al., 2016). Obesity plays a crucial role in knee OA by overloading and altering the knee joint loading environment. The greater loads imparted by adipose tissue appear to directly alter dynamic knee motion and increase metabolic demands during gait (Browning, 2006; Browning & Kram, 2007; Segal et al., 2009). Obese individuals often display modified spatiotemporal parameters during gait at a self-

selected speed (e.g., shorter and wider steps, slower walking speed, longer stance duration) compared to non-obese persons (Runhaar et al., 2011). These alterations are speculated to represent adaptive strategies to diminish the metabolic cost of walking (Russell et al., 2010) and/or compensatory mechanisms to reduce muscle forces and knee joint loads (Mundermann et al., 2004; Zeni & Higginson, 2009). Compared to their nonobese counterparts, obese individuals also exhibit altered gait kinematics, including smaller peak knee flexion angles (DeVita & Hortobágyi, 2003) and differences in peak knee adduction angles during stance (Freedman Silvernail et al., 2013; Lai et al., 2008). The latter finding is conflicted as obese persons have displayed both larger and smaller knee adduction angles. Further, there is limited evidence suggesting that, in individuals with knee OA of similar severity, those who are obese have decreased peak knee extension angles during stance compared to those who are non-obese (Messier et al., 1996). These aforementioned alterations in spatiotemporal and kinematic parameters may cause or perpetuate abnormal motion or imbalanced loading across the knee (Messier et al., 2014), features theorized to cause a spatial shift in the load-bearing contact location of the joint to an area that is not conditioned to bear loads (i.e., unconditioned cartilage). Such alterations in load-bearing site could potentially damage knee joint tissues (Andriacchi et al., 2004), especially in obese persons who likely have reduced overall joint health and under-conditioned cartilage as a result of sedentary lifestyles.

In addition to spatiotemporal and kinematic alterations, obesity alters gait kinetics in knee OA. Obese individuals with OA exhibited lower KFM peaks compared to nonobese persons with OA, perhaps attributable to slower gait speeds (Harding et al., 2016;

Kaufman et al., 2001; Messier et al., 1996). Obesity was also associated with prolonged activation of quadriceps and gastrocnemii during stance in persons with moderate knee OA, a feature thought to prolong joint contact loading (Amiri et al., 2015). Finally, higher BMI was associated with greater knee shear and compressive peak forces in radiographic knee OA (Harding et al., 2016; Messier et al., 2014). More specifically, absolute tibiofemoral compression and shear forces, as well as absolute forces produced by the major force-generating muscle groups acting at the knee were all higher with increasing BMI, regardless of the presence or absence of moderate knee OA (Harding et al., 2016). These differences may contribute to accelerated joint damage in obese individuals. Importantly, however, osteoarthritic knees may be less able to accommodate the high same level of joint contact forces as asymptomatic joints, without experiencing further disease progression (Andriacchi et al., 2004, 2009; Harding et al., 2016).

Second, the metabolic and inflammatory environment resulting from excessive adipose tissue in obesity is associated with OA (Sowers & Karvonen-Gutierrez, 2010). In obesity, there is an increase in levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., leptin, interleukin-1, -6, tumour necrosis factor alpha), which induces low-grade inflammation and is believed to regulate both the synthesis and degeneration of the cartilage matrix (Gomez et al., 2011; Iannone & Lapadula, 2010; Issa & Griffin, 2012). The upregulation of inflammatory responses observed in obese individuals are distinct from those due to "inflammaging", a similar process that occurs with advancing age. Increased levels of serum leptin were noted in overweight and obese individuals with knee OA (Iannone & Lapadula, 2010). Interestingly, serum leptin levels explained about half of the association

between higher BMI and the greater prevalence of knee OA, and may play a key role in cartilage loss as it mediates the association between obesity and cartilage thickness (Fowler-Brown et al., 2015; Stannus et al., 2015). Pro-inflammatory cytokines associated with adipose tissue (i.e., adipokines) have a strong influence on cartilage biology, suggesting that the link between obesity and OA may not be solely biomechanical, but may in fact reflect the biomechanical, metabolic and psychosocial factors on the joint in the presence of systemic inflammation (Guilak, 2011). The mechanisms by which mechanical loading alters the physiology or pathophysiology of joint tissues likely involve complex interactions with molecular and genetic factors – particularly local or systemic inflammation due to injury or obesity – which may detrimentally influence the normal mechanical regulation of chondrocyte activity (Guilak, 2011).

## Quadriceps Strength & Power

The role of muscle in knee OA is controversial: muscle may be involved in causal pathway and/or be a consequence of OA. The function of knee muscles is to produce movement, absorb lower-limb loads and provide dynamic joint stability (Bennell et al., 2008). Muscle forces are a major determinant of how loads are distributed across a joint surface (Sowers & Karvonen-Gutierrez, 2010). To achieve equilibrium of motion and joint stability, external forces acting on a joint must be counteracted by internal forces equal in magnitude but opposite in direction (Andriacchi & Mikosz, 1984). Muscles that cross the knee joint (e.g., quadriceps, hamstring) are capable of generating enough force to produce the majority of the internal balancing load; however, other soft tissue

structures (e.g., ligaments, subchondral bone, cartilage) are still required to sustain load (Schipplein & Andriacchi, 1991; Shelburne et al., 2006).

Reduced quadriceps capacity (i.e., muscle weakness) is a common finding in knee OA (Callahan et al., 2015; Hafez et al., 2014; Valtonen et al., 2015). Muscle capacity is commonly characterized by measures of strength and power. Strength is the ability to produce force, while power denotes the ability to produce as much force as possible, as quickly as possible (Sayers, 2007). Some evidence suggests that muscle power may be a more important determinant of mobility than strength in persons with knee OA (Reid & Fielding, 2012). Yet, no known work has examined the association between quadriceps power and longitudinal changes in mobility in knee OA. Primary deficits in muscle capacity are likely associated with muscle fibre atrophy and/or reduced ability to activate muscle fibres (Fink et al., 2007; Ikeda et al., 2005; O'Reilly et al., 1998; Petterson et al., 2008). Muscle weakness observed in knee OA may also be partially due to obesity, which results in reduced strength relative to increased body mass (Bennell et al., 2013).

Muscle weakness, particularly of the quadriceps, may be implicated in the pathogenesis of knee OA. This disease is thought to be caused by joint loading acting within the context of systemic and local susceptibility (Andriacchi et al., 2004; Lee & Kean, 2012; Sun, 2010). A reduction in muscle forces that act about the knee could ultimately alter loading conditions. Failure by the quadriceps to adequately absorb knee forces and provide joint stability during weight-bearing activities can result in greater dynamic loads transmitted to soft tissues such as articular cartilage, resulting in degeneration (Bennell et al., 2013). Alternatively, muscle weakness may be a

consequence of pathology. In the presence of OA, quadriceps weakness may be caused by disuse atrophy resulting from load-bearing avoidance due to disease-related joint pain and/or arthrogenic inhibition (Neogi & Zhang, 2013; Rice & McNair, 2010). Muscle weakness may also be involved in OA progression by perpetuating the effects of existing abnormal joint loads on cartilage breakdown (Segal et al., 2010). Other aspects of muscle function, such as abnormal activation patterns (e.g., increased co-contraction) and proprioception, may also predispose to, or be a consequence of, OA through altered control of movement (Astephen et al., 2008b; Rutherford et al., 2011; Schmitt & Rudolph, 2007; Sharma & Pai, 1997; Steultjens et al., 2006). Interestingly, quadriceps weakness is a risk factor for both the incidence (symptomatic) and progression (symptomatic and structural) of knee OA (Culvenor et al., 2016; Mikesky et al., 2006; Oiestad et al., 2015a; Segal & Glass, 2011).

# Gaps in the Literature

Biomechanical factors are involved in the progression of knee OA. More research is required to elucidate the complex relationships between knee biomechanics and the multifactorial consequences of OA, including damaged joint structure, symptoms and reduced mobility. Longitudinal research linking biomechanics and knee OA progression is scarce. Longitudinal data are more likely to provide information on the timing of disease exposure – and thus an opportunity to identify predictors of OA incidence and progression – than cross-sectional studies, and are required to observe disease-related changes at both the individual and group level.

Chapter 2 describes a study that examined the link between joint mechanics and longitudinal changes in cartilage morphology in knee OA. This study sought to address the following gaps:

- While the KAM peak and impulse are associated with structural knee OA progression, particularly cartilage loss, these relationships are not very strong.
  Mechanics other than the KAM may contribute to disease progression. The KFM is a potential candidate; however, further investigation is warranted since evidence supporting its role in worsening OA remains unclear.
- 2) Cartilage response to mechanical loading depends on load magnitude, duration and frequency (repetition). While the KAM and KFM reflect magnitudes and duration of joint loading, these measures do not capture load repetition. Assessing knee loading frequency may improve our understanding of the association between mechanics and knee OA progression.
- 3) Examining the KAM, KFM or loading frequency individually may not provide a comprehensive picture of the mechanical elements linked to cartilage breakdown. "Cumulative knee adductor load" incorporates the magnitude and duration of load (i.e., KAM impulse) as well as loading frequency (i.e., # steps/day). This concept may better reflect a mechanism of joint breakdown from overall accumulated exposure to medial knee loads. No study has assessed whether cumulative load is valuable in understanding cartilage loss over time in knee OA.

Chapter 3 describes a study that examined the association between each of muscle capacity (strength, power), pain and self-efficacy with longitudinal changes in mobility performance in knee OA. This study sought to address the following gaps:

- Muscle strength, pain and self-efficacy are known determinants of mobility in older adults with knee OA. Cross-sectional data suggest that muscle power may be a more critical determinant of mobility than strength. Nonetheless, no known study has investigated this link between power and mobility performance longitudinally in knee OA.
- 2) While ample evidence supports a negative association between knee pain intensity/frequency and self-reported physical function, the relationship between pain intensity/frequency and performance-based mobility remains unclear. Thus, further work is required to clarify the longitudinal relationship between pain intensity/frequency and mobility performance in knee OA.
- 3) Some studies have reported interaction effects between muscle capacity and each of pain and self-efficacy on mobility performance in knee OA, though such research is scarce and based on a single mobility outcome. Considering the multifactorial nature of OA, it is logical to investigate whether different elements of the disease act together in worsening mobility over time. Also, it is important to investigate the determinants of performance for various activities as they likely vary in biomechanical demands.

Chapter 4 describes a study that estimated test-retest reliabilities of biomechanical factors associated with knee OA progression. This study sought to address the following gaps:

- Test-retest reliability estimates for some biomechanical factors have been established previously in healthy populations or in knee OA over short periods. It is important to determine population-specific estimates over longer intervals to capture variability occurring in these measures over time due to the natural course of disease, and to match similar work conducted in PROs and mobility measures.
- It is important to estimate the magnitude of measurement error for these biomechanical factors to determine whether they are stable over time and can be used appropriately to characterize disease progression and evaluate the outcome of therapeutic interventions.

## **Research Objectives**

To address the aforementioned gaps in the literature, this thesis had the following research objectives:

Study 1 – To determine the extent to which changes over 2.5 years in medial knee cartilage thickness and volume in individuals with clinical knee OA could be predicted by: (1) KAM peak and KFM peak; and (2) KAM impulse and loading frequency (representing cumulative load exposure) after adjusting for age, sex, BMI and baseline cartilage measurement.

- Study 2 To determine the extent to which baseline measures of (1) quadriceps capacity (strength, power) and (2) PROs (pain, self-efficacy for functional tasks) predicted change in mobility performance (walking, stair ascent, stair descent) over 2 years in women with knee OA. We also examined whether baseline quadriceps strength and power interacted with pain and self-efficacy in predicting 2-year change in mobility performance.
- Study 3 To estimate both the relative and absolute test-retest reliabilities of biomechanical risk factors for progression of knee OA. The biomechanical risk factors of interest included the KAM peak and impulse, KFM peak, quadriceps muscle strength and power, physical activity level, and BMI. The results will inform readers whether an observed change within a patient over time falls within the limits of measurement error or if it represents true change.

## Significance & Clinical Relevance

This thesis advances knee OA research with regards to our understanding of the longitudinal relationships between in vivo joint mechanics and changes in knee cartilage morphology, as well as the associations of muscle capacity and PROs with changes in mobility. Furthermore, this work provides reliability estimates for various biomechanical risk factors for the progression of structural knee OA, which may help clinicians and researchers establish cut-off values for patients at risk of disease progression, and interpret findings from interventional or longitudinal research. Finally, data from this

thesis emphasize the notion that biomechanical factors do not work in isolation. On their own, biomechanical factors seem relatively stable and modestly implicated in OA progression; however, in the presence of other circumstances, they can vastly exacerbate the disease. Ultimately, results from this work will aid in the development of prevention, management and treatment strategies to curb the progression of knee OA.

\*Note: This Introduction chapter identified the context, and key topics and literature concerning the overall thesis. This thesis does not contain a distinct Methods chapter describing the general methodologies used to carry out the various studies. Rather, each manuscript (Chapters 2–4) includes detailed Introduction/Background and Methods sections pertinent to its specific topics and analyses.

# CHAPTER 2

# GAIT MECHANICS & OBESITY PREDICT THE PROGRESSION OF STRUCTURAL KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS

Published in the *Journal of Orthopaedic Research* (Epub ahead of print; doi: 10.1002/jor.23564)

# **Baseline Knee Adduction Moment Interacts with Body Mass Index to Predict Loss of Medial Tibial Cartilage Volume over 2.5 Years in Knee Osteoarthritis**

Nicholas M. Brisson<sup>1</sup>, Emily G. Wiebenga<sup>1</sup>, Paul W. Stratford<sup>1</sup>, Karen A. Beattie<sup>2</sup>, Saara Totterman<sup>3</sup>, José G. Tamez-Peña<sup>3,4</sup>, Jack P. Callaghan<sup>5</sup>, Jonathan D. Adachi<sup>2</sup>, Monica R. Maly<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Rehabilitation Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada
<sup>2</sup> Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada
<sup>3</sup> Qmetrics Technologies, Rochester, New York, USA
<sup>4</sup> Escuela de Medicina, Tecnológico de Monterrey, Monterrey, Nuevo León, México
<sup>5</sup> Department of Kinesiology, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada

## **Corresponding Author:**

Monica R. Maly E-mail: mmaly@mcmaster.ca Phone: (905) 525-9140 ext. 27823 Fax: (905) 524-0069 School of Rehabilitation Science McMaster University Room 403, Institute for Applied Health Sciences 1400 Main Street West Hamilton, ON, Canada, L8S 1C7

## Abstract

This study aimed to determine the extent to which changes over 2.5 years in medial knee cartilage thickness and volume were predicted by: (1) peak values of the knee adduction (KAM) and flexion moments; and (2) KAM impulse and loading frequency, representing cumulative load, after controlling for age, sex and body mass index (BMI). Adults with clinical knee osteoarthritis participated. At baseline and approximately 2.5 years followup, cartilage thickness and volume of the medial tibia and femur were segmented from magnetic resonance imaging scans. Gait kinematics and kinetics, and daily knee loading frequency were also collected at baseline. Multiple linear regressions predicted changes in cartilage morphology from baseline gait mechanics. Data were collected from 52 participants (41 women) [age 61.0 (6.9) y; BMI 28.5 (5.7) kg/m<sup>2</sup>] over 2.56 (0.51) vears. There were significant KAM peak-by-BMI (p=0.023) and KAM impulse-by-BMI (p=0.034) interactions, which revealed that larger joint loads in those with higher BMIs were associated with greater loss of medial tibial cartilage volume. In conclusion, with adjustments for age, sex, and cartilage measurement at baseline, large magnitude KAM peak and KAM impulse each interacted with BMI to predict loss of cartilage volume of the medial tibia over 2.5 years among individuals with knee osteoarthritis. These data suggest that, in clinical knee osteoarthritis, exposure to large KAMs may be detrimental to cartilage in those with larger BMIs.

**Keywords:** Degenerative Arthritis; Cartilage; Locomotion; Magnetic Resonance Imaging; Obesity

## Introduction

Mechanical loading is implicated in worsening structural or tissue damage inside the knee. Osteoarthritis (OA) is a complex disease that involves degradation of joint structure, symptoms including pain, and mobility limitations; each element reflects different disease processes<sup>1</sup>. "Progression" in this study was characterized as cartilage loss, a hallmark feature of knee OA. Cartilage loss (or its surrogate of joint space narrowing) sometimes relates with pain and contributes to joint malalignment that may require joint replacement<sup>2</sup>. Cartilage loss is also linked with the knee adduction moment (KAM). The KAM reflects the distribution of load between medial and lateral knee compartments<sup>3</sup>. The KAM peak predicted progression of knee OA at 6-year follow-up on X-ray<sup>4</sup>. In magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies of knee OA, a higher KAM peak at baseline predicted greater loss of medial knee cartilage thickness, but not volume, over 2–5 years <sup>5,6</sup>; while a higher KAM impulse at baseline predicted larger reductions in medial knee cartilage volume and thickness over 1 and 2 years, respectively<sup>5,7</sup>. It is important to note the strength of these relationships was weak. A KAM impulse greater by 1.0 percent body weight  $\times$  height  $\times$  seconds (%BW $\times$ HT $\times$ s) was associated with a 2year reduction of only 3.38% in medial tibial cartilage thickness, after adjusting for covariates, in 385 knees with radiographic OA  $(n=203)^5$ . Mechanics other than the KAM may also contribute to knee OA progression, notably the knee flexion moment  $(KFM)^{6,8}$ and knee loading frequency  $9^{-12}$ .

The KFM may be involved in OA progression; though there is a lack of consensus in the literature<sup>5,8</sup>. Greater KFM peak at baseline was associated with reduced tibial

medial-to-lateral cartilage thickness ratio, and with medial tibial cartilage thickness loss over 5 years in 16 participants<sup>6</sup>. In contrast, the KFM peak at baseline was not related with changes in medial tibial or femoral cartilage thickness over 2 years in 385 knees<sup>5</sup>. Since the role of the KFM in predicting cartilage breakdown remains unclear, further investigation is warranted.

Assessing knee loading frequency in conjunction with measures of joint loading magnitude and duration may improve our understanding of the association between mechanics and knee OA progression. The KAM and KFM peaks do not reflect the accumulated load applied to knee tissues during daily activity. Cartilage response to mechanical loading depends not only on load magnitude and duration, but also load frequency<sup>13,14</sup>. Some evidence supports a dose-response, curvilinear relationship between loading frequency and the incidence and progression of knee  $OA^{9-11}$ . In 405 communitydwelling older adults, greater steps/day (>10,000) increased cartilage volume loss over 2.7 years in those with low cartilage volume at baseline<sup>12</sup>. Conversely, no association was found between loading frequency and knee cartilage loss (scored semi-quantitatively) over 2 years in 779 knees with mild radiographic OA<sup>15</sup>. Loading frequency alone may not provide a comprehensive picture of the mechanical elements linked to cartilage breakdown. "Cumulative knee adductor load" incorporates the magnitude and duration of load (i.e., KAM impulse) as well as loading frequency (i.e., # steps/day). This concept may better reflect a mechanism of joint breakdown from overall accumulated exposure to medial knee loads<sup>16</sup>. Cumulative load was greater in individuals with knee OA compared to their healthy counterparts, and performed better than the KAM peak at distinguishing

between groups<sup>17</sup>. The total accumulated load on joint tissues is also reflected in obesity, often characterized by a body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Obesity represents excessive body mass and is a well-established modifiable risk factor for knee OA<sup>18</sup>. While the association between higher BMI and tissue breakdown can be attributed to a greater total accumulation of load, other factors such as altered loading patterns<sup>19</sup>, increased compressive and shear contact forces and dynamic loads during gait<sup>20–22</sup>, and reduced tissue tolerance due to exposure to inflammation<sup>23,24</sup> are likely also involved. To-date, no study has assessed whether cumulative load is valuable in understanding cartilage loss over time in knee OA.

The purpose of this study was to determine the extent to which changes over 2.5 years in medial knee cartilage thickness and volume in individuals with clinical knee OA could be predicted by: (1) KAM peak and KFM peak; and (2) KAM impulse and loading frequency (representing cumulative load exposure) after adjusting for age, sex, BMI and baseline cartilage measurement. Our hypotheses were based on findings from previous literature<sup>5–7,12</sup>. Due to the inverse relationship between the KAM peak at baseline and tibial cartilage thickness (change over 2–5 years)<sup>5,6</sup>, we hypothesized that a higher KAM peak at baseline would be associated with reduced cartilage thickness. In light of conflicting findings in the literature regarding the KFM<sup>5,6</sup>, we anticipated that studies utilizing the largest samples reflected the true association between variables. Due to the lack of association between the KFM peak at baseline and changes in medial knee cartilage thickness and volume over 2 years<sup>5</sup>, we hypothesized that the KFM peak at baseline would not be predictive of cartilage morphology changes. Due to the inverse

relationship between the KAM impulse at baseline and each of tibial cartilage thickness and volume (change over 1–2 years)<sup>5,7</sup>, we hypothesized that a higher KAM impulse at baseline would be associated with reduced cartilage thickness and volume. Finally, our hypothesis regarding loading frequency was based on the only study that examined the link between objectively measured loading frequency and changes in quantitative measurements of cartilage morphology<sup>12</sup>. Due to the inverse relationship between loading frequency at baseline and knee cartilage volume (change over 2.7 years)<sup>12</sup>, we hypothesized that a higher loading frequency at baseline would be associated with reduced cartilage volume.

#### Methods

This longitudinal, observational study was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board at McMaster University, Canada (prospective cohort study; level of evidence II). We previously reported on cross-sectional relationships using baseline data from the same cohort<sup>25</sup>.

#### **Participants**

A sample of consecutive individuals fulfilling the eligibility criteria were recruited from local rheumatology and orthopaedic surgery offices. Inclusion criteria included being 40– 70 years old and diagnosed with clinical knee OA according to the American College of Rheumatology specifications<sup>26</sup>. Exclusion criteria included other types of arthritis; prior lower-limb joint injury/surgery; ipsilateral hip or ankle conditions; habitual use of an adaptive walking aid; lower-limb trauma or use of intra-articular therapies within the past 3 months; or contraindication to MRI. In total, 64 participants satisfied the inclusion/exclusion criteria and were enrolled. Participants provided written, informed consent.

Descriptives recorded at baseline included the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)<sup>27</sup>, which produces reliable and valid data in knee OA<sup>28</sup>. Baseline Kellgren-Lawrence (K-L) scores were determined from coronal weight-bearing knee radiographs acquired in a standardized fixed-flexion position using a Synaflexer<sup>TM</sup> (Acrylic Art, Inc., Emeryville, CA, USA). Each digital radiograph was assessed by an experienced radiologist (ST) to yield a K-L score<sup>29</sup>.

## Cartilage Morphology

At baseline and approximately 2.5 years follow-up, participants underwent MRI of the study knee. To minimize diurnal variations in measurements of cartilage morphology, participants were scanned in the morning and instructed to minimize weight-bearing activity prior to the MRI acquisitions. However, there were 8 instances across baseline and follow-up where imaging was scheduled later in the day to accommodate participant availability. Both MRI scans were acquired with the same 1.0 Tesla peripheral MRI scanner (General Electric Healthcare, USA) using a coronal T1-weighted fat-saturated spoiled gradient recalled acquisition in the steady-state (SPGR), and the following parameters: repetition time (TR) 60 ms; echo time (TE) 12.4 ms (or minimum); flip angle 40°; bandwidth 30 kHz; matrix 512 x 256 (frequency x phase); 1 excitation; field of view 150 mm; slice thickness 1.5 mm; and 56-64 partitions. Cartilage from the medial tibia

and femur were segmented from the MRI scans using a highly-automated protocol based on eight atlases (Qmetrics, Rochester, NY, USA)<sup>30</sup>. An experienced radiologist (ST) reviewed all segmentations for quality assurance. Test-retest precision errors (coefficients of variation) for cartilage measures obtained with a 1.0 Tesla scanner were as follows: medial tibia (volume 3.6%; thickness 2.9%) and central medial femur (volume 5.5%; thickness 4.1%)<sup>31</sup>. No statistical differences were found between the precision of cartilage thickness or volume from 1.0 Tesla and 1.5 Tesla MRI scanners<sup>31</sup>. The following cartilage measures were calculated for each of the medial tibia and femur: volume (mm<sup>3</sup>), mean thickness (mm), and 5<sup>th</sup> percentile thickness (mm) (i.e., thinnest region). Change in each measure was calculated as the mean value at follow-up minus the mean value at baseline, divided by the number of days between time points.

#### Biomechanical Assessment

Within one week of baseline MRI, motion analyses were performed. Participant setup, instrumentation and gait analysis protocol have been described previously<sup>25</sup>. Briefly, three-dimensional kinematics and kinetics were collected during barefoot walking trials at a self-selected pace for five successful trials.

Gait data were processed using commercial software (Visual 3D, C-Motion, Inc., Germantown, MD, USA). Marker and force plate data were filtered using a second-order low-pass Butterworth bidirectional filter with 6 Hz cut-off. External knee moments were calculated in a three-dimensional floating axis coordinate system<sup>32</sup>. The KAM peak, KFM peak and KAM impulse during stance were determined for five gait cycles, then
averaged. The KAM impulse was calculated using trapezoidal integration (Version 7.0.1, Matlab, MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). Only positive values from stance were integrated (i.e., adduction) to represent loading experienced by the medial knee. The KAM and KFM peaks were normalized to body mass (Nm/kg); KAM impulse was expressed in non-normalized units (Nm•s). Non-normalized KAM impulse and KAM impulse normalized to %BW×HT are strongly correlated and yield similar patterns in sensitivity analyses<sup>5</sup>.

## Loading Frequency

Loading frequency was the average number of steps taken daily by the study leg over five days. At baseline, participants wore an accelerometer (GT3X+, ActiGraph Corp., Pensacola, FL, USA) for seven consecutive days during waking hours, except for water activities. The accelerometer, attached to an adjustable belt, was worn around the waist and aligned with the anterolateral aspect of the study leg. Wear time and number of steps per day were calculated (ActiLife 6, ActiGraph Corp., FL, USA) and subjectively corroborated with activity logbooks. Days with wear time  $\geq 10$  hours were retained for further analysis<sup>33</sup>. The number of steps/day for five full days (selected chronologically) was averaged, then divided by two to reflect loading frequency of only the study knee.

## Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated. Each baseline and follow-up measure of cartilage morphology was compared with two-tailed paired *t*-tests. We constructed linear

regression models that expressed the relationship between knee mechanics and changes in medial knee cartilage morphology over 2.5 years. Six measures of normalized change in medial knee cartilage morphology over 2.5 years were dependent variables: volume, mean thickness, and 5<sup>th</sup> percentile thickness for each of the tibia and femur. Two combinations (models) of independent variables were investigated for each dependent variable. Model 1 included KAM and KFM peaks at baseline as independent variables, reflecting a theoretical model based on peak knee moments during gait. Model 2 comprised the KAM impulse and knee loading frequency at baseline as independent variables, reflecting the concept of cumulative load. Each of these two models was created in two steps. In the first step, the covariates age, sex, BMI, and cartilage measurement at baseline were simultaneously entered in each model. Evidence suggests that older age, female sex and higher BMI are associated with cartilage loss<sup>34,35</sup>. In the second step, the independent variables were entered collectively and separately with interaction terms between predictors and BMI in all models (and an additional interaction term in model 2 between KAM impulse and loading frequency to reflect cumulative load) to examine the extent to which they explained variance in the dependent variable over and above the covariates. BMI was the only covariate for which we examined the interaction terms with predictors because this is the only modifiable covariate<sup>18</sup>. Non-significant interaction terms were removed.

Regression diagnostics were performed to identify potential outliers. Leverage versus normalized residuals squared plots were utilized to examine the overall influence of observations. The data were tested for homoscedasticity, multicollinearity and

linearity to ensure the appropriateness of the linear regression analyses. All tests were two-tailed and significance was set at p<0.05. Analyses were performed using Stata (Version 13.1, StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

## Results

From the 64 participants who enrolled, 53 completed the follow-up visit. Reasons for not completing included unrelated injury (n=1), medical issues (n=2), personal issues (n=2), study commitment (n=3), or unreachable (n=3). Data from one participant were excluded due to MRI motion artifact. The final sample used for analysis (n=52) (Table 2-1) was comprised of 41 women (78.8%), and the following K-L scores: grade 1=2 (3.8%), grade 2=18 (34.6%); grade 3=18 (34.6%); grade 4=14 (26.9%). In addition to presenting with clinical symptoms, >95% of participants had radiographic knee OA (K-L≥2). Of these participants, 48 had medial dominant OA and 2 had lateral dominant OA. Noncompleters were not different from the remaining sample in baseline descriptives (p>0.05). However, there was a strong suggestion of worse knee pain amongst noncompleters (between-group difference of 11 points; p=0.06).

The mean (standard deviation) follow-up time was 2.56 (0.51) years, over which the mean medial tibial cartilage volume was reduced by 6.4 (11.6)% (p<0.001) and the mean 5<sup>th</sup> percentile of femoral thickness was reduced by 3.8 (11.4)% (p=0.016). All other cartilage morphology measures were unchanged (p>0.05). Mean cartilage measures for the medial knee at follow-up were as follows: tibial cartilage volume 1562 (385) mm<sup>3</sup>; tibial cartilage mean thickness 1.8 (0.2) mm; tibial cartilage 5<sup>th</sup> percentile thickness 0.8

(0.1) mm; femoral cartilage volume 1812 (499) mm<sup>3</sup>; femoral cartilage mean thickness 1.8 (0.2) mm; and femoral cartilage  $5^{th}$  percentile thickness 0.8 (0.1) mm. No evidence of a ceiling effect on further cartilage change was observed in participants with K-L=4 at baseline, as this subgroup experienced significant reductions in cartilage thickness and volume over 2.5 years.

Our regression analyses focused on medial tibial cartilage volume because, of the two dependent variables that changed significantly over 2.5 years, only this one displayed a change larger than the precision error of the measurement. For this dependent variable, regression diagnostics revealed three outliers with high residuals (values exceeding  $\pm 2.25$ ) that were not clustered together. Data from these persons were removed. Thus, the final analyses were performed on n=49. Robust error estimates were used owing to heterogeneity of residuals. To satisfy the assumption of noncollinearity, data were centered for independent variables that displayed large variance inflation factors (>10), by subtracting the means from the respective terms of interest. Significant results are summarized in Table 2-2.

## Model 1: Knee Adduction and Flexion Moment Peaks

For change in medial tibial cartilage volume, the covariate model containing age, sex, BMI and medial tibial cartilage volume at baseline yielded an  $R^2$ =0.44 (95% Confidence Limits (CL): 0.18, 0.61; p<0.001). The enhanced model including the KAM peak displayed a KAM peak-by-BMI interaction (p=0.023), and increase in  $R^2$  to 0.59 (95% CL: 0.36, 0.69; p<0.001) compared to the covariate model. Neither the simultaneous addition of the KAM peak, KFM peak and interactions, nor the discrete addition of the KFM peak and interactions increased the variance explaining change in medial tibial cartilage volume (p>0.05).

The addition of the KAM peak and KFM peak, separately or collectively, and of interaction terms, did not explain additional variance beyond covariates for any other dependent variable (p>0.05).

## Model 2: Cumulative Knee Adductor Load

The model containing the KAM impulse exhibited a KAM impulse-by-BMI interaction (p=0.034), and explained an additional 15% of the variability in the change in medial tibial cartilage volume ( $R^2=0.59$ ; 95% CL: 0.41, 0.66; p=0.018) compared to the covariate model. The model containing both the KAM impulse and loading frequency did not explain more variance. The model containing only loading frequency and interactions did not increase the predictive ability of the model (p>0.05).

The addition of the KAM impulse and loading frequency, separately or collectively, and of interaction terms, did not increase the ability of the models to predict change in any other dependent variable beyond covariates (p>0.05).

To provide a two-dimensional graphical illustration of the KAM-by-BMI interactions, we performed a secondary analysis that dichotomized BMI at  $30.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (Figure 2-1). These analyses included the same aforementioned covariates. In these secondary analyses, the interactions remained significant between KAM peak and BMI (F(1,45) = 21.48, p<0.001) and between KAM impulse and BMI (F(1,45) = 26.68,

p<0.001). Over 2.5 years, mean medial tibial cartilage volume was reduced by 3.4 (6.0)% for normal/overweight participants (p=0.026) and 14.1 (11.6)% for obese participants (p<0.001).

#### Discussion

Greater KAM peak and KAM impulse during gait were each associated with 2.5-year reductions in cartilage volume of the medial tibia in obese individuals with clinical knee OA. In normal weight and overweight individuals (i.e., BMI 18.5–29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), the KAM was of little importance in predicting medial tibial cartilage volume change. Reducing body mass for obese individuals may modulate the deleterious effects of knee mechanics on knee OA progression.

The interactions of the KAM peak and KAM impulse with BMI as predictors of change in medial tibial cartilage volume over 2.5 years were striking. In our sample, the magnitudes of the KAM peak [0.36 (0.18) Nm/kg; or 2.27 (1.14) %BW×HT)] and KAM impulse [9.86 (7.25) Nm•s; or 0.80 (0.53) %BW×HT×s] were within the range of previously reported values from large cohort studies [KAM peak range: 1.7–5.3 %BW×HT<sup>4,5,7,8,36</sup>; KAM impulse range: 0.60–1.58 %BW×HT×s<sup>5,7,36</sup>]. To the best of our knowledge, no previous study examined the effect of interactions between these predictors on outcomes. In knee OA, the effect of the KAM on cartilage change depends on BMI. The negative beta coefficients for the KAM-by-BMI interactions imply that the higher the KAM, the greater the effect of BMI on cartilage volume loss.

Consistent evidence supports the detrimental relationships between obesity and cartilage defects<sup>37</sup>. However, the relationship between obesity and changes in knee cartilage morphology is more obscure<sup>37</sup>. Obesity increases dynamic knee loads during gait<sup>20,21</sup>. Excessive body mass contributed to increased compressive mechanical loads as well as altered movement and loading patterns at the knee<sup>19</sup>. Further, higher BMI was associated with greater knee shear and compressive peak force estimates during gait in radiographic knee OA<sup>22,38</sup>. Obesity was also associated with prolonged activation of quadriceps and gastrocnemii during stance, a feature thought to prolong joint contact loading<sup>39</sup>. Interestingly, obesity eliminated the positive relationship between knee cartilage thickness and the KAM peak during gait in healthy individuals<sup>40</sup>. A crosssectional investigation of 40 individuals with mild-to-moderate clinical knee OA showed that the KAM and BMI better explained the variability in structural disease severity than either factor alone<sup>41</sup>. Obesity-related metabolic factors also contribute to OA. Adipokines are elevated in obesity and related to reduced knee cartilage volume, independent of BMI<sup>23,24</sup>. A combination of mechanics and metabolic factors likely contribute to obesity-related OA progression.

Previous work implicated the KAM in knee cartilage degradation. Cartilage volume is achieved by integration of all voxels attributed to cartilage. In the present study, mean medial tibial cartilage volume for the whole sample was reduced by 6.4 (11.6) % over 2.5 years (p<0.001); obese participants experienced a greater loss of 14.1 (11.6) % (p<0.001). This change was greater than the precision error for volume measures at the medial tibia (3.6%)<sup>31</sup>. Assuming a linear relationship between cartilage

loss and time based on findings from Wluka et al.<sup>42</sup>, participants lost on average 2.5% of cartilage volume annually. This magnitude of volume change falls within the range of previously reported values. For instance, medial tibial cartilage volume was lost at an average annual rate of 4.7 (6.5) % over 2 years  $(n=123)^{43}$  and 3.7 (4.7) % over 4.5 years  $(n=78)^{42}$  in knee OA. Conversely, others have reported little to no changes over 1–3 years<sup>44,45</sup>. Discrepancies across studies are likely due to heterogeneity of structural severity and other participant characteristics (i.e., age, sex, BMI, pain). Higher baseline KAM impulse (but not peak) during gait predicted greater reductions in medial tibial cartilage volume over 1 year in clinical and radiographic knee OA<sup>7</sup>.

In comparison to volume, mean cartilage thickness measures may or may not include denuded areas, depending on the segmentation protocol<sup>46</sup>. Cartilage thickness measurements adjust for subchondral bone area and do not include osteophyte cartilage. In contrast to some reports<sup>5,6</sup>, the present study found no association of the KAM peak or impulse with changes in medial tibial or femoral cartilage thickness. No mean change in femoral cartilage mean thickness was seen across all K-L subgroups. Conversely, mean medial tibial cartilage mean thickness loss over 2.5 years was observed for subgroups K-L=2 and K-L=4, but not K-L=3. A lack of mean change in cartilage mean thickness in the K-L=3 subgroup (~1/3 of the sample) likely contributed to detecting no change in the whole sample. Further, use of mean thickness across the articular surface likely washed out regional variations in cartilage thickness, which may be related to loading patterns during gait<sup>47</sup>.

A loss of 3.8% was observed over 2.5 years in the mean 5<sup>th</sup> percentile of femoral cartilage thickness. This measure, which represents the average thickness of the thinnest region of cartilage, likely equates with other categorizations of cartilage defects<sup>7</sup>. In cross-sectional analyses on the same sample at baseline, the KAM peak was inversely related with the mean 5<sup>th</sup> percentile of femoral cartilage thickness<sup>25</sup>. Yet, in the current longitudinal analysis, no association was found between the KAM and change in mean 5<sup>th</sup> percentile of femoral cartilage thickness over 2.5 years. Previous reports demonstrated that the KAM peak was most related to cartilage changes in the medial central region of the femur<sup>5,6</sup>, which is subject to greatest loss of cartilage in knee  $OA^{48}$ . It may be that, over this time, relatively little change occurred in the 5<sup>th</sup> percentile of femoral cartilage thickness. This point reflects that the amount of change observed was similar to the precision error of cartilage thickness measurements at the femur<sup>31</sup>. It should be noted that this measure does not capture changes in the width of a cartilage defect. Therefore, enlargements of cartilage defects signalling OA progression would not be reflected in the  $5^{\text{th}}$  percentile thickness. Previous studies showed relatively weak relationships between the KAM and subsequent cartilage  $loss^{5-7}$ . We use data from the largest published sample and relatively long follow-up period to illustrate this point<sup>5</sup>. The mean (standard deviation) baseline KAM impulse was 0.60 (0.44) %BW×HT×s. A KAM impulse larger by 1.0 %BW×HT×s was associated with a reduction of only 3.38% in medial tibial cartilage thickness over 2 years in knee OA, after adjusting for various covariates<sup>5</sup>. Given the mean KAM impulse for the sample, a 1-unit difference in the KAM impulse is very large.

The notion that the KFM peak during gait plays an important role in disease progression has gained popularity, though longitudinal evidence supporting this hypothesis is inconsistent. The KFM is thought to work alongside the KAM to modulate the loading environment at the knee<sup>6,49,50</sup>: a reduction in KAM does not guarantee an equivalent decrease in medial knee contact force probably due to a concurrent increase in KFM<sup>49</sup>. In previous work, greater baseline KFM peak during gait was associated with reduced medial tibial cartilage thickness and medial-to-lateral tibial cartilage thickness ratio over 5 years  $(n=16)^6$ . In contrast, in the current study, and among 385 knees over 2 years<sup>5</sup>, the KFM peak alone was not associated with changes in cartilage morphology. The interplay between the KAM and KFM on the loading environment may depend on OA severity<sup>8</sup>. The influence of the KFM may be greater in early disease when symptoms are less severe<sup>8</sup>. More than half (56.3%) the sample in the work by Chehab et al.<sup>6</sup> had mild disease (K-L $\leq 2$ ), whereas the majority (61.5%) of the current sample had more advanced disease (K-L $\geq$ 3). Consequently, the differences in disease severity between samples may partly explain why the KFM was associated with cartilage loss in the study by Chehab et al. but not in the current investigation.

Cartilage response is theoretically influenced by loading frequency<sup>13,14</sup>. The present study was the first to incorporate loading frequency with external knee loads to explore the association between the KAM and cartilage loss. Contrary to our hypothesis, higher loading frequency did not predict cartilage loss in the medial knee. Similarly, no association was noted between loading frequency and cartilage loss in 779 knees (K-L $\leq$ 2) from older adults over 2 years<sup>15</sup>. In contrast, in 405 older community-dwelling adults,

high loading frequency (>10,000 steps/day) was protective against cartilage volume loss in individuals with more baseline volume, but deleterious in those with low baseline volume over 2.7 years<sup>12</sup>. The samples from the current study [3893 (1938) steps/day for the study leg; or 7786 (3876) steps/day for both legs] and Oiestad et al.<sup>15</sup> [7185 (2565) steps/day] had lower activity levels compared to the sample where an association was observed between activity and cartilage loss [8895 (3345) steps/day]<sup>12</sup>. Participants in this study may not have been active enough to induce further cartilage loss.

This study was not without limitations. While the analyses performed were sufficiently statistically powered, a larger sample would have allowed adjustments for additional covariates. Our sample comprised mostly older, overweight women; thus, generalisability to other populations is unknown. Large individual variability in change in cartilage measures may have limited the ability to detect mean cartilage loss over time. Accelerometry data were not adjusted for variability in physical activity habits associated with different days of the week or seasons.

In conclusion, BMI interacts with the KAM to predict cartilage volume loss in the medial tibia over time in individuals with clinical knee OA. Among obese participants, large magnitude KAM peak and KAM impulse at baseline predicted cartilage volume loss over 2.5 years; whereas KAM was of little importance in predicting cartilage volume loss in individuals with a healthy/overweight BMI. The KFM peak and loading frequency at baseline did not predict change in medial knee cartilage morphology. Treatment strategies should aim to shift BMI from obesity to normal/overweight categories to curb structural disease progression associated with mechanical loading.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was supported with funding from an Ontario Graduate Scholarship from the Ontario Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities (NMB); the Joint Motion Program, a Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Training Program in Musculoskeletal Health Research and Leadership (NMB); and a CIHR Operating Grant (MRM #102643). Salary support was provided by a CIHR New Investigator Award (MRM), and a Tier 1 Canada Research Chair (JPC). Equipment required to carry out this research was purchased with funds received from the Canadian Foundation for Innovation Leaders Opportunity Fund and the Ministry of Research and Innovation Ontario Research Fund (MRM). The authors would like to thank Stacey Acker, Kristina Calder and Neha Arora from the MacMobilize Laboratory at McMaster University for their assistance in data collection, as well as the study participants for making this study possible.

No financial support or other benefits from commercial sources have been received for the work reported on in the manuscript. S. Totterman and J.G. Tamez-Peña are co-founders of Qmetrics Technologies LLC, which developed the cartilage segmentation protocol used in this research. J.D. Adachi reports grants and personal fees from Amgen, Eli Lilly and Merck, grants from Actavis, and personal fees from Agnovos, outside the submitted work.

## References

- Lane NE, Brandt K, Hawker G, Peeva E, Schreyer E, Tsuji W, et al. OARSI-FDA initiative: Defining the disease state of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2011;19(5):478–82.
- Kaukinen P, Podlipská J, Guermazi A, Niinimäki J, Lehenkari P, Roemer FW, et al. Associations between MRI-defined structural pathology and generalized and localized knee pain - the Oulu Knee Osteoarthritis study. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2016;24:1565–76.
- Meyer AJ, D'Lima DD, Besier TF, Lloyd DG, Colwell CW, Fregly BJ. Are external knee load and EMG measures accurate indicators of internal knee contact forces during gait? J Orthop Res. 2013;31(6):921–9.
- Miyazaki T, Wada M, Kawahara H, Sato M, Baba H, Shimada S. Dynamic load at baseline can predict radiographic disease progression in medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2002;61(7):617–22.
- Chang AH, Moisio KC, Chmiel JS, Eckstein F, Guermazi A, Prasad PV, et al. External knee adduction and flexion moments during gait and medial tibiofemoral disease progression in knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2015;23(7):1099–106.
- 6. Chehab EF, Favre J, Erhart-Hledik JC, Andriacchi TP. Baseline knee adduction and flexion moments during walking are both associated with 5 year cartilage changes in patients with medial knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2014;22(11):1833–9.
- 7. Bennell KL, Bowles K-A, Wang Y, Cicuttini F, Davies-Tuck M, Hinman RS. Higher dynamic medial knee load predicts greater cartilage loss over 12 months in medial

knee osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(10):1770–4.

- Erhart-Hledik JC, Favre J, Andriacchi TP. New insight in the relationship between regional patterns of knee cartilage thickness, osteoarthritis disease severity, and gait mechanics. J Biomech. 2015;48(14):3868–75.
- Lin W, Alizai H, Joseph GB, Srikhum W, Nevitt MC, Lynch JA, et al. Physical activity in relation to knee cartilage T2 progression measured with 3 T MRI over a period of 4 years: data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2013;21(10):1558–66.
- Vignon É, Valat JP, Rossignol M, Avouac B, Rozenberg S, Thoumie P, et al. Osteoarthritis of the knee and hip and activity: a systematic international review and synthesis (OASIS). Jt Bone Spine. 2006;73(4):442–55.
- 11. Wang Y, Simpson JA, Wluka AE, Teichtahl AJ, English DR, Giles GG, et al. Is physical activity a risk factor for primary knee or hip replacement due to osteoarthritis? A prospective cohort study. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(2):350–7.
- Doré DA, Winzenberg TM, Ding C, Otahal P, Pelletier J-P, Martel-Pelletier J, et al. The association between objectively measured physical activity and knee structural change using MRI. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(7):1170–5.
- Jones G, Bennell K, Cicuttini FM. Effect of physical activity on cartilage development in healthy kids. Br J Sports Med. 2003;37:382–3.
- Qi C, Changlin H. Effects of moving training on histology and biomarkers levels of articular cartilage. J Surg Res. 2006;135(2):352–63.
- 15. Oiestad BE, Quinn E, White D, Roemer F, Guermazi A, Nevitt M, et al. No

Association between Daily Walking and Knee Structural Changes in People at Risk of or with Mild Knee Osteoarthritis. Prospective Data from the Multicenter Osteoarthritis Study. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(9):1685–93.

- Robbins SMK, Birmingham TB, Jones GR, Callaghan JP, Maly MR. Developing an estimate of daily cumulative loading for the knee: examining test-retest reliability. Gait Posture. 2009;30(4):497–501.
- Maly MR, Robbins SM, Stratford PW, Birmingham TB, Callaghan JP. Cumulative knee adductor load distinguishes between healthy and osteoarthritic knees-A proof of principle study. Gait Posture. 2013;37:397–401.
- Lee R, Kean WF. Obesity and knee osteoarthritis. Inflammopharmacology. 2012;20(2):53–8.
- Griffin TM, Guilak F. The Role of Mechanical Loading in the Onset and Progression of Osteoarthritis. Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 2005;33(4):195–200.
- Segal NA, Yack J, Khole P. Weight, Rather Than Obesity Distribution, Explains Peak External Knee Adduction Moment During Level Gait. Am J Phys. 2009;88(3):180–246.
- Browning R, Kram R. Effects of Obesity on the Biomechanics of Walking at Different Speeds. Med Sci Sport Exerc. 2007;39(9):1632–41.
- 22. Harding GT, Dunbar MJ, Hubley-Kozey CL, Stanish WD, Astephen Wilson JL. Obesity is associated with higher absolute tibiofemoral contact and muscle forces during gait with and without knee osteoarthritis. Clin Biomech. 2016;31:79–86.
- 23. Ding C, Parameswaran V, Cicuttini F, Burgess J, Zhai G, Quinn S, et al. Association

between leptin, body composition, sex and knee cartilage morphology in older adults: the Tasmanian older adult cohort (TASOAC) study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2008;67(9):1256–61.

- 24. Stannus O, Jones G, Cicuttini F, Parameswaran V, Quinn S, Burgess J, et al. Circulating levels of IL-6 and TNF-α are associated with knee radiographic osteoarthritis and knee cartilage loss in older adults. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2010;18(11):1441–7.
- 25. Maly MR, Acker SM, Totterman S, Tamez-Peña J, Stratford PW, Callaghan JP, et al. Knee adduction moment relates to medial femoral and tibial cartilage morphology in clinical knee osteoarthritis. J Biomech. 2015;48(12):1–7.
- 26. Altman R, Asch E, Bloch D, Bole G, Borenstein D, Brandt K, et al. Development of criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis. Classification of osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Rheum. 1986;29(8):1039–49.
- 27. Roos EM, Lohmander LS. The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): from joint injury to osteoarthritis. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2003;1:64.
- 28. Collins NJ, Misra D, Felson DT, Crossley KM, Roos EM. Measures of Knee Function: International Knee Documentation Committee (IKDC) Subjective Knee Evaluation Form, Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS), Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score Physical Function Short Form (KOOS-PS), Knee Outcome Survey Activities of Daily Living Scale (KOS-ADL), Lysholm Knee Scoring Scale, Oxford Knee Score (OKS), Western Ontario and McMaster Universitites Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC), Activity Rating Scale (ARS), and

Tegner Activity Score (TAS). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(Suppl 11):S208–28.

- Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS. Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 1957;16(4):494–502.
- 30. Tamez-Peña JG, Farber J, González PC, Schreyer E, Schneider E, Totterman S. Unsupervised segmentation and quantification of anatomical knee features: data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2012;59(4):1177–86.
- 31. Inglis D, Pui M, Ioannidis G, Beattie K, Boulos P, Adachi JD, et al. Accuracy and test-retest precision of quantitative cartilage morphology on a 1.0 T peripheral magnetic resonance imaging system. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2007;15(1):110–5.
- Wu G, Cavanagh PR. ISB Recommendations in the Reporting for Standardization of Kinematic Data. J Biomech. 1995;28(10):1257–61.
- Song J, Semanik P, Sharma L, Chang RW, Hochberg MC, Mysiw WJ, et al. Assessing Physical Activity in Persons with Knee Osteoarthritis Using Accelerometers: Data in the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;62(12):1724–32.
- Jones G, Glisson M, Hynes K, Cicuttini F. Sex and Site Differences in Cartilage Development. A Possible Explanation for Variations in Knee Osteoarthritis in Later Life. Arthritis Rheum. 2000;43(11):2543–9.
- 35. Ding C, Cicuttini F, Scott F, Cooley H, Jones G. Knee structural alteration and BMI: a cross-sectional study. Obes Res. 2005;13(2):350–61.
- 36. Robbins SMK, Birmingham TB, Maly MR, Chesworth BM, Giffin JR. Comparative

diagnostic accuracy of knee adduction moments in knee osteoarthritis: a case for not normalizing to body size. J Biomech. 2011;44(5):968–71.

- 37. Mezhov V, Ciccutini FM, Hanna FS, Brennan SL, Wang YY, Urquhart DM, et al. Does obesity affect knee cartilage? A systematic review of magnetic resonance imaging data. Obes Rev. 2014;15(2):143–57.
- Messier SP, Pater M, Beavers DP, Legault C, Loeser RF, Hunter DJ, et al. Influences of alignment and obesity on knee joint loading in osteoarthritic gait. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2014;22(7):912–7.
- Amiri P, Hubley-Kozey CL, Landry SC, Stanish WD, Astephen Wilson JL. Obesity is associated with prolonged activity of the quadriceps and gastrocnemii during gait. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. 2015;25(6):951–8.
- 40. Blazek K, Favre J, Asay J, Erhart-Hledik J, Andriacchi T. Age and obesity alter the relationship between femoral articular cartilage thickness and ambulatory loads in individuals without osteoarthritis. J Orthop Res. 2014;32(3):394–402.
- Astephen Wilson JL, Deluzio KJ, Dunbar MJ, Caldwell GE, Hubley-Kozey CL. The association between knee joint biomechanics and neuromuscular control and moderate knee osteoarthritis radiographic and pain severity. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2011;19(2):186–93.
- 42. Wluka AE, Forbes A, Wang Y, Hanna F, Jones G, Cicuttini FM. Knee cartilage loss in symptomatic knee osteoarthritis over 4.5 years. Arthritis Res Ther. 2006;8(4):R90.
- 43. Wluka A, Stuckey S, Snaddon J, Cicuttini FM. The determinants of change in tibial cartilage volume in osteoarthritic knees. J Rheumatol. 2002;46(8):2065–72.

- 44. Hunter D, Niu J, Zhang Y, Totterman S, Tamez J, Dabrowski C, et al. Change in cartilage morphometry: a sample of the progression cohort of the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(3):349–56.
- 45. Gandy SJ, Dieppe PA, Keen MC, Maciewicz RA, Watt I, Waterton JC. No loss of cartilage volume over three years in patients with knee osteoarthritis as assessed by magnetic resonance imaging. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2002;10(12):929–37.
- Eckstein F, Burstein D, Link TM. Quantitative MRI of cartilage and bone: degenerative changes in osteoarthritis. NMR Biomed. 2006;19(7):822–54.
- 47. Koo S, Andriacchi TP. A comparison of the influence of global functional loads vs.
  local contact anatomy on articular cartilage thickness at the knee. J Biomech.
  2007;40(13):2961–6.
- 48. Wirth W, Hellio Le Graverand M-P, Wyman BT, Maschek S, Hudelmaier M, Hitzl W, et al. Regional Analysis of Femorotibial Cartilage Loss in a Subsample from the Osteoarthritis Initiative Progression Subcohort. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2009;17(3):291–7.
- Walter JP, D'Lima DD, Colwell CW, Fregly BJ. Decreased knee adduction moment does not guarantee decreased medial contact force during gait. J Orthop Res. 2010;28(10):1348–54.
- 50. Manal K, Gardinier E, Buchanan TS, Snyder-Mackler L. A more informed evaluation of medial compartment loading: the combined use of the knee adduction and flexor moments. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2015;23(7):1107–11.

Variable	Mean (Standard Deviation)
Age (y)	61.0 (6.9)
Body mass (kg)	76.0 (16.1)
Height (m)	1.63 (0.09)
Body mass index $(kg/m^2)$	28.5 (5.7)
Pain (0-100) <sup>†</sup>	76.6 (16.0)
Other symptoms $(0-100)^{\dagger}$	75.9 (14.4)
Function in daily living $(0-100)^{\dagger}$	82.7 (15.8)
Function in sports and recreation $(0-100)^{\dagger}$	67.7 (24.4)
Knee related quality of life $(0-100)^{\dagger}$	64.7 (18.6)
Gait speed (m/s)	1.18 (0.21)
Knee adduction moment peak (Nm/kg)	0.36 (0.18)
Knee flexion moment peak (Nm/kg)	0.57 (0.21)
Knee adduction moment impulse (Nm•s)	9.86 (7.25)
Loading frequency (steps/day) $\phi$	3893 (1938)
Tibial cartilage volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	1669 (399)
Tibial cartilage mean thickness (mm)	1.8 (0.2)
Tibial cartilage 5 <sup>th</sup> percentile thickness (mm)	0.8 (0.1)
Femoral cartilage volume (mm <sup>3</sup> )	1782 (444)
Femoral cartilage mean thickness (mm)	1.8 (0.2)
Femoral cartilage 5 <sup>th</sup> percentile thickness (mm)	0.8 (0.1)

Table 2-1.	Descriptive	statistics of	participants	at baseline (n=52).
------------	-------------	---------------	--------------	---------------------

 $^{\dagger}$  Pain, other symptoms, function in daily living, function in sports and recreation, and

knee related quality of life were measured with the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis

Outcome Score. Scores range between 0 and 100, where lower scores reflect worse

symptoms and function<sup>27</sup>.

<sup>•</sup> Steps/day reflects loading frequency for the study leg only.

Note: All cartilage measures are for the medial knee only.

**Table 2-2.** Statistically significant associations between baseline variables and longitudinal changes in cartilage morphology (n=49). The dependent variable is change in medial tibial cartilage volume (mm<sup>3</sup>/day) over 2.5 years. Baseline covariates are age, sex, BMI, and baseline medial tibial cartilage volume. Predictors are KAM peak and KFM peak for model 1, and KAM impulse and loading frequency for model 2. Regression models used centered data, with robust error estimates. Statistically significant values are presented in bold.

Predictors	Unstandardized	95% CI	$\mathbf{R}^2$	<b>P-value</b>
	β Coefficient			
Covariates only			0.44	<0.001
Age	-0.0016	-0.0091, 0.0060		
Sex	0.1937	0.0534, 0.3340		
BMI	-0.0144	-0.0232, -0.0057		
Medial tibial cartilage volume	-0.0003	-0.0005, -0.0002		
Model 1: Covariates + KAM peal	k		0.59	<0.001
Age	0.0023	-0.0050, 0.0095		0.531
Sex	0.1669	0.0332, 0.3007		0.016
BMI	-0.0176	-0.0265, -0.0088		<0.001
Medial tibial cartilage volume	-0.0003	-0.0004, -0.0001		0.001
KAM peak	-0.0736	-0.3176, 0.1704		0.546
KAM peak x BMI	-0.0762	-0.1410, -0.0113		0.023
Model 2: Covariates + KAM imp	ulse		0.59	0.018
Age	0.0010	-0.0060, 0.0081		0.770
Sex	0.1448	0.0217, 0.2680		0.022
BMI	-0.0135	-0.0217, -0.0054		0.002
Medial tibial cartilage volume	-0.0002	-0.0004, -0.0001		0.008
KAM impulse	-0.0012	-0.0089, 0.0066		0.761
KAM impulse x BMI	-0.0018	-0.0034, -0.0001		0.034

Note: BMI = body mass index; KAM = knee adduction moment.

## Figures



**Figure 2-1.** Relationships of the KAM peak (A) and KAM impulse (B) with change in medial tibial cartilage volume over 2.5 years, with BMI dichotomized at  $30.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$ . A BMI between  $18.5-29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$  reflected normal/overweight individuals (n=34); whereas a BMI  $\geq 30.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$  represented obese individuals (n=15). KAM = knee adduction moment; BMI = body mass index.

## CHAPTER 3

## MUSCLE CAPACITY & PATIENT-REPORTED OUTCOMES PREDICT MOBILITY CHANGES IN KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS

Prepared for Clinical Rheumatology

# Self-efficacy, pain and quadriceps capacity at baseline predict changes in mobility performance over 2 years in women with knee osteoarthritis

Nicholas M. Brisson 1, Anthony A. Gatti 1, Paul W. Stratford 1, Monica R. Maly 1,2

1 School of Rehabilitation Science, McMaster University, Ontario, Canada 2 Department of Kinesiology, University of Waterloo, Ontario, Canada

Acknowledgements: This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research [Joint Motion Program (NMB), Operating Grant #102643 (MRM), New Investigator Award (MRM)]; the Ontario Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities [Ontario Graduate Scholarships (NMB, AAG)]; the Arthritis Society (AAG); the Canadian Foundation for Innovation [#27501 (MRM)]; and the Ministry of Research and Innovation [Ontario Research Fund (MRM)]. The authors would like to thank Kristina Calder, Neha Arora and Emily Wiebenga from the MacMobilize Laboratory at McMaster University, Canada for their help with recruitment and data collection, as well as the study participants for making this study possible.

Nicholas M. Brisson, e-mail: brissn@mcmaster.ca Anthony A. Gatti, e-mail: gattia@mcmaster.ca Paul W. Stratford, e-mail: stratfor@mcmaster.ca

Monica R. Maly (Corresponding Author) E-mail: mrmaly@uwaterloo.ca Phone: (519) 888-4567 ext. 37916 Fax: (519) 885-4070 Department of Kinesiology University of Waterloo Room 1052, Burt Matthews Hall 200 University Ave Waterloo, ON, Canada, N2L 3G1

## Abstract

*Introduction*: This study examined the extent to which baseline measures of quadriceps strength, quadriceps power, knee pain and self-efficacy for functional tasks, and their interactions, predicted 2-year changes in mobility performance (walking, stair ascent, stair descent) in women with knee osteoarthritis. We hypothesized that lesser strength, power and self-efficacy, and higher pain at baseline would each be independently associated with reduced mobility over 2 years; and each of pain and self-efficacy would interact with strength and power in predicting 2-year change in stair-climbing performance.

*Method*: This was a longitudinal, observational study of women with clinical knee osteoarthritis. At baseline and follow-up, mobility was assessed with the Six Minute Walk Test, and stair ascent and descent tasks. Quadriceps strength and power, knee pain and self-efficacy for functional tasks were also collected at baseline. Multiple linear regression examined the extent to which 2-year changes in mobility performances were predicted by baseline strength, power, pain and self-efficacy, after adjusting for covariates.

*Results*: Data were analyzed for 37 women with knee osteoarthritis over 2 years. Lower baseline self-efficacy predicted decreased walking ( $\beta$ =1.783; p=0.030) and stair ascent ( $\beta$ =-0.054; p<0.001) performances over 2 years. Higher baseline pain intensity/frequency predicted decreased walking performance ( $\beta$ =1.526; p=0.002). Lower quadriceps strength ( $\beta$ =0.051; p=0.015) and power ( $\beta$ =0.022; p=0.022) interacted with lesser self-efficacy to predict worsening stair ascent performance.

*Conclusions*: Strategies to sustain or improve mobility in women with knee osteoarthritis must focus on controlling pain and boosting self-efficacy. In those with worse self-efficacy, developing knee muscle capacity is an important target.

**Keywords:** Osteoarthritis, Knee; Walking; Stair Climbing; Muscle Strength; Muscle Power; Patient Reported Outcomes

## Introduction

Declines in mobility due to knee osteoarthritis (OA) can be explained by worse knee muscle capacity and patient-reported outcomes (i.e., pain and self-efficacy) [1]. Muscle capacity can be characterized by strength, the ability to generate force, and power, the ability to generate as much force as possible, as quickly as possible [2]. Baseline quadriceps strength predicted 30-month change in stair-climbing time in adults with knee pain [3], and chair sitting-and-standing mobility over 3 years in knee OA [4]. Moreover, 2-year change in quadriceps strength was inversely associated with change in stairclimbing time in knee OA [5]. Muscle power may be a more critical determinant of mobility than strength [6]. Quadriceps power was positively related with walking and stair-climbing performances in knee OA [7,8]. No known study has investigated this link between power and mobility performance longitudinally.

The impact of pain on mobility in knee OA is complex. Longitudinal work supports a negative association between knee pain intensity and self-reported physical function [4,9–11]. The relationship between pain intensity and performance-based mobility is less clear [3,4,10–12]. Baseline pain intensity did not predict 30-month change in stair-climbing performance [3], a finding confirmed for chair-stands performance at 3-year follow-up [4] and walking at 2-year follow-up in people with knee OA [10]. In contrast, change in constant pain was positively associated with change in chair-stands time over 2 years in women with knee OA [10]. Further work is required to clarify the longitudinal relationship between pain and mobility performance in knee OA.

Self-efficacy, an influential determinant of mobility in knee OA, is the belief that one has the capabilities to execute the actions required to satisfy specific situational demands [13]. Baseline self-efficacy predicted 30-month change in stair-climbing time in adults with knee pain [3]. Moreover, higher baseline self-efficacy protected against poor chair sitting-and-standing performance 3 years later in knee OA [4]. Social Cognitive Theory suggests that self-efficacy is more important to mobility performance than actual physical capacity, such as muscle strength/power [13].

Pain and self-efficacy likely interact with muscle capacity to affect mobility in knee OA. For example, the effects of greater strength on reducing the odds for poor chair-stands outcome over 3 years was partially mediated by each of pain intensity and self-efficacy [4]. Similarly, baseline quadriceps strength interacted with each of pain and self-efficacy in predicting 30-month change in car transfer and stair-climbing performances, respectively, in adults with knee pain [3,14]. Nonetheless, large gaps exist in understanding how muscle capacity interacts with pain and self-efficacy. First, previous findings of these interactions were based on a single mobility outcome. It is important to investigate the determinants of performance for various activities such as walking, stair ascent and stair descent since these tasks vary in biomechanical demands [15–18]. Stair-climbing is biomechanically more challenging than walking [15], where ascending and descending stairs place different physical demands on the knee [16,17]. Second, muscle power, a capacity measure likely more predictive of mobility than strength, remains unexamined longitudinally.

This study aimed to determine the extent to which baseline measures of (1)quadriceps capacity (strength, power) and (2) patient-reported outcomes (pain, selfefficacy for functional tasks) predicted change in mobility performance (walking, stair ascent, stair descent) over 2 years in women with knee OA. We also examined whether baseline quadriceps strength and power interacted with pain and self-efficacy in predicting 2-year change in mobility performance. Our hypotheses were based on findings from previous literature. Due to the positive relationships of quadriceps strength with stair-climbing and sitting-and-standing performances over 2 to 3 years in persons with knee pain and/or OA [3–5], we hypothesized that lesser quadriceps strength at baseline would be independently associated with reduced mobility over 2 years. Due to the positive relationships of quadriceps power with walking and stair-climbing performances in cross-sectional studies of knee OA [7–8], we hypothesized that lesser quadriceps power at baseline would be independently associated with reduced mobility over 2 years. In light of conflicting findings in the literature regarding the association between pain and mobility in persons with knee pain and/or OA [3–4,10], we based our hypothesis on the only study that examined women with knee OA separately [10]. Due to the inverse relationship between constant pain and chair sitting-and-standing mobility over 2 years [10], we hypothesized that higher pain intensity/frequency at baseline would be independently associated with reduced mobility over 2 years. Due to the positive relationships of self-efficacy with stair-climbing and chair sitting-and-standing performances over 2.5 to 3 years in persons with knee pain and/or OA [3–4], we hypothesized that lesser self-efficacy at baseline would be independently associated with

reduced mobility over 2 years. Finally, due to the interactions of pain and self-efficacy with muscle capacity on chair-stands, car transfer and stair-climbing mobility over 2.5 to 3 years in adults with knee pain and/or OA [3–4,14], we hypothesized that each of pain and self-efficacy would interact with quadriceps strength and power in predicting 2-year change in mobility performance.

## **Materials and Methods**

This longitudinal, observational study was approved by the institutional human research ethics board.

#### **Participants**

A convenience sample of women 45-70 years of age with clinical knee OA was recruited from orthopaedic surgery and rheumatology offices. Women were studied because knee OA affects women more frequently [19], with a greater impact on physical function compared to men [20]. Clinical disease was characterized by the American College of Rheumatology criteria [21].

Exclusion criteria at baseline comprised other forms of arthritis; past lower-limb injury and/or surgery; ipsilateral ankle or hip conditions; use of adaptive walking aids, intra-articular therapies or lower-limb trauma within the past 3 months; and inability to ascend/descend a 9-step staircase twice. Participants provided written, informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study. Descriptive statistics including age, body mass and height were recorded at baseline. The Kellgren-Lawrence score, which characterized radiographic severity at baseline, was determined from anterior-posterior weight-bearing knee X-rays acquired in a standardized fixed-flexion position [22]. An experienced radiologist evaluated each digital radiograph to determine Kellgren-Lawrence scores.

## Quadriceps capacity

Quadriceps strength and power were assessed at baseline using a dynamometer (System 3 Pro, Biodex Medical Systems, Inc., Shirley, USA). Participants were positioned on the dynamometer with the knee joint center of rotation aligned with the dynamometer axis of rotation. Straps secured the chest, waist, mid-thigh and lower-shank. The summative weight of the lower-limb and dynamometer attachment was recorded to correct torque data for gravity. Then, participants flexed and extended their knee several times under minimal resistance to familiarize themselves with the apparatus and protocol. To measure strength, participants performed five repetitions of a 5-second maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) of the quadriceps, with the knee in  $60^{\circ}$  of flexion (full extension defined as  $0^{\circ}$  flexion). Five seconds of rest was provided between contractions. Participants were instructed to "kick as hard as possible". To measure power, participants executed 10 consecutive knee extension-flexion cycles between 0-90° of flexion, across an arc of motion of at least 70°. Participants were instructed to "kick and bend their knee as fast and as hard as possible". During these isotonic contractions, resistance was set to 25% of MVIC peak quadriceps torque to ensure most participants

could complete 10 consecutive trials [8]. For dynamometry assessments, participants were permitted to brace themselves using the stabilization straps or handles, and were provided verbal encouragement and visual feedback to maximize volitional efforts [23].

Raw time, torque, and velocity data were extracted for each trial. Such measurements produced by this type of dynamometer demonstrated excellent betweentrial reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC)=0.99) and validity (ICC=0.99; measurement error 1–3%) [24]. Quadriceps strength was defined as the mean of the three highest peak torque values recorded during MVICs. Velocities were converted from degrees/second to radians/second and multiplied by torques (Nm) to generate measurements of power (W). Quadriceps power was defined as the mean of the three highest peak power values achieved during the quadriceps isotonic contractions. Strength (Nm/kg) and power (W/kg) values were normalized to body mass.

## Patient-reported outcomes

Pain and self-efficacy were recorded at baseline. The pain subscale of the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS-Pain) was used [25]. KOOS-Pain is composed of nine questions, scored from 0–4, about pain intensity/frequency over the previous week. KOOS-Pain was reported as the normalized mean score, where 100 indicated no pain and 0 indicated extreme pain. Data from this subscale demonstrated high internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.84) and test-retest reliability (ICC=0.90) in knee OA [26].

The physical function subscale of the Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES-FSE) was used to measure arthritis-specific self-efficacy for physical function tasks [27]. The

ASES-FSE consists of 9 items about distinct physical tasks, rated on a 10 cm visual analogue scale. It was scored by taking the normalized mean score, where 0 indicated "very uncertain" (low self-efficacy) and 100 indicated "very certain" (high self-efficacy). Data from the ASES-FSE showed high internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ =0.89) and test-retest reliability (ICC=0.85) in knee OA [28].

#### *Mobility performance*

At baseline and follow-up, mobility performance was assessed with the Six Minute Walk Test (6MWT) and stair-climbing tasks. The 6MWT is a submaximal test of walking capacity [29]. This test was performed on a 50-meter unobstructed, hard-tiled, rectangular circuit. Participants walked at a self-selected speed for 6 minutes with the goal of travelling the maximum distance. Jogging and running were not allowed but slowing down, stopping or sitting was permitted, with time continuing to elapse. Standardized verbal encouragement was provided at 1-minute intervals [29]. The 6MWT score corresponded to the total distance (m) walked. Data from the 6MWT demonstrated high test-retest reliability (ICC=0.94; standard error of measurement (SEM)=26.3 meters), and a minimum detectable change at 90% confidence of 61.3 meters in end-stage knee OA [30].

A stair-climbing task is recommended in the evaluation of physical function in knee OA [31]. Stair-climbing was performed on a 9-step staircase with a standard rise and run, and handrails on each side. In separate bouts, participants ascended and descended the staircase as rapidly as possible without running, jogging or skipping a step.

This test was completed twice. Participants could use handrails if desired. Ascent and descent times were registered with a stopwatch, from the time the lead foot left the floor until the moment both feet were planted on the final step. The mean duration (s) of each task was used as the test score. Since ascending and descending stairs place different biomechanical demands on the knee, these tasks were evaluated separately. Although no reliability data are available for stair ascent and descent tasks independently, such data exist for the 9-step stair-climbing test performed in one continuous bout. This test showed high test-retest reliability (ICC=0.90; SEM=2.35 seconds), and a minimum detectable change at 90% confidence of 5.5 seconds in end-stage knee OA [30].

#### Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were computed as means and standard deviations (SD) for continuous data, and counts for categorical data. Baseline and follow-up mobility scores were compared with two-tailed paired *t*-tests. Multiple linear regression was used to examine the extent to which changes in walking and stair-climbing performances over 2 years were predicted by baseline measures of quadriceps capacity and patient-reported outcomes. The dependent variables were the 2-year change scores for each of the 6MWT, stair ascent, and stair descent tasks. Change scores were calculated as the mean at follow-up minus the mean at baseline. Potential predictors were baseline quadriceps strength, quadriceps power, KOOS-Pain, and ASES-FSE. Covariates were age, BMI and corresponding mobility score at baseline. Older age and higher BMI are determinants of

poorer functional task performance in knee OA [4,32]. Baseline mobility scores were used to control for the status of participants at the start of the study.

To answer both research questions, eight models were investigated for each dependent variable. Each model was created in two steps. First, the covariates were concurrently entered. Covariates were selected based on evidence and remained in the regression models whether or not they were unique contributors. The second step differed between models aiming to answer the first and second research questions. To address the first research question, each of the four independent variables was added separately to examine the extent to which it explained variance in the dependent variable over and above the covariates. To address the second research question, four additional models were run, which included a muscle capacity measure (either strength or power) and a patient-reported outcome (either pain or self-efficacy), as well as their interaction term.

Linear regression analyses were scrutinized for requisite assumptions. Outliers were examined using leverage versus normalized residuals squared plots. All analyses were two-tailed with statistical significance set at p<0.05, and conducted using Stata software (version 13.1, StataCorp LP, College Station, USA).

#### Results

Forty-five women met the inclusion/exclusion criteria and were enrolled. Among these participants, 38 completed the follow-up visit. Reasons for not finishing the study included medical issues (n=1), personal issues (n=2), study commitment issues (n=1), or

unreachable (n=3). Quadriceps capacity data were lost for one participant due to equipment failure. Therefore, the final sample used for analysis comprised 37 women (Table 3-1), with the following Kellgren-Lawrence scores: grade 1=1, grade 2=13; grade 3=16; grade 4=7. Participants with incomplete data (n=8) had lower self-efficacy compared to those who completed the study (-11.5 points; p=0.021). No other baseline descriptive statistics differed between groups (p>0.05), though there was strong suggestion of lesser quadriceps strength among non-completers (-0.35 Nm/kg; p=0.06).

The mean (SD) follow-up time was 2.23 (0.34) years, and varied from 1.05 to 2.76 years. At follow-up, mean mobility scores were as follows: 6MWT = 549.5 (85.0) meters, stair ascent = 4.3 (1.6) seconds, stair descent = 4.1 (1.8) seconds. The mean (SD) 6MWT score at follow-up was greater than that at baseline [+23.2 (52.0) meters; p=0.010]; whereas mean stair ascent [-0.13 (0.85) seconds; p=0.36] and descent [+0.03 (0.83); p=0.81] times were unchanged.

Regression diagnostics revealed no outliers that were not clinically plausible, thus data from all 37 participants were used. In regression models that displayed variance heterogeneity, robust error estimates were applied. To satisfy the assumption of noncollinearity, data for independent variables that displayed a large variance inflation factor (>10) were centered by subtracting the means from the respective terms of interest. No evidence of nonlinearity was noted on plots of standardized residuals versus each independent variable in the regression models.

#### Six Minute Walk Test

For change in 6MWT score, the covariate model yielded a  $R^2=0.31$  (p=0.006) (Table 3-2). The separate addition of pain (p=0.002) increased the predictive ability of the model ( $R^2=0.49$ ; p<0.001). The discrete addition of self-efficacy (p=0.030) also increased the predictive ability of the model ( $R^2=0.40$ ; p=0.002). The separate addition of quadriceps strength (p=0.06) and power (p=0.43) did not explain additional variance.

No interaction was observed between measures of knee muscle capacity and patient-reported outcomes: strength and pain (p=0.90); strength and self-efficacy (p=0.94); power and pain (p=0.52); power and self-efficacy (p=0.57).

## Stair ascent

For change in stair ascent time, the covariate model yielded a  $R^2$ =0.10 (p=0.30) (Table 3-3). The discrete addition of self-efficacy (p<0.001) increased the predictive ability ( $R^2$ =0.40; p=0.002). While pain was a significant predictor (p=0.025), it did not significantly increase the predictive ability of the model ( $R^2$ =0.24; p=0.065). The separate addition of quadriceps strength (p=0.53) and quadriceps power (p=0.54) did not explain additional variance.

There was a strength-by-self-efficacy interaction (p=0.015), with an increase in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  to 0.52 (p=0.001) (Figure 3-1). Also, a power-by-self-efficacy interaction was revealed (p=0.022), with an increase in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  to 0.50 (p=0.001) (Figure 3-2). No interaction was observed between strength and pain (p=0.053), and power and pain (p=0.18).
#### Stair descent

For change in stair descent time, the covariate model yielded a  $R^2=0.11$  (p=0.78). Neither measures of quadriceps capacity (strength, p=0.24; power, p=0.89), nor patient-reported outcomes (pain, p=0.52; self-efficacy, p=0.44) explained additional variability.

No interaction was observed between measures of quadriceps capacity and patient-reported outcomes: strength and pain (p=0.39); strength and self-efficacy (p=0.20); power and pain (p=0.16); power and self-efficacy (p=0.17).

# Discussion

Higher pain intensity/frequency and lower self-efficacy for functional tasks at baseline predicted decreased walking performance over 2 years in women with clinical knee OA. Lower baseline self-efficacy also predicted decreased stair ascent performance. While neither quadriceps strength nor power at baseline independently predicted mobility changes, lower muscle capacity (either quadriceps strength or power) interacted with poorer self-efficacy in predicting worsening stair ascent time over 2 years. These findings suggest that strategies aiming to sustain or improve mobility in women with knee OA must focus on controlling pain and boosting self-efficacy. In women with lower self-efficacy, developing knee muscle capacity remains an important target.

Over 2 years, the mean 6MWT score increased by 23.2 m; whereas stair ascent and descent scores were unchanged. The greater mean walking distance at follow-up, however, was smaller than the minimum detectable change (i.e., measurement error) for knee OA, and likely not clinically significant [30,33]. Little-to-no mean change in

performance-based measures over time is not surprising, as previous studies also reported no mean change in various mobility measures longitudinally in knee OA [5,34,35]. Nonetheless, a lack of mean change in mobility scores (at the group level) does not preclude the detection of statistically significant predictors of change in mobility, as was the case for change in stair ascent time. The large variability around the mean change score over 2 years, where SDs are multiples of the mean, emphasize that some individuals likely improved or worsened over that period. This notion aligns with previous work identifying different trajectories in knee OA, where some individuals remained stable, worsened or improved in different aspects of the disease over time [12,36,37].

Pain and self-efficacy for functional tasks were independently associated with 2year change in mobility scores; contrary to our hypotheses, quadriceps strength and power were not. Previous investigations identified pain, self-efficacy, and quadriceps strength to be determinants of mobility in knee OA [1]. Results from this study corroborate the importance of pain and self-efficacy in predicting future mobility in this population. No such evidence was found for quadriceps strength, though a trend toward statistical significance was observed for change in walking performance. The latter may be due to some discrepancies across studies. For example, quadriceps strength was recorded during MVICs in this investigation; other studies assessed strength concentrically at constant speeds [3–5]. Nonetheless, moderate-to-high relationships exist between isometric and isokinetic strength measurements [38]. Interpretation of the literature may also be obscured because some prior studies analyzed women and men

conjointly [3,5], although reduced quadriceps capacity impacts knee OA progression differently across sexes (e.g., joint space narrowing, worsening pain) [39,40].

There is growing interest in muscle power as a critical determinant of mobility in knee OA [6–8]. The velocity component of muscle power may make this variable a better target of intervention since it can influence joint mechanics and loading during dynamic tasks commonly encountered in daily life [41]. The investigation of quadriceps power was a novel contribution of the current work.

Unique to previous studies, the current study observed interactions between each of quadriceps strength and power with self-efficacy in predicting change in stair ascent performance in women with knee OA. Previous reports indicated positive associations of baseline self-efficacy with change in stair-climbing performance over 2.5 years in 324 adults with knee pain [3], and chair sitting and standing mobility 3 years later in 236 adults with knee OA [4]. We advance this prior work by showing that among women with lower self-efficacy for functional tasks at baseline (compared to those with high selfefficacy), the impact of quadriceps strength and power on the change in stair ascent performance was more important. It appears that women with knee OA must perceive their muscular capacity in a positive light to influence a favorable outcome in terms of mobility. A similar interaction was noted between baseline quadriceps strength and selfefficacy in predicting change in stair-climbing performance over 2.5 years in adults with knee pain [3]. However, in that report, self-efficacy was specific to stair-climbing (ascent and descent evaluated conjointly), and reflected participants' level of certainty that they could perform the task 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 times without stopping [3]. This hierarchical

measurement technique was consistent with the standard method developed by Bandura to measure task-specific self-efficacy [42]; nonetheless, it may not capture realistic situational demands encountered by most older adults with knee OA. A novel finding from the current analysis was the interaction between quadriceps power and self-efficacy in predicting change in stair ascent performance longitudinally. This interaction was similar to that of quadriceps strength with self-efficacy. This was the only instance when quadriceps power contributed to a significant model, suggesting that it may not actually be more important than quadriceps strength in predicting walking and stair-climbing mobility in women with knee OA.

Self-efficacy is a central component of self-management. Self-management education programs are complementary to and more effective in improving self-efficacy in OA than traditional patient education. Self-management education teaches problemsolving skills; traditional patient education typically offers information and technical skills [43]. Task-specific self-efficacy can also be enhanced by: (1) identifying and reinforcing patients' past/present successful accomplishments; (2) directing patients to observe successful behaviors of others; (3) providing positive feedback for patients' efforts; and (4) ensuring patients interpret their feelings correctly [13]. Accordingly, treatments to improve mobility may need to consider patients' disease manifestation and focus on advancing self-efficacy not only with self-management education but also by focusing patients on consciously acknowledging their muscle capacity.

While ample work supports an inverse relationship between knee pain intensity and self-reported physical function [4,9–11], the link between pain and performance-

based mobility in knee OA remains unclear [3,4,9–11]. Results from the present study suggest a modest, negative association between baseline knee pain and longitudinal change in mobility in women with knee OA. A similar finding was noted previously, where increased constant pain predicted decreased chair-stands performance over 2 years in women (n=133), but not men (n=189), with knee OA [10]. In contrast, baseline pain intensity did not predict change in stair-climbing performance over 2.5 years in 324 adults with knee pain [3], and in 20-meter timed walking at 2-year follow-up (n=322) [10] and chair sitting-and-standing mobility at 3-year follow-up (n=236) in knee OA [4]. Longitudinal evidence reporting on the link between pain and performance-based mobility in knee OA may be confounded by various factors. Some studies assessed pain using instruments that were not specific to OA, and did not analyze women and men separately [3,4], though each sex typically tends to experience/report pain differently [44]. Further, only one known study examined the relationship of different pain types (i.e., intermittent, constant) with mobility [10]. It may be that one type of pain (and not the other) is associated with mobility performance.

A trend toward statistical significance was observed for the interaction between pain and quadriceps strength in predicting change in stair ascent time. Of interest, Miller and colleagues [14] noted an interaction between baseline quadriceps strength and knee pain intensity in predicting 30-month change in car transfer performance in women and men with knee pain (n=317), only about half of whom had established OA [14]. While not entirely comparable, these results are important in characterizing various mobility limitations due to compromised knee joint health. Pain and muscle capacity likely

interact on mobility performance in various ways. Pain may play a role in arthrogenic inhibition of the quadriceps; that is, neural inhibition preventing the central nervous system from fully activating the muscle [45]. Also, weakness and atrophy of the quadriceps can result from disuse [46].

It is interesting that self-efficacy (and statistical trend for pain) interacted with muscle capacity only for the stair ascent task. Participants may attribute more importance to their self-efficacy (and pain) levels during stair ascent, a task more biomechanically demanding than walking or descending stairs. Ascending stairs requires greater knee and hip sagittal plane range of motion, moments and powers [16,17,47]. The quadriceps play a dominant role in progressing from step to step during stair ascent [17]. This task mainly involves concentric contractions of quadriceps and calf muscles, resulting in the generation of considerable internal energy (i.e., positive power). The knee generates the most energy during the "pull-up" phase, mostly due to quadriceps activity [17]. Conversely, in stair descent, the quadriceps contract eccentrically and are involved in significant energy absorption. Compared to walking and stair descent, greater muscle activity is thus required for stair ascent due to antigravity activity, type of muscle contractions and differences in loads imposed by various body positions. Muscle activity during concentric work would be expected to exceed that for equal eccentric work, and the body is less optimally positioned with the center of mass further from the point of support in stair ascent [17].

This study had limitations. The small variability around mean mobility scores and lack of mean change over 2 years in these measurements across the sample may have

limited the detection of significant associations between predictor and outcome variables. Medication use and comorbidities were not controlled for in the analyses, which may have modulated relationships between predictors (e.g., pain) and mobility. Selection bias due to the use of a convenience sample may have also affected the results (e.g., noncompleters displayed lower self-efficacy). Generalisability of results to men or other populations is unknown.

In conclusion, in older women with clinical knee OA, lower self-efficacy for functional tasks at baseline predicted decreased performance over 2 years during walking and stair ascent. Higher baseline pain intensity/frequency also predicted decreased walking performance. Interactions were observed between baseline self-efficacy and each of knee extensor strength and power in predicting 2-year change in stair ascent performance. These findings support the use of strategies for bolstering self-efficacy and reducing pain to sustain or improve mobility over time in women with knee OA. Interestingly, future work could explore the impact of targeting knee extensor capacity in those with lower self-efficacy, and possibly greater pain, during biomechanically challenging tasks.

## Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research [Joint Motion Program (NMB), Operating Grant #102643 (MRM), New Investigator Award (MRM)]; the Ontario Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities [Ontario Graduate Scholarships (NMB, AAG)]; the Arthritis Society (AAG); the Canadian Foundation for Innovation [#27501 (MRM)]; and the Ministry of Research and Innovation [Ontario Research Fund (MRM)]. The authors would like to thank Kristina Calder, Neha Arora and Emily Wiebenga from the MacMobilize Laboratory at McMaster University, Canada for their help with recruitment and data collection, as well as the study participants for making this study possible.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no financial relationship with the organizations that sponsored the research. The authors have full control of all primary data and agree to allow the journal to review their data if requested.

## **Ethical standards**

This longitudinal, observational study was approved by the institutional human research ethics board. Participants provided written, informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study.

# References

- [1] Dekker J, van Dijk GM, Veenhof C. Risk factors for functional decline in osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2009;21:520–4.
- [2] Sayers SP. High-speed power training: a novel approach to resistance training in older men and women. A brief review and pilot study. J Strength Cond Res 2007;21:518–26.
- [3] Rejeski WJ, Miller ME, Foy C, Messier SP, Rapp S. Self-efficacy and the progression of functional limitations and self-reported disability in older adults with knee pain. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2001;56:S261-5.
- [4] Sharma L, Cahue S, Song J, Hayes K, Pai YC, Dunlop D. Physical Functioning over Three Years in Knee Osteoarthritis: Role of Psychosocial, Local Mechanical, and Neuromuscular Factors. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48:3359–70.
- [5] Sanchez-Ramirez DC, Van Der Leeden M, Van Der Esch M, Roorda LD, Verschueren S, Van Dieën J, et al. Increased knee muscle strength is associated with decreased activity limitations in established knee osteoarthritis: Two-year follow-up study in the Amsterdam osteoarthritis cohort. J Rehabil Med 2015;47:647–54.
- [6] Reid KF, Fielding RA. Skeletal Muscle Power: A Critical Determinant of Physical Functioning In Older Adults. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2012;40:4–12.
- [7] Valtonen AM, Pöyhönen T, Manninen M, Heinonen A, Sipilä S. Knee Extensor and Flexor Muscle Power Explains Stair Ascension Time in Patients With Unilateral Late-Stage Knee Osteoarthritis: A Cross-Sectional Study. Arch Phys

Med Rehabil 2015;96:253–9.

- [8] Accettura AJ, Brenneman EC, Stratford PW, Maly MR. Knee Extensor Power Relates to Mobility Performance in People With Knee Osteoarthritis: Cross-Sectional Analysis. Phys Ther 2015;95:989–95.
- [9] White DK, Neogi T, Nguyen U-SDT, Niu J, Zhang Y. Trajectories of functional decline in knee osteoarthritis: the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Rheumatology 2016;55:801–8.
- [10] Davison M, Ioannidis G, Maly M, Adachi J, Beattie K. Intermittent and constant pain and physical function or performance in men and women with knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. Clin Rheumatol 2016;35:371–9.
- [11] Riddle DL, Stratford PW. Unilateral vs bilateral symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: associations between pain intensity and function. Rheumatology 2013;52:2229–37.
- [12] Oiestad BE, White DK, Booton R, Niu J, Zhang Y, Torner J, et al. Longitudinal Course of Physical Function in People With Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis: Data From the Multicenter Osteoarthritis Study and the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Arthritis Care Res 2016;68:325–31.
- [13] Bandura A. Health promotion from the perspective of social cognitive theory. Psychol Health 1998;13:623–49.
- [14] Miller ME, Rejeski WJ, Messier SP, Loeser RF. Modifiers of change in physical functioning in older adults with knee pain: the Observational Arthritis Study in Seniors (OASIS). Arthritis Rheum 2001;45:331–9.

- [15] Costigan PA, Deluzio KJ, Wyss UP. Knee and hip kinetics during normal stair climbing. Gait Posture 2002;16:31–7.
- [16] Protopapadaki A, Drechsler WI, Cramp MC, Coutts FJ, Scott OM. Hip, knee, ankle kinematics and kinetics during stair ascent and descent in healthy young individuals. Clin Biomech 2007;22:203–10.
- [17] McFadyen BJ, Winter DA. An Integrated Biomechanical Analysis of Normal Stair Asecent and Descent. J Biomech 1988;21:733–44.
- [18] Winter DA. Kinematic and kinetic patterns in human gait: Variability and compensating effects. Hum Mov Sci 1984;3:51–76.
- [19] Felson DT, Zhang Y, Hannan MT, Naimark A, Weissman BN, Aliabadi P, et al. The incidence and natural history of knee osteoarthritis in the elderly: The Framingham osteoarthritis study. Arthritis Rheum 1995;38:1500–5.
- [20] Davis MA, Ettinger WH, Neuhaus JM, Mallon KP. Knee osteoarthritis and physical functioning: evidence from the NHANES I Epidemiologic Followup Study. J Rheumatol 1991;18:591–8.
- [21] Altman R, Asch E, Bloch D, Bole G, Borenstein D, Brandt K, et al. Development of criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis. Classification of osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Rheum 1986;29:1039–49.
- [22] Kothari M, Guermazi A, von Ingersleben G, Sieffert M, Block JE, Stevens R, et al. Fixed-flexion radiography of the knee provides reproducible joint space width measurements in osteoarthritis. Eur Radiol 2004;14:1568–73.
- [23] Silva SB, de Abreu LC, Valenti VE, Nogueira D V, Moraes ER, Natividade V, et

al. Verbal and visual stimulation effects on rectus femoris and biceps femoris muscles during isometric and concentric. Int Arch Med 2013;6:38.

- [24] Drouin JM, Valovich-McLeod TC, Shultz SJ, Gansneder BM, Perrin DH.
  Reliability and validity of the Biodex system 3 pro isokinetic dynamometer velocity, torque and position measurements. Eur J Appl Physiol 2004;91:22–9.
- [25] Roos EM, Lohmander LS. The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): from joint injury to osteoarthritis. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003;1:64.
- [26] Collins NJ, Prinsen CAC, Christensen R, Bartels EM, Terwee CB, Roos EM. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): Systematic review and metaanalysis of measurement properties. Osteoarthr Cartil 2016;24:1317–29.
- [27] Lorig K, Chastain RL, Ung E, Shoor S, Holman HR. Development and Evaluation of a Scale to Measure Perceived Self-Efficacy in People with Arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1989;32:37–44.
- [28] Brady TJ. Measures of self-efficacy: Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES), Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale-8 Item (ASES-8), Children's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (CASE), Chronic Disease Self-Efficacy Scale (CDSES), Parent's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (PASE), and Rheumatoid Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (RASE). Arthritis Care Res. 63, S473–S485.
- [29] Du HY, Newton PJ, Salamonson Y, Carrieri-Kohlman VL, Davidson PM. A review of the six-minute walk test: Its implication as a self-administered assessment tool. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2009;8:2–8.
- [30] Kennedy DM, Stratford PW, Wessel J, Gollish JD, Penney D. Assessing stability

and change of four performance measures : a longitudinal study evaluating outcome following total hip and knee arthroplasty. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2005;6:3.

- [31] Dobson F, Hinman RS, Roos EM, Abbott JH, Stratford P, Davis AM, et al. OARSI recommended performance-based tests to assess physical function in people diagnosed with hip or knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 2013;21:1042–52.
- [32] Chun SW, Kim KE, Jang SN, Kim K II, Paik NJ, Kim KW, et al. Muscle strength is the main associated factor of physical performance in older adults with knee osteoarthritis regardless of radiographic severity. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2013;56:377–82.
- [33] Naylor JM, Hayen A, Davidson E, Hackett D, Harris IA, Kamalasena G, et al. Minimal detectable change for mobility and patient-reported tools in people with osteoarthritis awaiting arthroplasty. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2014;15:235.
- [34] Van Dijk GM, Dekker J, Veenhof C, Van Den Ende CHM. Course of functional status and pain in osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: A systematic review of the literature. Arthritis Care Res 2006;55:779–85.
- [35] Pisters MF, Veenhof C, van Dijk GM, Heymans MW, Twisk JWR, Dekker J. The course of limitations in activities over 5 years in patients with knee and hip osteoarthritis with moderate functional limitations: Risk factors for future functional decline. Osteoarthr Cartil 2012;20:503–10.
- [36] Bartlett SJ, Ling SM, Mayo NE, Scott SC, Bingham CO. Identifying common trajectories of joint space narrowing over two years in knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis

Care Res 2011;63:1722–8.

- [37] Bastick AN, Wesseling J, Damen J, Verkleij SPJ, Emans PJ, Bindels PJE, et al. Defining knee pain trajectories in early symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in primary care: 5-year results from a nationwide prospective cohort study (CHECK). Br J Gen Pract 2016;66:e32–9.
- [38] Knapik JJ, Ramos MU. Isokinetic and isometric torque relationships in the human body. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1980;61:64–7.
- [39] Segal NA, Glass NA, Torner J, Yang M, Felson DT, Sharma L, et al. Quadriceps weakness predicts risk for knee joint space narrowing in women in the MOST cohort. Osteoarthr Cartil 2010;18:769–75.
- [40] Glass NA, Torner JC, Frey Law LA, Wang K, Yang T, Nevitt MC, et al. The relationship between quadriceps muscle weakness and worsening of knee pain in the MOST cohort: a 5-year longitudinal study. Osteoarthr Cartil 2013;21:1154–9.
- [41] Callahan DM, Tourville TW, Slauterbeck JR, Ades PA, Stevens-Lapsley J, Beynnon BD, et al. Reduced rate of knee extensor torque development in older adults with knee osteoarthritis is associated with intrinsic muscle contractile deficits. Exp Gerontol 2015;72:16–21.
- [42] Bandura A. Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1986.
- [43] Bodenheimer T, Lorig K, Holman H, Grumbach K. Patient Self-management of Chronic Disease in Primary Care. J Am Med Assoc 2002;288:2469–75.
- [44] Fillingim RB, King CD, Ribeiro-Dasilva MC, Rahim-Williams B, Riley III JL.

Sex, gender, and pain: a review of recent clinical and experimental findings. J Pain 2009;10:447–85.

- [45] Rice DA, McNair PJ. Quadriceps Arthrogenic Muscle Inhibition: Neural Mechanisms and Treatment Perspectives. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2010;40:250–66.
- [46] Neogi T, Zhang Y. Epidemiology of Osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2013;39:1–19.
- [47] Winter DA, Eng P. Energy Generation and Absorption at the Ankle and Knee during Fast, Natural, and Slow Cadences. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1983;175:147–54.

Variable	Mean (Standard Deviation)	Minimum-Maximum
Age (y)	62.2 (5.5)	45-69
Body mass (kg)	72.5 (13.6)	52.6-104.8
Height (m)	1.61 (0.06)	1.45-1.74
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	28.1 (5.2)	20.1-41.8
Quadriceps strength (Nm/kg)	1.59 (0.49)	0.33-2.22
Quadriceps power (W/kg)	3.45 (1.41)	0.52-6.44
Pain (0-100) <sup>†</sup>	77.6 (15.3)	44.4-100
Self-efficacy (0-100) <sup>\$</sup>	91.2 (9.8)	64.0–100
Six Minute Walk Test (m)	526.2 (87.0)	317-747
Stair ascent (s)	4.4 (1.4)	1.7-8.5
Stair descent (s)	4.0 (1.4)	2.3–9.5

Table 3-1.	Descriptive	statistics	of the	sample	at base	eline	(n=37	women)	•
------------	-------------	------------	--------	--------	---------	-------	-------	--------	---

<sup>†</sup> Pain was measured with the Pain subscale of the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis

Outcome Score. Scores range from 0 (extreme pain) to 100 (no pain) [25].

 $^{\phi}$  Self-efficacy was measured with the Physical Function subscale of the Arthritis Self-

Efficacy Scale. Scores range from 0 (very uncertain/unconfident) to 100 (very

certain/confident) [27].

**Table 3-2.** Relationships of baseline covariates (age, body mass index, mobility score) and statistically significant predictors [and trends] (pain, self-efficacy, quadriceps strength) with the dependent variable *2-year change in Six Minute Walk Test score* (n=37).

Predictors	Unstandardized	95% CI	$\mathbf{R}^2$	<b>P-value</b>
	β Coefficient			
Covariates Only			0.309	0.006*
Age	-1.4066	-4.3255, 1.5123		
Body mass index	-4.9601	-8.3391, -1.5812		
Six Minute Walk Test	-0.3664	-0.5758, -0.1570		
Covariates + Strength			0.381	0.003*
Age	-0.8753	-3.7396, 1.9889		0.538
Body mass index	-3.6114	-7.1610, -0.0618		0.046*
Six Minute Walk Test	-0.4280	-0.6397, -0.2163		<0.001*
Strength	37.0398	-2.0633, 76.1430		0.063
Covariates + Pain			0.486	<0.001*
Age	-1.5520	-4.1139, 1.0098		0.226
Body mass index	-3.6375	-6.7108, -0.5642		0.022*
Six Minute Walk Test	-0.3985	-0.5832, -0.2138		<0.001*
Pain	1.5259	0.5884, 2.4634		0.002*
<i>Covariates</i> + <i>Self-efficacy</i>			0.405	0.002*
Age	-1.1275	-3.8941, 1.6391		0.413
Body mass index	-4.2653	-7.5154, -1.0152		0.012*
Six Minute Walk Test	-0.4133	-0.6154, -0.2112		<0.001*
Self-efficacy	1.7834	0.1790, 3.3879		0.030*

Note: Pain was measured with the Pain subscale of the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score [25]. Self-efficacy was measured with the Physical Function subscale of the Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale [27].

\* Statistically significant at p<0.05.

**Table 3-3.** Relationships of baseline covariates (age, body mass index, mobility score) and statistically significant predictors [and trends], (pain, self-efficacy, quadriceps strength, quadriceps power) with the dependent variable *2-year change in stair ascent score* (n=37). Regression models used centered data for terms included in the interactions.

Predictors	Unstandardized	95% CI	$\mathbf{R}^2$	P-value
Covariates Only	p Coefficient		0.103	0 303
Age	0.0263	-0.0281_0.0806	0.105	0.505
Body mass index	0.0550	-0.0095.0.1196		
Stair ascent	-0.1804	-0.4318, 0.0711		
Descent Oreston 1				
Congrigation   Dain			0.226	0.065
Covariates + Pain	0.0217	0.0105 0.0920	0.230	0.005
Age De des mars in des	0.0317	-0.0195, 0.0829		0.210
Body mass index	0.0426	-0.0189, 0.1042		0.108
Stair ascent	-0.2587	-0.5041, -0.0132		0.040*
Pain	-0.0223	-0.0415, -0.0030		0.025*
<i>Covariates</i> + <i>Self-efficacy</i>			0.404	0.002*
Age	0.0227	-0.0224, 0.0677		0.313
Body mass index	0.0445	-0.0092, 0.0983		0.101
Stair ascent	-0.3411	-0.5647, -0.1174		0.004*
Self-efficacy	-0.0542	-0.0816, -0.0267		<0.001*
Research Question 2				
Covariates + Strength & Pain			0 333	0 045*
	0.0406	-0.0106.0.0917	0.555	0.116
Rody mass index	0.0400	-0.0306.0.0939		0.308
Stair ascent	-0.3525	-0.6428 -0.0623		0.500
Strength	0.0874	-0.7685, 0.9433		0.836
Pain	-0.0277	-0.7003, 0.9433		0.050
Strength*Pain	0.0423	-0.0472, -0.0001		0.007
Suchgui Tam	0.0425	-0.0000, 0.0032		0.055
Covariates + Strength & Self-e	fficacy		0.524	0.001*
Age	0.0280	-0.0145, 0.0705		0.188
Body mass index	0.0362	-0.0158, 0.0882		0.165
Stair ascent	-0.4626	-0.7160, -0.2092		0.001*
Strength	-0.1694	-0.8533, 0.5144		0.617

Self-efficacy	-0.0514	-0.0769, -0.0259		<0.001*
Strength*Self-efficacy	0.0514	0.0108, 0.0920		0.015*
Covariates + Power & Self-efficacy	,		0.501	0.001*
Age	0.0278	-0.0152, 0.0709		0.197
Body mass index	0.0356	-0.0160, 0.0871		0.169
Stair ascent	-0.4367	-0.7135, -0.1599		0.003*
Power	-0.0579	-0.2794, 0.1636		0.597
Self-efficacy	-0.0518	-0.0785, -0.0251		<0.001*
Power*Self-efficacy	0.0218	0.0033, 0.0404		0.022*

Note: Pain was measured with the Pain subscale of the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score [25]. Self-efficacy was measured with the Physical Function subscale of the Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale [27].

\* Statistically significant at p<0.05.

# Figures



**Figure 3-1.** Interaction between baseline quadriceps strength and self-efficacy for functional tasks, after adjusting for baseline covariates (age, body mass index, mobility score), in predicting change in stair ascent time over 2 years in women (n=37) with knee osteoarthritis. Lower scores indicate lower self-efficacy. The impact of strength on change in stair ascent time is greater in those with lower self-efficacy.



**Figure 3-2.** Interaction between baseline quadriceps power and self-efficacy for functional tasks, after adjusting for baseline covariates (age, body mass index, mobility score), in predicting change in stair ascent time over 2 years in women (n=37) with knee osteoarthritis. Lower scores indicate lower self-efficacy. The impact of power on change in stair ascent time is greater in those with lower self-efficacy.

# CHAPTER 4

# KNEE ADDUCTION MOMENT, BODY MASS INDEX & QUADRICEPS STRENGTH ARE IMPORTANT CLINICAL TARGETS IN KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS

Under review in Osteoarthritis and Cartilage (Manuscript Number: OAC8132)

# RELATIVE AND ABSOLUTE TEST-RETEST RELIABILITIES OF BIOMECHANICAL RISK FACTORS FOR KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS PROGRESSION: BENCHMARKS FOR MEANINGFUL CHANGE

Nicholas M. Brisson<sup>1</sup>, Paul W. Stratford<sup>1</sup>, Monica R. Maly<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Rehabilitation Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario <sup>2</sup> Department of Kinesiology, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario

**Corresponding Author: Monica R. Maly** E-mail: mrmaly@uwaterloo.ca Phone: (519) 888-4567 ext. 37916 Fax: (519) 885-4070 Department of Kinesiology University of Waterloo Room 1052, Burt Matthews Hall 200 University Ave Waterloo, ON, Canada, N2L 3G1

**Word Count:** The abstract contains 250 words, and the main text (excluding references and legends) contains 3,885 words.

# Abstract

*Objective*: Biomechanical factors are important treatment targets in knee osteoarthritis (OA). The knee adduction (KAM) and flexion (KFM) moments, quadriceps strength and power, physical activity, and body mass index (BMI) all have the potential to affect knee articular cartilage integrity by modulating forces across the joint. To identify clinically meaningful change, however, these measurements must be reliable and sensitive to change. This study estimated relative and absolute test-retest reliabilities over long periods of biomechanical risk factors for knee OA progression. Design: Data from a longitudinal, observational study were analyzed for knee OA patients with data at baseline, 6-month and 24-month follow-ups. Gait kinematics and kinetics, quadriceps strength and power, physical activity level and BMI were collected. Relative and absolute test-retest reliabilities of these measures were estimated using the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) and standard error of measurement (SEM), respectively. Minimal detectable change at the 95% confidence level (MDC95) was also calculated. *Results*: Data from 46 participants [36 women; mean age 61.0 (6.6) years] were included. Good-to-excellent relative reliabilities (ICC≥0.80) indicated that KAM peak and impulse, quadriceps strength and power, and BMI had a strong ability to discriminate amongst participants. Absolute reliabilities were high for quadriceps strength and BMI, which demonstrated reasonable within-participant variability (SEMs  $\leq 11\%$  of the mean). The MDC95 values supported the use of clinical interventions effective in reducing BMI and KAM, and increasing quadriceps strength. *Conclusions*: These data are useful to

researchers and clinicians in interpreting changes observed in biomechanical measurements during interventional or longitudinal investigations of knee OA.

**Keywords:** Arthritis; Biomechanical Phenomena; Muscle Strength; Muscle, Skeletal; Physical Fitness; Obesity

Running Headline: Reliability of biomechanical factors in knee OA

## Introduction

Knee osteoarthritis (OA) progression can be characterized by joint tissue degradation, leading to worsening of symptoms (e.g., pain, swelling, stiffness) and ultimately functional disability. Biomechanical risk factors for the progression of structural knee OA include the knee adduction moment (KAM)<sup>1–3</sup>, knee flexion moment (KFM)<sup>1,4</sup>, muscle strength and power<sup>5</sup>, physical activity<sup>6,7</sup>, and body mass index (BMI)<sup>3,8</sup>. These factors are important modifiable treatment targets in knee OA, as each has the potential to affect joint tissue integrity by modulating compressive forces across the knee<sup>9,10</sup>.

The external KAM is an indicator of the mechanical load distribution in the frontal plane, that is, between the medial and lateral compartments of the knee<sup>10</sup>. The KAM peak reflects a single maximum at one instance, whereas the KAM impulse incorporates both the magnitude and duration of load during stance. Larger magnitudes of KAM peak and impulse during gait predicted structural progression in knee OA<sup>1–3</sup>. The external KFM represents mechanical loading in the sagittal plane. A higher KFM peak during gait is speculated to be involved in knee OA structural progression; however, evidence supporting this claim remains conflicting<sup>1–4</sup>. The KFM is thought to work collaboratively with the KAM to modulate contact forces and the overall loading environment at the knee<sup>1</sup>.

Strength and power are indicators of muscle capacity. Muscle strength is the ability to produce force; whereas muscle power represents the ability to generate as much force as possible, as quickly as possible. Individuals with knee OA often exhibit reduced quadriceps muscle capacity (i.e., weakness) compared to healthy knees, possibly caused

by disuse atrophy arising from load-bearing avoidance due to pain or arthrogenic inhibition<sup>11</sup>. Lower quadriceps capacity was associated with a higher risk for joint space narrowing and cartilage loss in knee OA<sup>5</sup>.

Physical activity levels, or joint loading frequency, can also impact knee OA status. Disuse or overuse can result in irreversible cartilage degradation, while moderate levels of joint loading are paramount in maintaining knee joint tissue health<sup>9</sup>. Body mass index is commonly used to characterize body size and/or obesity. Higher BMIs are associated with joint tissue breakdown in knee OA<sup>8</sup>, attributable to greater total accumulation of load and altered joint loading, as well as reduced tissue tolerance due to inflammation<sup>12</sup>.

Since these biomechanical factors are modifiable, they represent potential targets for clinical intervention. Estimates of relative and absolute test-retest reliabilities must be established to ascertain whether the biomechanical risk factors are stable over time and can appropriately be used to characterize disease progression in knee OA. The reliability of these biomechanical measurements has been established previously, either in healthy populations<sup>13–18</sup>, or in knee OA over a short period (i.e., within session or over several days)<sup>19–24</sup>. Mobility and patient-reported outcome (e.g., pain, physical function) measures are fairly stable over long periods (~3–5 years) in knee OA<sup>25,26</sup>. Therefore, it is fair to assume that test-retest reliabilities of biomechanical variables are also stable over time, though no study has confirmed this speculation. It is important to determine the reliability of these measurements over time, specific to knee OA, to identify their utility

in characterizing disease progression and to evaluate the outcome of therapeutic interventions.

The purpose of this study was to estimate both the relative and absolute test-retest reliabilities of biomechanical risk factors for progression of knee OA. The biomechanical risk factors of interest included the KAM peak and impulse, KFM peak, quadriceps muscle strength and power, physical activity level, and BMI. Because the goal of this analysis was parameter estimation, no hypotheses were formulated. The results will inform readers whether an observed change within a patient over time falls within the limits of measurement error or if it can be interpreted as true change.

#### Methods

This analysis was performed on a subset of data from a longitudinal, observational study, which was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board at McMaster University, Canada. Data were analyzed for adults with clinical knee OA who had data at baseline, 6-month and 24-month follow-ups for at least one measurement of interest.

#### **Participants**

The larger cohort was comprised of a convenience sample of individuals (n=64) 40–70 years old with clinical knee OA. This sample was recruited from local rheumatology and orthopaedic surgery offices. Clinical knee OA was characterized according to the American College of Rheumatology specifications<sup>27</sup>. These criteria include having knee pain on most days of the month and at least three of the following: 50 years of age or

older, morning knee stiffness lasting less than 30 minutes, crepitus on active motion, bony tenderness, bony enlargement, and no palpable warmth of synovium<sup>27</sup>. Potential participants were excluded if they had other types of arthritis; past lower-limb joint injury and/or surgery; ipsilateral hip or ankle conditions; regular need for an adaptive walking aid; lower-limb trauma or used intra-articular therapies within the past 3 months. If participants had bilateral OA, the knee reported as having more severe symptoms was designated as the study knee. Participants provided written, informed consent.

Descriptive statistics were recorded at baseline, including age, sex and knee axis angle. Patient-reported outcomes were recorded using the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)<sup>28</sup>. The radiographic disease severity was characterized by Kellgren-Lawrence (K-L) scores from anterior-posterior weight-bearing knee radiographs acquired in a standardized fixed-flexion position<sup>29</sup>. An experienced radiologist assessed all digital radiographs to yield anatomical knee axis angles and K-L scores.

## Gait Analysis

Motion analyses were performed to calculate lower-limb kinematics and kinetics during barefoot gait at a self-selected speed. Participants wore a short-sleeved shirt and shorts. Infrared emitting diodes, arranged in triads on rigid bodies, were affixed to the sacrum, and lateral aspects of the mid-thigh, mid-shank and foot of the study limb. Threedimensional kinematics were recorded at 100 Hz with a 9-camera high-speed motion capture system (Optotrak Certus, Northern Digital Inc., Waterloo, ON, Canada). Kinetics were collected synchronously at 1000 Hz with a floor-embedded force plate (OR6-7-1000, Advanced Mechanical Technology, Inc., Watertown, MA, USA). To create a

lower-limb model, the pelvis was digitized using bilateral anterior and posterior superior iliac spines, and greater trochanters. The leg was digitized at the greater trochanter; medial and lateral femoral and tibial condyles; tibial tuberosity; fibular head; medial and lateral malleoli; calcaneus; and first, second and fifth metatarsal heads to create rigid linksegment models of each participant. A static reference trial, with the participant standing in the anatomical position, defined neutral lower-limb joint angles. After practice, participants performed walking trials at a self-selected pace. To eliminate the effects of different shoes on dynamic knee loads, walking trials were performed barefoot. Five successful trials, where the foot of the study leg landed fully on the force platform, were analyzed.

Gait data were processed using commercial software (Visual 3D, C-Motion, Inc., Germantown, MD, USA). A second-order low-pass Butterworth bidirectional filter with 6 Hz cut-off was applied to marker and force plate data. External knee moments were calculated in a three-dimensional floating axis coordinate system<sup>30</sup>. The KAM peak and impulse, and KFM peak were determined for stance of five gait cycles, then averaged. Gait speed was computed. The KAM and KFM peaks were computed according to two common conventions: normalized to body mass (Nm/kg), and to percent bodyweight times height (%BW×HT). The KAM impulse was calculated using trapezoidal integration of only positive values (i.e., adduction) (Version 7.0.1, Matlab, MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA) and expressed in non-normalized units (Nm×s) to reflect the absolute loading experienced by the medial knee, and normalized to percent bodyweight times height times second (%BW×HT×s).

## Quadriceps Strength and Power

Quadriceps strength and power were measured with a dynamometer (System 3 Pro, Biodex Medical Systems, Inc., Shirley, NY, USA). Participants wore shorts and were positioned on the dynamometer according to manufacturer specifications. The knee joint center of rotation was aligned with the axis of rotation of the dynamometer, and straps were used to stabilize the chest, waist, mid-thigh and lower-leg. The weight of the lowerlimb and dynamometer attachment was recorded while the knee was in slight flexion and muscles were relaxed, to correct torque data for gravity. Then, participants familiarized themselves with the protocol by flexing and extending their knee through full range of motion several times under minimal resistance.

Quadriceps strength was measured as participants executed five repetitions of a 5second maximum voluntary isometric contraction of knee extensor muscles, with the knee in 60° of flexion. Full knee extension was defined as 0° flexion. A 5-second rest was given between each contraction. For strength tests, participants were instructed to "kick as hard as possible". Quadriceps power was measured during 10 consecutive knee extension-flexion cycles between 0° and 90° of flexion, with an arc of motion of at least 70°. For power tests, participants were instructed to "kick and bend their knee as fast and as hard as possible". Resistance during these isotonic contractions was set to 25% of the peak torque from maximum voluntary isometric contractions. For both the strength and power tests, participants were allowed to brace themselves using the handles or chest straps. Verbal encouragement and visual feedback were also provided to maximize volitional efforts.

The raw time, torque, and velocity data were extracted for each strength and power trial. Quadriceps strength was the mean of the three highest knee extensor peak torque values achieved during the isometric contractions. To generate measurements of power, velocities were transformed to radians/second and multiplied by torques. Quadriceps power was the mean of the three highest knee extensor peak power values achieved during the isotonic contractions. Quadriceps strength and power were computed according to two common conventions: normalized to body mass [strength (Nm/kg); power (W/kg)], and non-normalized [strength (Nm); power (W)].

# Physical Activity

Physical activity was measured by a triaxial accelerometer (GT3X+, ActiGraph Corp., Pensacola, FL, USA). Participants were instructed to wear the accelerometer for seven consecutive days during waking hours, except for water activities. The accelerometer was attached to an adjustable belt around the waist, aligned with the anterolateral aspect of the study leg. Wear time and number of steps per day were computed (ActiLife 6, ActiGraph Corp., FL, USA) and verified subjectively using participant-reported physical activity logs. Only days during which the accelerometer was worn for at least 10 hours were retained<sup>31</sup>. Physical activity was characterized as the average number of steps per day (taken by both legs) over five days (selected chronologically).

## Body Mass Index

Body mass and height were measured using a physician-quality scale and stadiometer. Body mass index was calculated as body mass divided by height squared ( $kg/m^2$ ).

## Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics including means, standard deviations, minimums and maximums for continuous variables, and counts for categorical data, were computed. Requisite assumptions for the various statistical tests were performed prior to proceeding with the analyses. Each measure was compared across the three assessment times with two-tailed paired *t*-tests. The relative test-retest reliability was estimated using Shrout and Fleiss type 2,1 intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs), with 95% confidence intervals. The ICC represents the ratio of between-patient variability to total variability in a measure, where total variability captures both between- and within-patient variability. The ICC provides information about the ability of a measure to discriminate amongst participants, but it does not express measurement error in clinically meaningful terms, nor does it reveal the retest variability in its units of measurement<sup>32</sup>. We considered an ICC $\geq$ 0.90 as high, 0.80-0.89 as moderate, and <0.80 as questionable<sup>33</sup>. The absolute test-retest reliability of the measures was estimated using the standard error of measurement (SEM), with 95% confidence intervals. The SEM captures the precision of a measure, or withinparticipant variability for a single test (i.e., 1 standard deviation of the distribution of error associated with a single test score), and quantifies the amount of measurement error in the same units as the original measurement $^{32}$ . A smaller SEM indicates that a measure

is more precise and potentially more sensitive to change. The minimal detectable change at the 95% confidence level (MDC95) was calculated by multiplying the SEM by the zvalue associated with the corresponding confidence interval and the square root of two to account for measurement error on two test sessions (i.e., MDC95=SEM×1.96× $\sqrt{2}$ ). The MDC95 can be interpreted as 95% of truly stable patients will exhibit random variation less than this magnitude when assessed on repeated occasions; a change larger than MDC95 is often interpreted as a true change<sup>32</sup>. All tests were two-tailed with statistical significance set at p<0.05, and performed using Stata software (Version 13.1, StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

#### Results

Data for at least one measurement at all three time points (i.e., baseline, 6-month followup, 24-month follow-up) were available from 46 participants (36 women). These participants had the following baseline K-L scores: grade 1=2, grade 2=16; grade 3=15; grade 4=13. Additional descriptive statistics are presented in Table 4-1.

The mean (standard deviation) time between baseline and 6-month measurements is as follows: 6.2 (0.3) months for KAM peak, KAM impulse, KFM peak; 6.3 (0.5) months for quadriceps strength and power; 6.2 (0.4) months for physical activity; and 6.2 (0.4) months for BMI. The mean time between baseline and 24-month measurements is as follows: 24.4 (0.6) months for KAM peak, KAM impulse, KFM peak; 24.1 (0.7) months for quadriceps strength and power; 24.2 (0.6) months for physical activity; and 24.2 (0.5) months for BMI. The biomechanical measurements at each time of assessment are displayed in Table 4-2. The mean KFM peak was different between baseline and 6-month follow-up (Nm/kg, p=0.055; %BW×HT, p=0.037), and between baseline and 24-month follow-up (Nm/kg, p=0.002; %BW×HT, p=0.001). No other systematic differences were observed across the three assessment times (p>0.05).

The relative and absolute reliability estimates, as well as MDC95 values for each biomechanical measurement are summarized in Table 4-3. Relative reliabilities were excellent for KAM impulse, quadriceps strength and BMI (ICC>0.90); good for KAM peak and quadriceps power (ICC=0.80–0.90); and questionable for KFM peak and physical activity (ICC<0.80). Absolute reliabilities were high for quadriceps strength and BMI, which demonstrated reasonable within-participant variability with SEMs  $\leq$ 11% of the mean. To facilitate clinical interpretation, MDC95 values presented as percent error of the baseline mean (%MDC95), from smallest to largest were as follows: BMI (9%); quadriceps strength (30–31%), KAM impulse (45–50%); KAM peak (50–51%); quadriceps power (51–53%); KFM peak (56–57%); and physical activity level (57%).

#### Discussion

The current investigation expanded on previous work by reporting reliability estimates over longer intervals of biomechanical risk factors for the progression of knee OA. Relative reliability estimates were good-to-excellent (i.e., ICC>0.80) for KAM peak and impulse, quadriceps strength and power, and BMI, suggesting that these measurements are stable over time and can discriminate between individuals with knee OA. Absolute

reliability estimates were high for quadriceps strength and BMI, which demonstrated reasonable within-participant variability with SEMs ≤11% of the mean. The %MDC95 values suggested that BMI and quadriceps strength (and potentially KAM) represent appropriate targets of intervention, as true changes in these measurements are likely achievable. These data will aid clinicians and researchers establish cut-off values for patients at risk of disease progression, and interpret findings from interventional or longitudinal research by ascertaining whether observed changes over time in knee OA patients fall within the limits of measurement error or whether they can be interpreted as true change.

Biomechanical measurements have numerous sources of variability that can affect reliability estimates. Gait mechanics and muscle capacity are influenced by multiple factors. Knee moments are subject to sources of measurement error inherent to inverse dynamics (e.g., marker placement, skin motion artefact, error propagation by differentiating)<sup>34</sup>, and also influenced by footwear, gait speed and joint pain<sup>35–37</sup>. Strength and power may be affected by verbal and visual encouragement and motivation, joint pain, and apprehension<sup>38,39</sup>. Physical activity levels can vary based on the day of the week, season, and other intrinsic and extrinsic factors<sup>40</sup>. Moreover, there are different disease trajectories in knee OA: patients may experience worsening, no change, or improvements over time<sup>41–43</sup>. These various trajectories in joint degradation, symptoms and physical function likely contribute to higher between-patient variability (and thus higher ICCs) but also higher within-patient variability over time, which may inflate SEMs and MDC95.

Relative reliabilities were good for KAM peak (ICC=0.84–0.85) and excellent for KAM impulse (ICC=0.92–0.93). The KAM peak exhibited SEMs of 0.07 Nm/kg (or 0.46 %BW×HT), and MDC95 of 0.20 Nm/kg (or 1.28 %BW×HT). Previous work has reported good-to-excellent repeatability of the KAM in healthy populations over separate days and weeks<sup>13,14</sup>. Reliability estimates from the current study are comparable to those noted in knee OA over shorter intervals. For example, when patients with medial knee OA (n=31) were tested twice within one week, KAM peak displayed an ICC=0.86, SEM=0.36 %BW×HT, and MDC95=1.00 %BW×HT<sup>22</sup>. In 20 patients with moderate knee OA assessed 2–11 weeks apart, KAM peak at early and late stance displayed ICCs=0.91–0.92 and SEMs=0.06 Nm/kg<sup>23</sup>. To our knowledge, this is the first study to report reliability estimates for the KAM impulse in knee OA. The SEMs for the KAM impulse was 1.77 Nm×s, slightly higher than that of 1.45 Nm×s reported for healthy individuals (n=30)<sup>13</sup>.

On the other hand, the KFM peak displayed questionable ICCs (0.48-0.52), considerably lower than in healthy populations (i.e., ICC=0.88)<sup>14</sup>. Similarly, SEMs (0.13 Nm/kg) and MDC95 (0.36 Nm/kg) for KFM peak were higher than that reported for young healthy adults (i.e., SEM=0.04 Nm/kg; MDC95=0.10 Nm/kg)<sup>14</sup>. These poorer reliability estimates confirm previously reported data on knee OA, where KFM peak exhibited an ICC=0.57 and SEM=0.14 Nm/kg in knee OA patients (n=20) for measurements acquired twice over 2-11 weeks<sup>23</sup>. It is noteworthy that in the current sample, there was a systematic increase over time in mean KFM peak and mean gait speed [baseline: 1.24 (0.18) m/s; 6 months: 1.26 (0.17) m/s; 24 months: 1.35 (0.17) m/s].
These increases in KFM peak are likely due, at least in part, to increases in gait speed. Instability in KFM peak measurements over time may help explain why evidence linking the KFM with knee OA progression is inconsistent<sup>1–4</sup>.

Biomechanical interventions with potential in altering the KAM include gait modifications, orthoses, modified shoes, and surgery. Contralateral cane use<sup>44</sup>, increased step width<sup>44</sup>, increased lateral trunk lean<sup>44,45</sup>, lateral wedge insoles<sup>46</sup>, modified shoes (e.g., stability, variable stiffness)<sup>46</sup>, and valgus knee braces<sup>47</sup> showed mean reductions in KAM peak and impulse of less than 30%. These values are below the MDC95 thresholds, suggesting the interventions have questionable efficacy. More effective strategies include medial knee thrust gait<sup>44</sup> and medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy<sup>48</sup>, which can reduce the KAM peak and impulse by magnitudes nearing or exceeding the MDC95 thresholds. Achieving significant reductions in knee loads may require modifications to gait that are not feasible. Importantly, however, researchers must note that implementation of KAM-targeting interventions in knee OA may also indirectly modulate other joint mechanics, such as the KFM<sup>44,47</sup>.

Quadriceps strength and quadriceps power exhibited excellent (ICC=0.91-0.93) and good (ICC=0.84-0.88) relative reliabilities, respectively. In healthy samples, quadriceps strength demonstrated good-to-excellent within and between-session reliabilities<sup>15,16</sup>. Short-term reliabilities of isometric quadriceps strength measured using a dynamometer have been examined in knee OA<sup>19-21</sup>. Within-session test-retest reliabilities ranged from good to excellent (ICC=0.83-0.94) for women (n=17)<sup>19</sup>. When assessed twice over 1 week, ICCs ranged from 0.82-0.96 depending on knee angle in 18

adults with mild symptomatic  $OA^{20}$ . Further, isometric strength displayed an ICC=0.98, SEM=10.7 Nm, and a MDC90 of 25.0 Nm in 20 individuals with radiographic knee  $OA^{21}$ . Overall, the short-term reliability estimates for quadriceps strength from the aforementioned studies of knee OA are comparable to those obtained in the current study.

Test-retest reliabilities of quadriceps power have been scarcely investigated. In young healthy individuals assessed over several days, average quadriceps power measured with a dynamometer displayed good-to-excellent between-session ICCs<sup>15,16</sup>. When tested on separate occasions one week apart, average quadriceps power displayed ICCs=0.92–0.94 in 18 adults with mild symptomatic knee OA<sup>20</sup>, and peak power exhibited an ICC=0.82, SEM=9.9 W and MDC90=23 W in 20 patients with advanced hip or knee OA<sup>24</sup>. The ICCs for quadriceps power obtained in the current study are similar to previously reported values for knee OA. It should be noted that of the previous studies in knee OA samples, one measured average power using a dynamometer with velocity constant at 60 degrees/second<sup>20</sup>, while the other measured peak power with a conventional knee extension machine where force remained constant<sup>24</sup>. In the latter work, four different unstandardized external resistances, estimated by the assessors, were tested. Values obtained from these tests were used to curve-fit force-velocity relationships, from which peak power was estimated. Comparisons of SEM and MDC values are not possible because external resistances were not reported<sup>24</sup> and likely very dissimilar as power magnitudes were 4–5 times greater in the present study.

Various knee muscle training programs are effective in increasing quadriceps strength in knee OA, well beyond the %MDC95 thresholds (30–31%)<sup>49</sup>, suggesting that

quadriceps strengthening represents an important clinical target through which true changes in muscle capacity are possible. Muscle power training programs, on the other hand, are scarce. Limited evidence suggests that quadriceps power training has the potential to yield favorable (and real) improvements in quadriceps power in knee OA<sup>50</sup>.

Of all biomechanical measurements examined in this study, BMI displayed the highest relative reliability estimate (i.e., ICC=0.96), and lowest within-participant variability, with an SEM=0.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and %MDC95=9%. In prior work, BMI measured twice in the same session or one week apart (by trained specialists and self-reported) demonstrated excellent test-retest relative reliability (i.e., ICC≥0.95) for healthy populations<sup>17,18</sup>. To our knowledge, no study has examined the test-retest reliability of BMI measurements in knee OA patients over short and/or longer follow-up periods. Nonetheless, it is important to characterize the magnitude of change in BMI that represents real change in individuals with knee OA to ascertain whether weight management strategies and/or interventions are truly effective. Weight loss can be achieved with exercise and dietary modifications, pharmacotherapy and bariatric surgery. The MDC95 values suggest that BMI is the biomechanical risk factor with the highest potential for clinical intervention to create meaningful change.

Physical activity level displayed a questionable ICC (0.64) and large withinparticipant variability with an SEM=1546 steps/day and %MDC95=57%. Physical activity frequency measured by accelerometry displayed an ICC=0.85 and SEM=1043 steps/day for healthy young adults (n=30) tested 2–4 weeks apart<sup>13</sup>. To our knowledge, the current study is the first to report reliability estimates for physical activity levels

measured objectively (as steps per day) in knee OA. For the current sample, ICCs were weaker and SEMs were larger than that reported for healthy adults<sup>13</sup>. Large within-participant variability is likely due to data being collected over different seasons and/or days of the week. Moreover, long-term physical activity habits are highly variable in a large number of adults, possibly due to differences in demographic, lifestyle, and health characteristics.

Study limitations should be acknowledged. Reliability estimates are only generalizable to older adults with clinical knee OA whose characteristics are comparable to those from the current sample. Data from the current study are also only applicable to knee OA patients whose measurements were acquired using equivalent experimental techniques and instrumentation.

In conclusion, good-to-excellent test-retest relative reliability estimates indicate that the KAM peak and impulse, quadriceps strength and power, as well as BMI have a strong ability to discriminate amongst individuals with knee OA. The absolute reliability estimates were high for quadriceps strength and BMI, indicating that these measures exhibit reasonable within-patient variability. The MDC95 values support the use of clinical interventions effective in reducing BMI and the KAM, and increasing quadriceps strength. These data are useful to researchers and clinicians in interpreting changes observed in these biomechanical measures in knee OA patients during interventional or longitudinal investigations.

# Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research [Joint Motion Program (NMB), Operating Grant #102643 (MRM), New Investigator Award (MRM)]; the Ontario Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities [Ontario Graduate Scholarship (NMB)]; the Canadian Foundation for Innovation [#27501 (MRM)]; and the Ministry of Research and Innovation [Ontario Research Fund (MRM)]. The authors would like to thank Kristina Calder, Neha Arora and Emily Wiebenga from the MacMobilize Laboratory at McMaster University for their help with scheduling and data collection, as well as the study participants for making this study possible.

#### **Author Contributions**

Each author made substantial contributions to the study conception and design (PWS, MRM), and/or acquisition (NMB, MRM), analysis and interpretation of data (NMB, PWS, MRM). Each author was involved in drafting the manuscript or revising it critically for important intellectual content (NMB, PWS, MRM). All authors have read and approved the final submitted manuscript.

#### **Role of the Funding Source**

The study sponsors were not involved in the study design, collection, analysis and interpretation of data, writing of the manuscript or decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

# **Competing Interest Statement**

No financial support or other benefits from commercial sources have been received for

the work reported on in the manuscript.

# References

- Chehab EF, Favre J, Erhart-Hledik JC, Andriacchi TP. Baseline knee adduction and flexion moments during walking are both associated with 5 year cartilage changes in patients with medial knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2014;22(11):1833–9.
- Chang AH, Moisio KC, Chmiel JS, Eckstein F, Guermazi A, Prasad PV, et al. External knee adduction and flexion moments during gait and medial tibiofemoral disease progression in knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2015;23(7):1099–106.
- Brisson NM, Wiebenga EG, Stratford PW, Beattie KA, Totterman S, Tamez-Peña JG, et al. Baseline knee adduction moment interacts with body mass index to predict loss of medial tibial cartilage volume over 2.5 years in knee osteoarthritis. J Orthop Res. 2017;1–8.
- 4. Erhart-Hledik JC, Favre J, Andriacchi TP. New insight in the relationship between regional patterns of knee cartilage thickness, osteoarthritis disease severity, and gait mechanics. J Biomech. 2015;48(14):3868–75.
- Segal N, Glass N. Is Quadriceps Muscle Weakness a Risk Factor for Incident or Progressive Knee Osteoarthritis? Phys Sportsmed. 2011;39(4):44–50.
- Doré DA, Winzenberg TM, Ding C, Otahal P, Pelletier J-P, Martel-Pelletier J, et al. The association between objectively measured physical activity and knee structural change using MRI. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(7):1170–5.
- 7. Lin W, Alizai H, Joseph GB, Srikhum W, Nevitt MC, Lynch JA, et al. Physical activity in relation to knee cartilage T2 progression measured with 3 T MRI over a

period of 4 years: data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2013;21(10):1558–66.

- Mezhov V, Ciccutini FM, Hanna FS, Brennan SL, Wang YY, Urquhart DM, et al. Does obesity affect knee cartilage? A systematic review of magnetic resonance imaging data. Obes Rev. 2014;15(2):143–57.
- Sun HB. Mechanical loading, cartilage degradation, and arthritis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1211:37–50.
- Moyer RF, Ratneswaran A, Beier F, Birmingham TB. Osteoarthritis Year in Review 2014: mechanics – basic and clinical studies in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2014;22(12):1989–2002.
- Rice DA, McNair PJ. Quadriceps Arthrogenic Muscle Inhibition: Neural Mechanisms and Treatment Perspectives. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2010;40(3):250– 66.
- Lee R, Kean WF. Obesity and knee osteoarthritis. Inflammopharmacology. 2012;20(2):53–8.
- Robbins SMK, Birmingham TB, Jones GR, Callaghan JP, Maly MR. Developing an estimate of daily cumulative loading for the knee: examining test-retest reliability. Gait Posture. 2009;30(4):497–501.
- Wilken JM, Rodriguez KM, Brawner M, Darter BJ. Reliability and minimal detectible change values for gait kinematics and kinetics in healthy adults. Gait Posture. 2012;35(2):301–7.
- 15. Callaghan MJ, McCarthy CJ, Al-Omar A, Oldham JA. The reproducibility of

multi-joint isokinetic and isometric assessments in a healthy and patient population. Clin Biomech. 2000;15(9):678–83.

- Maffiuletti NA, Bizzini M, Desbrosses K, Babault N, Munzinger U. Reliability of knee extension and flexion measurements using the Con-Trex isokinetic dynamometer. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2007;27(6):346–53.
- Berkson SS, Espinola J, Corso KA, Cabral H, Mcgowan R, Chomitz VR.
  Reliability of Height and Weight Measurements Collected by Physical Education
  Teachers for a School-Based Body Mass Index Surveillance and Screening
  System. J Sch Health. 2013;83(1):21–7.
- 18. Leatherdale ST, Laxer RE. Reliability and validity of the weight status and dietary intake measures in the COMPASS questionnaire: are the self-reported measures of body mass index (BMI) and Canada's food guide servings robust? Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2013;10(1):42.
- Wessel J. Isometric strength measurements of knee extensors in women with osteoarthritis of the knee. J Rheumatol. 1996;23(2):328–31.
- Carpenter MR, Carpenter RL, Peel J, Zukley LM, Angelopoulou KM, Fischer I, et al. The reliability of isokinetic and isometric leg strength measures among individuals with symptoms of mild osteoarthritis. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2006;46(4):585–9.
- 21. Kean CO, Birmingham TB, Garland SJ, Bryant DM, Giffin JR. Minimal detectable change in quadriceps strength and voluntary muscle activation in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2010;91(9):1447–51.

- 22. Birmingham TB, Hunt MA, Jones IC, Jenkyn TR, Giffin JR. Test-retest reliability of the peak knee adduction moment during walking in patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2007 15;57(6):1012–7.
- Robbins SM, Astephen Wilson JL, Rutherford DJ, Hubley-Kozey CL. Reliability of principal components and discrete parameters of knee angle and moment gait waveforms in individuals with moderate knee osteoarthritis. Gait Posture. 2013;38(3):421–7.
- Villadsen A, Roos EM, Overgaard S, Holsgaard-Larsen A. Agreement and Reliability of Functional Performance and Muscle Power in Patients with Advanced Osteoarthritis of the Hip or Knee. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2012;91(5):401–10.
- 25. Van Dijk GM, Dekker J, Veenhof C, Van Den Ende CHM. Course of functional status and pain in osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: A systematic review of the literature. Arthritis Care Res. 2006;55(5):779–85.
- 26. Pisters MF, Veenhof C, van Dijk GM, Heymans MW, Twisk JWR, Dekker J. The course of limitations in activities over 5 years in patients with knee and hip osteoarthritis with moderate functional limitations: Risk factors for future functional decline. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2012;20(6):503–10.
- 27. Altman R, Asch E, Bloch D, Bole G, Borenstein D, Brandt K, et al. Development of criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis. Classification of osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Rheum. 1986;29(8):1039–49.
- 28. Collins NJ, Prinsen CAC, Christensen R, Bartels EM, Terwee CB, Roos EM. Knee

Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): Systematic review and metaanalysis of measurement properties. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2016;24(8):1317–29.

- 29. Kothari M, Guermazi A, von Ingersleben G, Sieffert M, Block JE, Stevens R, et al. Fixed-flexion radiography of the knee provides reproducible joint space width measurements in osteoarthritis. Eur Radiol. 2004;14(9):1568–73.
- Wu G, Cavanagh PR. ISB Recommendations in the Reporting for Standardization of Kinematic Data. J Biomech. 1995;28(10):1257–61.
- Song J, Semanik P, Sharma L, Chang RW, Hochberg MC, Mysiw WJ, et al. Assessing Physical Activity in Persons with Knee Osteoarthritis Using Accelerometers: Data in the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Arthritis Care Res. 2011;62(12):1724–32.
- Riddle DL, Stratford PW. Is This Change Real? Interpreting Patient Outcomes in Physical Therapy. Philadelphia: F. A. Davis Company; 2013. 180 p.
- Vincent W. Statistics in Kinesiology. Fourth Edi. Champaign, IL.: Human Kinetics; 2012. 392 p.
- Winter DA. Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement. 4th ed.Waterloo: John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 2009. 384 p.
- Hurwitz DE, Ryals AR, Block JA, Sharma L, Schnitzer TJ, Andriacchi TP. Knee pain and joint loading in subjects with osteoarthritis of the knee. J Orthop Res. 2000;18(4):572–9.
- 36. Astephen Wilson JL. Challenges in dealing with walking speed in knee osteoarthritis gait analyses. Clin Biomech. 2012;27(3):210–2.

- 37. Shakoor N, Block JA. Walking barefoot decreases loading on the lower extremity joints in knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(9):2923–7.
- 38. Silva SB, de Abreu LC, Valenti VE, Nogueira D V, Moraes ER, Natividade V, et al. Verbal and visual stimulation effects on rectus femoris and biceps femoris muscles during isometric and concentric. Int Arch Med. 2013;6(1):38.
- Doxey G, Eisenman P. The Influence of Patellofemoral Pain on Electromyographic Activity during Submaximal Isometric Contractions. J Orthop Sport Phys Ther. 1987;9(6):211–6.
- Marks R. Knee Osteoarthritis and Exercise Adherence : A Review. Curr Aging Sci. 2012;5(1):72–83.
- Bartlett SJ, Ling SM, Mayo NE, Scott SC, Bingham CO. Identifying common trajectories of joint space narrowing over two years in knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Care Res. 2011;63(12):1722–8.
- 42. Bastick AN, Wesseling J, Damen J, Verkleij SPJ, Emans PJ, Bindels PJE, et al.
  Defining knee pain trajectories in early symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in primary care: 5-year results from a nationwide prospective cohort study (CHECK). Br J Gen Pract. 2016;66(642):e32–9.
- 43. Oiestad BE, White DK, Booton R, Niu J, Zhang Y, Torner J, et al. Longitudinal Course of Physical Function in People With Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis: Data From the Multicenter Osteoarthritis Study and the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Arthritis Care Res. 2016;68(3):325–31.
- 44. Simic M, Hinman RS, Wrigley TIM V, Bennell KIML, Hunt MA, Simic M, et al.

Gait Modification Strategies for Altering Medial Knee Joint Load : A Systematic Review. Arthritis Care Res. 2011;63(3):405–26.

- 45. Simic M, Hunt MA, Bennell KIML, Hinman RS, Wrigley TIM V, Wrigley V.
   Trunk Lean Gait Modification and Knee Joint Load in People With Medial Knee
   Osteoarthritis : The Effect of Varying Trunk Lean Angles. 2012;64(10):1545–53.
- Radzimski AO, Mundermann A, Sole G. Effect of footwear on the external knee adduction moment - A systematic review. Knee. 2012;19(3):163–75.
- Moyer RF, Birmingham TB, Bryant DM, Gif JR, Marriott KA, Leitch KM.
   Biomechanical effects of valgus knee bracing: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2015;23:178–88.
- 48. Sischek EL, Birmingham TB, Leitch KM, Martin R, Willits K, Giffin JR. Staged medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy for bilateral varus gonarthrosis: biomechanical and clinical outcomes. Knee. 2014;22:2672–81.
- Zacharias A, Green RA, Semciw AI, Kingsley MIC, Pizzari T. Efficacy of rehabilitation programs for improving muscle strength in people with hip or knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2014;22(11):1752–73.
- 50. Sayers SP, Gibson K, Cook CR. Effect of high-speed power training on muscle performance, function, and pain in older adults with knee osteoarthritis: a pilot investigation. Arthritis Care Res. 2012;64(1):46–53.

Variable	Mean (SD)	Minimum–Maximum
Age (years)	61.0 (6.6)	41-70
Body mass (kg)	75.1 (16.3)	51.0-117.0
Height (m)	1.64 (0.09)	1.45-1.94
Knee axis angle (°) <sup>\$</sup>	182.0 (3.8)	174.1–191.3
Pain (0-100) <sup>†</sup>	77.6 (15.9)	44.0-100
Other symptoms (0-100) $^{\dagger}$	76.5 (14.7)	39.0-100
Function in daily living (0-100) $^{\dagger}$	84.1 (15.5)	35.3-100
Function in sports and recreation $(0-100)$ <sup>†</sup>	68.8 (22.9)	25.0-100
Knee related quality of life $(0-100)^{\dagger}$	65.0 (18.7)	13.0–100

**Table 4-1.** Descriptive statistics of participants at baseline (n=46).

<sup>•</sup> Value above 180° indicates valgus knee alignment.

<sup>†</sup> Pain, other symptoms, function in daily living, function in sports and recreation, and

knee related quality of life were measured with the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis

Outcome Score. Scores range between 0 and 100, where lower scores reflect worse

symptoms and function <sup>28</sup>

# Ph.D. Thesis – N. Brisson

Table 4-2. Biomechanical measurements of participants at the three times of assessment.									
				Baseline		6 Months		24 Months	
	Unit	N	Mean (SD)	Min.–Max.	Mean (SD)	Min.–Max.	Mean (SD)	Min.–Max.	
KAM peak	Nm/kg	32	0.40 (0.17)	0.11-0.80	0.41 (0.19)	0.10-0.84	0.43 (0.20)	0.04-0.85	
	%BW×HT	32	2.50 (1.11)	0.66-4.96	2.60 (1.22)	0.62-5.21	2.70 (1.26)	0.22-5.35	
KAM impulse	Nm×s	32	9.73 (6.43)	0.84-24.91	9.85 (6.33)	1.36-25.63	9.62 (6.22)	0.17-24.27	
_	%BW×HT×s	32	0.84 (0.52)	0.07-2.16	0.86 (0.51)	0.11-1.96	0.83 (0.50)	0.01-2.08	
KFM peak	Nm/kg	32	0.64 (0.20)	0.30-1.10	0.73 (0.19)	0.41-1.10	0.82 (0.24) ‡	0.30-1.43	
-	%BW×HT	32	3.94 (1.13)	1.91-6.41	4.55 (1.13) <sup>†</sup>	2.66-6.67	5.04 (1.41) <sup>‡</sup>	1.90-8.87	
Strength	Nm/kg	37	1.66 (0.58)	0.38-3.43	1.75 (0.62)	0.22-3.32	1.77 (0.68)	0.54-3.48	
C	Nm	37	120.7 (48.4)	41.0-322.4	126.7 (50.4)	25.4-313.3	126.4 (52.9)	40.5-325.5	
Power	W/kg	37	4.08 (1.90)	0.67–9.75	4.23 (2.01)	0.35-9.50	4.20 (1.91)	0.68-8.38	
	W	37	296.5 (154.3)	72.8–917.0	310.3 (168.1)	40.6-897.3	303.2 (149.5)	49.6–783.6	
Physical activity	steps/day	41	7491 (2972)	2374-14064	6454 (2414)	2394–11887	6713 (2579)	2142-13059	
BMI	kg/m <sup>2</sup>	44	27.5 (4.9)	19.9–41.5	27.6 (4.8)	20.4-42.6	27.3 (4.8)	20.3-39.1	

Table 4-2. Biomechanical measurements of participants at the three times of assessment.

Note: Min.–Max. = Minimum–Maximum; KAM = knee adduction moment; KFM = knee flexion moment; BMI = body mass index.

<sup>†</sup> The mean at 6-month follow-up is statistically significantly different from the mean at baseline (p<0.05).

<sup>‡</sup> The mean at 24-month follow-up is statistically significantly different from the mean at baseline (p<0.05).

Table 4-3. Summary of the relative (ICCs) and absolute (SEMs) test-retest reliabilities,

as well as the minimum detectable change at the 95% confidence interval for biomechanical risk factors for knee osteoarthritis progression. Reliability estimates are based on data obtained at baseline, 6-month and 24-month follow-ups.

	Unit	ICC (95% CI)	SEM (95% CI)	MDC95
KAM peak	Nm/kg	0.84 (0.74, 0.91)	0.07 (0.06, 0.09)	0.20
	%BW×HT	0.85 (0.75, 0.92)	0.46 (0.39, 0.56)	1.28
KAM impulse	Nm×s	0.92 (0.87, 0.96)	1.77 (1.50, 2.14)	4.90
	%BW×HT×s	0.93 (0.88, 0.96)	0.14 (0.12, 0.17)	0.38
KFM peak	Nm/kg	0.52 (0.26, 0.72)	0.13 (0.11, 0.16)	0.36
	%BW×HT	0.48 (0.22, 0.69)	0.81 (0.69, 0.99)	2.25
Strength	Nm/kg	0.91 (0.85, 0.95)	0.18 (0.16, 0.22)	0.50
	Nm	0.93 (0.88, 0.96)	13.4 (11.6, 16.1)	37.2
Power	W/kg	0.84 (0.75, 0.91)	0.78 (0.67, 0.93)	2.15
	W	0.88 (0.81, 0.93)	54.8 (47.1, 65.4)	151.8
Physical activity	steps/day	0.64 (0.48, 0.78)	1546 (1339, 1829)	4284
BMI	$kg/m^2$	0.96 (0.94, 0.98)	0.9 (0.8, 1.1)	2.6

Note: ICC = intraclass correlation; SEM = standard error of measurement; CI = confidence interval; MDC95 = minimum detectable change at the 95% confidence interval; KAM = knee adduction moment; KFM = knee flexion moment; BMI = body mass index.

# CHAPTER 5

#### DISCUSSION

# **Thesis Summary**

The overarching objective of this thesis was to investigate the role of various factors involved in the progression of knee OA, including biomechanical, PRO and mobility measures. Knee OA is a multifactorial disease whose progression involves worsening joint structure, symptoms, and mobility (Lane et al., 2011). Thus, to acquire a comprehensive understanding of how knee OA evolves over time, it was important to consider the multiple factors involved in disease progression. Results from this thesis advance the present body of knowledge, specific to knee OA, concerning the association between mechanical joint loading exposure and in vivo longitudinal changes in cartilage morphology; the relationship of muscle capacity and PROs with longitudinal changes in mobility performance; and the reliability of biomechanical measurements over long time intervals.

In the first study, we demonstrated that large magnitude KAM peak and impulse at baseline each interacted with BMI to predict loss of medial tibial cartilage volume over 2.5 years among individuals with knee OA. These interactions suggested that larger joint loads in those with higher BMIs were associated with greater loss of medial tibial cartilage volume. Findings from the second study showed that, in women with clinical knee OA, lower baseline self-efficacy for functional tasks predicted decreased walking and stair ascent performances over 2 years. Higher baseline pain intensity/frequency also

predicted decreased walking performance. Furthermore, quadriceps strength and power each interacted with lesser self-efficacy to predict worsening stair ascent times over 2 years. These interactions suggested that among women with lower self-efficacy, the impact of lesser quadriceps strength and power on worsening stair ascent performance was more important. Results from the third study demonstrated that the KAM peak and impulse, quadriceps strength and power, and BMI had good-to-excellent relative reliabilities (ICC>0.80), suggesting that these measurements are stable over prolonged periods and appropriate to differentiate between knee OA patients. Absolute reliability estimates were high for quadriceps strength and BMI, which showed reasonable within participant variability with SEMs lower than 15% of the mean. The MDC95 values supported the use of clinical interventions effective in reducing BMI and the KAM (peak, impulse), and increasing quadriceps strength, as these variables are modifiable.

# **Examining Different Elements of Osteoarthritis**

This thesis examined various elements involved in OA, a multifactorial disease, including worsening joint structure, symptoms and/or mobility. Of prime importance is the fact that there exist various disease trajectories in knee OA, where patients may experience worsening, no change, or improvements over time in diverse aspects of the disease (Bartlett et al., 2011; Bastick et al., 2016; Collins et al., 2014; Oiestad et al., 2016; White et al., 2016). While the interrelationships between changes in joint structure, symptoms and mobility remain unclear, data from various longitudinal studies demonstrate that the vast majority of individuals with knee OA experience relatively stable disease. Little

work has explored the trajectory of biomechanical factors involved in OA over time; this thesis contributes important data toward that goal.

Concerning structural disease progression, seven trajectories of joint space narrowing over two years were identified amongst 622 adults with symptomatic medial knee OA (Bartlett et al., 2011). Specifically, four groups (71% of individuals) exhibited joint space width stability (no change), which was unrelated to joint space width at baseline. Three atypical trajectories were identified: slow (20%), moderate (7%) and rapid progressors (2%). Slow and moderate progressors were older and heavier, while rapid progressors tended to be men. The three progressor groups had amongst the least joint space width at baseline (Bartlett et al., 2011).

With respect to the progression of symptoms, six distinct pain trajectories (assessed with a numerical rating scale) were identified in 705 individuals with early symptomatic knee OA (K-L $\leq$ 1): constant mild pain (26%), constant severe pain (10%), moderate progression (27%), severe progression (5%), moderate regression (29%), and major regression (3%) (Bastick et al., 2016). Higher BMI, lower education, greater comorbidity, greater activity limitations, and joint space tenderness were more often associated with trajectories characterized by more pain at baseline and pain progression compared with the reference group with a constant mild pain trajectory. No association was observed between pain trajectories and baseline radiographic features (Bastick et al., 2016). Moreover, in 1,753 symptomatic knees with mild-to-severe radiographic OA (K-L $\geq$ 2), five distinct pain trajectories (characterized by WOMAC pain scores) over 6 years were identified: severe pain (6%), high moderate pain (17%), low moderate pain (32%),

mild pain (35%), and no pain (11%) (Collins et al., 2014). None of the trajectories exhibited substantial worsening or improvement over time: individuals with moderate pain tended to remain in moderate pain, while those with more severe pain tended to stay in severe pain. In multivariate models, a higher K-L grade, obesity, depression, greater comorbidities, female sex, non-white race, lower education, and younger age were associated with trajectories characterized by worse pain (Collins et al., 2014).

Regarding changes in physical function and mobility, 802 individuals with incident symptomatic knee OA (i.e., had no symptomatic knee OA at baseline but had developed new disease at 30-to-36-month follow-up) were assessed over 54-72 months (Oiestad et al., 2016). Self-reported physical function (determined by the WOMAC physical function subscale) remained stable or slightly declined over time, while mobility performance during the 20-meter walk test (and in some cases, for the 5-time sit-to-stand test) worsened (Oiestad et al., 2016). Furthermore, trajectories of functional decline over 84 months, along with associated risk factors, were examined for 1055 older adults (2110 knees) without limitations at baseline and who had or were at risk of knee OA (White et al., 2016). Five trajectories of physical function (as determined by the WOMAC physical function subscale) were identified: high functioning (remained free of limitation, 54%), minimal limitation (slowly declined, 26%), late worsening (free of limitation for first 36 months and then declined, 9%), remitting (rapidly declined over first 12 months then gradually recovered, 6%), and progressive worsening (steadily declined, 5%). Worse radiographic disease, worse knee pain, obesity and depressive symptoms at baseline were associated with trajectories of worse functional decline (White et al., 2016).

In considering these previous findings, it is clear that each of the disease features - structure, symptoms and physical function - remains relatively stable over time for the majority of knee OA patients. Importantly though, in those who worsen over time, other factors (e.g., age, sex, obesity, and other comorbidities) seem to play a crucial role. This is an important consideration for knee OA clinical interventions as the patients who worsen over time represent the subgroup in need of most help. Interestingly, while worse symptomatic and structural disease at baseline each seem to be involved in worsening physical function (White et al., 2016), the link between symptoms and worsening structure (and vice versa) remains unclear (Bartlett et al., 2011; Bastick et al., 2016; Collins et al., 2014). Findings from these studies stress the importance of work – such as this thesis - that investigates the distinct, yet somewhat interrelated, disease attributes to gain a better understanding of knee OA evolution over time. Accordingly, this thesis found associations between mechanical joint loading and structural disease progression; and between each of pain and self-efficacy (and muscle capacity) with worsening mobility in knee OA.

# Knee Adduction Moment & Obesity Interact in Predicting Cartilage Loss

This thesis observed interactions between each of the KAM peak and impulse with BMI. In the regression models, BMI was included as a covariate but its interaction terms with the biomechanical gait variables were also examined as they could bear clinical importance since BMI is modifiable. Consistent evidence has demonstrated the detrimental influence of obesity on cartilage defects (Mezhov et al., 2014). However, the

association between obesity and changes in knee cartilage morphology is less clear (Mezhov et al., 2014). The association between higher BMI and tissue breakdown can be attributed to a greater total accumulation of load as well as other factors including altered loading patterns, increased contact forces (compressive and shear) and increased dynamic loads at the knee (Browning & Kram, 2007; Griffin & Guilak, 2005; Harding et al., 2016; Messier et al., 2014; Segal et al., 2009). The greater loads imparted by adipose tissue appear to be directly associated with, or responsible for, altered knee dynamics implicated in cartilage breakdown, as suggested by the interaction between the KAM and obesity on cartilage volume reductions. Obesity is linked with joint degradation in the presence of loading likely due to the combination of: (i) altered spatiotemporal parameters such as prolonged stance duration (and thus duration of cartilage compression); and (ii) imbalanced loads across the knee joint surface with cartilage unable to adequately accommodate such load alterations, especially in the presence of reduced tissue tolerance due to inflammation. Shifting BMI from obesity to normal/overweight categories may represent a crucial strategy to curb structural disease progression associated with mechanical abnormal and over-loading in knee OA.

#### **Knee Flexion Moment & Cartilage Loss**

Medial knee contact forces can be better predicted using a combination of the KAM and KFM than just the KAM alone (Manal et al., 2015; Walter et al., 2010). The KFM is thought to act collaboratively with the KAM in modulating the loading environment at the knee (Chehab et al., 2014; Manal et al., 2015; Walter et al., 2010). While recent

research supports the role of the KFM in OA progression, evidence is conflicting (Chang et al., 2015; Chehab et al., 2014; Erhart-Hledik et al., 2015). Findings from the first thesis study – no association between the KFM peak (alone or in combination with the KAM peak) with longitudinal changes in cartilage morphology – corroborated those from a study with similar follow-up time and large sample (n=385 knees) that controlled for seven relevant covariates collectively (Chang et al., 2015). In contrast, one longitudinal study observed a relationship between greater baseline KFM peak and reduced medial tibial cartilage thickness over 5 years in 16 individuals with knee OA (Chehab et al., 2014). It is difficult to be confident in findings based on such a small sample size, especially when the inclusion of covariates in the statistical models was restricted (Chehab et al., 2014). Specifically, for each dependent variable of cartilage change, regression models were ran six times and included two predictor variables (i.e., KAM and KFM peaks) and one covariate at a time (i.e., age, gender, BMI, K-L grade, pain score, walking speed). The authors argued that this method (of adding one covariate at a time) was preferred in order to avoid an over-fitted model with all eight independent variables (Chehab et al., 2014). However, this approach is limited because these aforementioned covariates can have mediating effects on one another and on the dependent variable when included in one same regression model, which could drastically change the beta coefficients (or effect sizes). Furthermore, the multiple comparisons (i.e., multiplicity) tested with this approach and the lack of statistical correction for these comparisons (e.g., Bonferroni, Sidak) inflated the risk for type I errors, that is, detecting a significant effect when in fact there is not one.

Of interest, the interplay between the KAM and KFM on the loading environment may depend on OA severity (Erhart-Hledik et al., 2015). The impact of the KFM on degenerative cartilage changes may be more important in early stages of OA when symptoms are less severe (Erhart-Hledik et al., 2015). This supposition may explain why this thesis work found no association between the KFM and subsequent cartilage loss. The majority (61.5%) of the sample investigated in this thesis work had advanced disease (K-L $\geq$ 3), while over half (56.3%) the sample in the work by Chehab et al. (Chehab et al., 2014) had early disease (K-L $\leq$ 2). Conversely, the work by Chang et al. (Chang et al., 2015), which also found no association, examined a sample more comparable to that from Chehab et al. (Chehab et al., 2014) than ours, with 70.3% of participants having early structural disease (K-L $\leq$ 2). Importantly, that work was adequately statistically powered to detect the observed effects (Chang et al., 2015). Moreover, findings from the third thesis study indicated through questionable relative and absolute test-retest reliabilities that the KFM peak is unstable over time in knee OA, which may also explain why evidence linking the KFM with disease progression is inconsistent. Future studies that are adequately powered statistically and control simultaneously for relevant covariates may shed light on the role of the KFM in knee OA progression.

# Loading Frequency & Cartilage Loss

The response of cartilage to mechanical loading depends on the magnitude, duration, frequency and rate of loading (Chen et al., 1999; Jones et al., 2003; Lu & Mow, 2008; Qi & Changlin, 2006). The KAM and KFM peaks are features of the distribution of loading

magnitude; KAM impulse incorporates both the magnitude and duration of loading. Nonetheless, neither the peak nor impulse measures capture information about loading frequency, a crucial theoretical component that affects the way cartilage responds to mechanical stimuli. Only one known study has investigated the effect of in vivo loading frequency, measured objectively, on cartilage breakdown in knee OA (Oiestad et al., 2015b). Accelerometer-derived data on knee loading frequency are required to obtain an accurate measurement of knee loading frequency; self-report measures typically tend to overestimate physical activity levels (Dyrstad et al., 2014).

The first thesis study was amongst the first investigations to report in vivo loading frequency in individuals with knee OA. Results from this study found no association between baseline loading frequency and subsequent changes in medial tibial cartilage thickness or volume. This finding is in agreement with those observed over 2 years in 779 knees with early structural OA (i.e., K-L $\leq$ 2) (Oiestad et al., 2015b). While these studies suggest no link between baseline loading frequency and further cartilage loss in knee OA, caution should be taken when interpreting these findings. The abovementioned studies used measurements of loading frequency at baseline but did not investigate whether changes in loading frequency over time related to cartilage changes. It may be that drastic changes in loading frequency are associated with concurrent changes in knee cartilage morphology. Interestingly, results from the third thesis study indicated that loading frequency (i.e., physical activity level) was relatively unstable over time in older adults with knee OA, with high within-participant variability (SEM=1546 steps/day) over longer periods. This finding may help explain why evidence linking loading frequency

with disease progression remains unclear. Examining longitudinal changes in loading frequency with concurrent changes in knee cartilage morphology in knee OA may yield stronger relationships between variables. Moreover, Oiestad and colleagues (Oiestad et al., 2015b) examined a sample with K-L grades 0–2. The sample investigated in this thesis was more heterogeneous as it comprised participants ranging from K-L grades 1-4. It is possible that loading frequency is more important to cartilage breakdown during later stages of the disease. The heterogeneity of our sample may have hindered our ability to detect such an effect. Finally, both studies included participants with relatively low physical activity levels [i.e., 7786 (3876) (Brisson et al., 2017) and 7185 (2565) (Oiestad et al., 2015b) total steps/day]. It may be that participants in these studies were not active enough to induce further cartilage loss. For instance, amongst 405 older communitydwelling adults, higher loading frequency (>10,000 steps/day) was associated with reductions in cartilage volume in those with lower baseline cartilage volume (Doré et al., 2013). The relatively small variability in the mean loading frequency data may have also masked the detection of effects of too little or too much loading frequency on cartilage changes. Future studies should evaluate the effect of in vivo loading frequency (and change in loading frequency) on cartilage changes in knee OA, while adjusting for the abovementioned shortcomings from previous studies.

#### **Cumulative Knee Adductor Load & Cartilage Loss**

Examining the individual effects of the KAM impulse and knee loading frequency may not provide a comprehensive understanding of the mechanical elements implicated in

cartilage loss longitudinally in knee OA. This thesis was the first to evaluate whether "cumulative knee adductor load" was valuable in understanding cartilage loss over time in knee OA. Cumulative knee adductor load incorporates the magnitude and duration of load (i.e., KAM impulse) as well as load frequency (i.e., steps/day). This concept was believed to more accurately reflect a mechanism of joint tissue degradation from overall accumulated exposure to medial knee loads (Robbins et al., 2009). Result from this thesis work demonstrated that the combination of KAM impulse and loading frequency into one regression model, representing cumulative load, was not associated with cartilage morphological changes over 2.5 years in knee OA. This conceptual measure may not have been useful in predicting cartilage changes in this study due to the previously discussed shortcomings of the loading frequency component (i.e., low mean and variability of the sample). It is interesting to note that cumulative load distinguished between healthy and osteoarthritic knees, results that were driven by the KAM impulse and not the loading frequency component (Maly et al., 2013). It may be that loading frequency is simply not a primary driver of further cartilage degeneration in established knee OA.

#### Pain & Mobility

While it seems intuitive that pain severity is inversely associated with mobility performance in knee OA, there is in fact limited evidence supporting this notion. An abundance of literature supports a negative relationship between pain and self-reported physical function (Davison et al., 2016; Riddle & Stratford, 2013; Sharma et al., 2003;

White et al., 2016) but data linking worse pain with worse performance-based mobility are inconsistent (Davison et al., 2016; Rejeski et al., 2001; Riddle & Stratford, 2013; Sharma et al., 2003; White et al., 2016). While self-reported measures of physical function are important in capturing patients' perceived performance, these measures do not necessarily reflect actual physical capabilities. Self-reported and performance-based physical function are only moderately correlated (Maly et al., 2006; Stratford et al., 2006).

Results from this thesis work supported a modest, negative association between knee pain and longitudinal change in walking (but not stair-climbing) performance in women with knee OA. Existing longitudinal evidence reporting on the association between pain and performance-based physical function may be confounded by various factors. Some investigations evaluated pain with instruments that were not specific to OA, and analyzed women and men conjointly (Rejeski et al., 2001; Sharma et al., 2003) though each sex typically tends to experience and report pain differently (Fillingim et al., 2009). It may also be that different pain types are more strongly related to mobility performance than others. For instance, increased constant (but not intermittent) pain predicted decreased chair-stands performance over 2 years in women (n=133), but not men (n=189), with knee OA (Davison et al., 2016). Future studies examining the link between pain and mobility performance in knee OA should use disease-specific PROs that are able to characterize the unique pain experienced by OA patients, and control for participant sex either statistically or by performing subgroup analyses.

# Muscle Capacity & Patient-Reported Outcomes Interact on Mobility Changes The second thesis study demonstrated that lower self-efficacy at baseline independently predicted decreased walking and stair ascent performances over 2 years, results that are in agreement with those from previous investigations (Rejeski et al., 2001; Sharma et al., 2003). Conversely, no independent association was found between each of baseline quadriceps strength or power with changes in mobility performance over 2 years in women with knee OA. This work was the first to investigate the idea that quadriceps power maybe a more critical determinant of mobility than strength in knee OA, though results did not confirm this speculation. Interestingly, however, interactions were observed between each of quadriceps strength and power with self-efficacy in predicting change in stair ascent performance over 2 years in women with knee OA, where the impact of lower quadriceps strength or power on change in stair ascent performance was more important in women with lower self-efficacy (compared to those with higher selfefficacy). In a similar manner, results from this thesis work noted a trend toward a statistically significant interaction between quadriceps strength and pain in predicting change in stair ascent time over 2 years in women with knee OA. The observed interactions between physical capacity and PROs suggest that these elements likely act together (rather than alone) in worsening mobility over time in women with knee OA, a notion scarcely reported on in previous literature (Miller et al., 2001; Rejeski et al., 2001).

# **Role of Biomechanics in the Progression of Knee Osteoarthritis**

A common thread through this thesis was the evaluation of biomechanical factors in the progression of knee OA. While previous work has established that biomechanics are indeed implicated in OA progression, the strengths of the relationships between biomechanical factors and worsening disease were not particularly strong (Bennell et al., 2011b; Brisson et al., 2017; Chang et al., 2015; Chehab et al., 2014; Miller et al., 2001; Rejeski et al., 2001; Sharma et al., 2003). For instance, a KAM impulse larger by 1.0 %BW×HT×s was associated with a reduction of only 3.38% in medial tibial cartilage thickness over 2 years in knee OA, after adjusting for various covariates (Chang et al., 2015). Given the mean (SD) of the KAM impulse for the sample [0.60 (0.44)]%BW×HT×s], a 1-unit difference in the KAM impulse is very large. In addition, evidence supporting a discrete link between each of the KFM and loading frequency with structural disease worsening is sparse and conflicting (Brisson et al., 2017; Chang et al., 2015; Chehab et al., 2014; Erhart-Hledik et al., 2015). Regarding reduced muscle strength, some work has shown it to be directly implicated in worsening mobility in knee OA (Davison et al., 2016; Sharma et al., 2003); whereas other research demonstrated that its effect on mobility was mediated by other factors (e.g., pain, self-efficacy) (Brisson et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2001; Rejeski et al., 2001). As a whole, findings from this thesis support (through relatively small effects) the notion that biomechanical factors play a modest independent role in OA progression. Alternatively, results support the fact that knee OA is not purely a wear-and-tear disease due to mechanical overuse. Rather, data

seem to indicate that biomechanical factors do not work in isolation, reflecting the multifactorial nature of OA.

On their own, biomechanical factors (i.e., mechanical loads, muscle capacity) seem relatively stable and modestly implicated in OA progression. However, in the presence of other circumstances – obesity, low self-efficacy, high pain intensity/frequency – biomechanical factors grab a hold and vastly worsen OA. This idea is supported by the observed interactions between the KAM and obesity on structural disease progression, and between quadriceps capacity and self-efficacy and pain on worsening mobility. Importantly, these data point to the idea that when knee OA patients present with clinical problems (e.g., obesity, pain, poor self-efficacy), there are probably biomechanical factors that are concurrently implicated in exacerbating the disease.

#### **Developing Effective Treatment Strategies in Knee Osteoarthritis**

Many conservative and surgical strategies aim to correct biomechanical abnormalities in knee OA. Such strategies typically include altering specific joint loading parameters such as the KAM (through gait modifications, orthoses/modified shoes or medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy) or muscle capacity and obesity (through strengthening, exercise and/or weight loss) (Erhart-Hledik et al., 2017; Gerbrands et al., 2017; Lange et al., 2008; Moyer et al., 2015; Radzimski et al., 2012; Simic et al., 2012, 2011; Sischek et al., 2014; Whelton et al., 2017; Zacharias et al., 2014). Interestingly, it is not until fairly recently that evidence has been established supporting or opposing the effectiveness of these biomechanics-targeted interventions in altering the course of the disease (structural,

clinical outcomes) (Birmingham et al., 2009; McAlindon et al., 2014; Sischek et al., 2014). While some of these strategies have demonstrated potential in altering knee biomechanics, the stability of these measurements over time as well as the magnitude of change required to be interpreted as true change (beyond measurement error) in knee OA patients remained mostly unknown (Birmingham et al., 2007; Carpenter et al., 2006; Kean et al., 2010; Robbins et al., 2013; Villadsen et al., 2012; Wessel, 1996). Some work elucidated the MDC (at the 90% and 95% confidence levels) for the KAM peak, and quadriceps strength and power in knee OA, but these estimates were based over short periods (Birmingham et al., 2007; Kean et al., 2010; Villadsen et al., 2012). It was important to determine such estimates over longer intervals to match similar work conducted in patient-reported outcomes and mobility performance; to capture variability in these measures over time due to the natural course of disease progression; and to reflect the realistic nature of time needed to implement long-term treatment strategies. Work from this thesis underscores the fact that while there exist multiple strategies to alter biomechanical factors, only a few have the ability to create true change (beyond the MDC95 threshold). These include medial knee thrust gait and medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy (Simic et al., 2011; Sischek et al., 2014) for reducing the KAM; muscle training programs for increasing quadriceps strength (Zacharias et al., 2014); as well as exercise and dietary modifications, pharmacotherapy and bariatric surgery for weight loss (i.e., reducing BMI) (Teichtahl et al., 2014).

Findings from this thesis also suggest that modifying or "fixing" the biomechanics in isolation is likely not enough when it comes to strategies aiming to curb structural

progression and improve clinical outcomes in knee OA. Instead of developing and implementing interventions that combine different biomechanics-altering strategies – for instance combining knee bracing with insoles or toe-out gait with high tibial osteotomy to reduce the KAM (Moyer et al., 2013; Whelton et al., 2017) – focus should be shifted to interventions that target biomechanical and clinical outcomes (i.e., weight loss, selfefficacy, pain) simultaneously. This approach would offer a greater ability to address the multifaceted nature of the disease, and likely enhance biomechanical, and more importantly, clinical outcomes. Accordingly, expert reviews of the management of OA supports a combination of intervention strategies, including weight loss, exercise and other measures to unload the damaged joint in addition to pharmacology and patient education (which can address pain and self-efficacy) to improve patient outcomes such as symptoms, physical function and quality of life (Hawkeswood & Reebye, 2010; McAlindon et al., 2014). Aligned with this notion is the recent development of randomized control trials and interventions targeting the combination of physical and psychosocial components in managing and treating knee OA (Button et al., 2015; Helminen et al., 2013; Skou et al., 2015).

#### Limitations

This thesis work was not without limitations. Measuring medial knee contact force is currently only possible using instrumented knee implants. The first study used external knee loads calculated from inverse dynamics, resulting in KAM and KFM variables, to predict changes in cartilage morphology in knee OA. While these external measurements

have demonstrated potential in inferring knee loads during gait, they are limited in their ability to predict actual knee contact forces (Kutzner et al., 2013; Meyer et al., 2013; Trepczynski et al., 2014; Walter et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2007). Ultimately, the KAM represents the medial-to-lateral distribution of ambulatory loads across the knee, not the actual force on the medial compartment (Meyer et al., 2013). Accordingly, the KAM is also indicative of the medial-to-total force ratio, and is thus only a good indication of medial knee contact force when the total force remains constant (Moyer et al., 2014).

Also in the first study, cartilage volume and mean thickness for the medial knee compartment were analyzed. These reflect broader (less focal) measures of cartilage morphology. Cartilage volume provides only limited information, as it is a function of cartilage surface area and cartilage thickness. Therefore, changes in cartilage volume can result from a change in the surface area of cartilage and/or cartilage thickness (Eckstein et al., 2006). Further, cartilage mean thickness did not change over 2.5 years. The mean thickness for a whole cartilage plate may have washed out regional variations in cartilage thickness, as this measure is relatively insensitive to regional/focal changes affecting small parts of the surface (Eckstein & Glaser, 2004). Regional cartilage thickness analyses may have allowed detection of site-specific cartilage thickness changes, particularly in biomechanical analyses of knee OA where regional variations in thickness may be related to joint loading patterns (Koo & Andriacchi, 2007). While quantitative measures of in vivo knee cartilage morphology (i.e., "quantity") were acquired, we did not examine cartilage molecular composition (i.e., cartilage "quality"). Physiological imaging techniques can provide quantitative information about the content (i.e.,

molecular composition) of articular cartilage (Braun & Gold, 2012). Such techniques include transverse relaxation time (T2) mapping, delayed gadolinium enhanced MRI of cartilage (dGEMRIC), T1rho mapping, sodium MRI, and diffusion-weighted imaging (Braun & Gold, 2012). Furthermore, this thesis did not collect semi-quantitative MRI measurements (e.g., WORMS). Thus, our findings based on quantitative cartilage measurements cannot be directly compared to those from studies that exclusively used semi-quantitative cartilage measurements.

Pain in this thesis was evaluated with the pain subscale of the KOOS. This instrument is a common and recommended instrument for the evaluation of pain in knee OA (Juhl et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2010). Nonetheless, the KOOS pain subscale does not discriminate between types of pain (i.e., constant, intermittent) and only comprises one item about pain frequency. The KOOS pain subscale has also been criticized for being highly correlated with the KOOS physical function subscale and overlapping on the same factors (Faucher et al., 2002; Stratford & Kennedy, 2004). Consequently, the pain and physical function subscales might be capturing the same construct. To overcome these shortcomings, future work should use other pain measures (e.g., ICOAP) together with the KOOS to capture appropriately various pain constructs. The ICOAP assesses constant and intermittent pain separately, and has been shown to measure constructs of pain that are conceptually different from those measured by the KOOS (Davis et al., 2010).

Concerning statistical analyses, in general, a larger sample size could have been beneficial. A larger sample would have allowed adjustment for additional pertinent

covariates such as baseline K-L score, static knee alignment, knee pain severity, and other comorbidities. The sample of participants observed in this thesis was heterogeneous in terms of disease severity at baseline, as assessed by K-L score. This may have confounded the associations between loading parameters and cartilage morphology change as knee moments change with disease severity (Mundermann et al., 2004). Although we collected measurements of knee static alignment for this thesis work, we did not control for this variable in statistical models to avoid overfitting the data. Knee malalignment is an independent risk factor for the progression of structural knee OA. Varus malalignment can result in medial knee cartilage loss and changes in subchondral bone surface geometry, which in turn can lead to further malalignment (Tanamas et al., 2009). Walking mechanics are sensitive to pain, though the relationship between these variables is not straightforward. For instance, evidence is conflicted as both a positive and negative association between pain and the KAM have been demonstrated (Henriksen et al., 2010; Hurwitz et al., 2000; Thorp et al., 2007). Pain is thought to be a protective mechanism which can help reduce loading (Henriksen et al., 2010; Hurwitz et al., 2000). However, the relationship between these variables may be mediated by disease severity and dependent on whether patients exhibit a maladaptive response to pain (Maly et al., 2008; Thorp et al., 2007). Other comorbidities, such as depressive symptoms, were neither examined nor controlled for in our analyses. Depression is often noted in persons with knee OA, and associated with worse pain and functional status (Han et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2003).
## **Future Directions**

This work has demonstrated that BMI interacts with the KAM to predict cartilage volume loss in the medial tibia over time in individuals with clinical knee OA. Among obese participants, large magnitude KAM peak and KAM impulse at baseline predicted cartilage volume loss over 2.5 years; whereas KAM was of little importance in predicting cartilage volume loss in individuals with a healthy/overweight BMI. Future research should aim to evaluate whether treatment strategies aimed at reducing BMI can effectively curb the progression of structural knee OA associated with mechanical loading. Furthermore, the current thesis showed that baseline self-efficacy interacted with each of knee extensor strength and power in predicting 2-year change in stair ascent performance in older women with clinical knee OA. Future work could explore the impact of developing knee muscle capacity in women with lower self-efficacy, and possibly greater pain, on mobility performance during tasks with different biomechanical demands. Finally, this thesis highlighted that, of various biomechanical risk factors for structural knee OA progression, BMI, KAM and quadriceps strength are truly amenable. Future research should target the development and evaluation of new interventions, and refinement of current techniques, that aim to reduce BMI and KAM, and increase quadriceps strength in patients with knee OA.

## REFERENCES

- Almeida, G.J., Schroeder, C.A., Gil, A.B., Fitzgerald, G.K., Piva, S.R., 2010. Interrater Reliability and Validity of the Stair Ascend/Descend Test in Subjects With Total Knee Arthroplasty. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 91, 932–938.
- Altman, R., Asch, E., Bloch, D., Bole, G., Borenstein, D., Brandt, K., Christy, W., Cooke,
  T.D., Greenwald, R., Hochberg, M., 1986. Development of criteria for the
  classification and reporting of osteoarthritis. Classification of osteoarthritis of the
  knee. Arthritis Rheum. 29, 1039–49.
- Altman, R.D., Gold, G.E., 2007. Atlas of individual radiographic features in osteoarthritis, revised. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 15 Suppl A, A1-56.
- Amin, S., LaValley, M.P., Guermazi, A., Grigoryan, M., Hunter, D.J., Clancy, M., Niu, J., Gale, D.R., Felson, D.T., 2005. The relationship between cartilage loss on magnetic resonance imaging and radiographic progression in men and women with knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 52, 3152–3159.
- Amin, S., Luepongsak, N., McGibbon, C.A., LaValley, M.P., Krebs, D.E., Felson, D.T.,
  2004. Knee Adduction Moment and Development of Chronic Knee Pain in Elders.
  Arthritis Rheum. 51, 371–376.
- Amiri, P., Hubley-Kozey, C.L., Landry, S.C., Stanish, W.D., Astephen Wilson, J.L., 2015. Obesity is associated with prolonged activity of the quadriceps and gastrocnemii during gait. J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 25, 951–958.
- Andriacchi, T.P., 1994. Dynamics of knee malalignment. Orthop.Clin. North. Am. 25, 395–403.

- Andriacchi, T.P., Koo, S., Scanlan, S.F., 2009. Gait mechanics influence healthy cartilage morphology and osteoarthritis of the knee. J. Bone Joint Surg. Am. 91 Suppl 1, 95– 101.
- Andriacchi, T.P., Mikosz, R.P., 1984. A Study of Factors Influencing Muscle Activity About the Knee Joint 266–275.
- Andriacchi, T.P., Mundermann, A., Lane Smith, A., Alexander, E.J., Dyrby, C.O., Koo,S., 2004. A Framework for the in Vivo Pathomechanics of Osteoarthritis at theKnee. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 32, 447–457.
- Arden, N., Nevitt, M.C., 2006. Osteoarthritis: Epidemiology. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 20, 3–25.
- Astephen, J.L., Deluzio, K.J., Caldwell, G.E., Dunbar, M.J., 2008a. Biomechanical changes at the hip, knee, and ankle joints during gait are associated with knee osteoarthritis severity. J. Orthop. Res. 26, 332–341.
- Astephen, J.L., Deluzio, K.J., Caldwell, G.E., Dunbar, M.J., Hubley-Kozey, C.L., 2008b. Gait and neuromuscular pattern changes are associated with differences in knee osteoarthritis severity levels. J. Biomech. 41, 868–876.
- Badley, E.M., 2005. Arthritis in Canada : what do we know and what should we know ? J. Rheumatol. 72, 39–41.
- Baliunas, A.J., Hurwitz, D.E., Ryals, A.B., Karrar, A., Case, J.P., Block, J.A., Andriacchi, T.P., 2002. Increased knee joint loads during walking are present in subjects with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 10, 573–579.
- Bandura, A., 1998. Health promotion from the perspective of social cognitive theory.

Psychol. Health 13, 623–649.

- Bartlett, S.J., Ling, S.M., Mayo, N.E., Scott, S.C., Bingham, C.O., 2011. Identifying common trajectories of joint space narrowing over two years in knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Care Res. 63, 1722–1728.
- Bastick, A.N., Belo, J.N., Runhaar, J., Bierma-Zeinstra, S.M.A., 2015. What Are the Prognostic Factors for Radiographic Progression of Knee Osteoarthritis? A Metaanalysis. Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res. 473, 2969–2989.
- Bastick, A.N., Wesseling, J., Damen, J., Verkleij, S.P.J., Emans, P.J., Bindels, P.J.E.,
  Bierma-Zeinstra, S.M.A., 2016. Defining knee pain trajectories in early symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in primary care: 5-year results from a nationwide prospective cohort study (CHECK). Br. J. Gen. Pract. 66, e32–e39.
- Bauer, D.C., Hunter, D.J., Abramson, S.B., Attur, M., Corr, M., Felson, D., Heinegård,
  D., Jordan, J.M., Kepler, T.B., Lane, N.E., Saxne, T., Tyree, B., Kraus, V.B., 2006.
  Classification of osteoarthritis biomarkers: a proposed approach. Osteoarthr. Cartil.
  14, 723–7.
- Bedson, J., Croft, P.R., 2008. The discordance between clinical and radiographic knee osteoarthritis : A systematic search and summary of the literature. BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 9, 116.
- Bellamy, N., Buchanan, W.W., Goldsmith, C.H., Campbell, J., Stitt, L.W., 1988.
  Validation study of WOMAC: a health status instrument for measuring clinically important patient relevant outcomes to antirheumatic drug therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. J Rheumatol 15, 1833–1840.

- Bennell, K., Dobson, F., Hinman, R., 2011a. Measures of physical performance assessments: Self-Paced Walk Test (SPWT), Stair Climb Test (SCT), Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT), Chair Stand Test (CST), Timed Up & Go (TUG), Sock Test, Lift and Carry Test (LCT), and Car Task. Arthritis Care Res. 63, 350–370.
- Bennell, K.L., Bowles, K-A., Wang, Y., Cicuttini, F., Davies-Tuck, M., Hinman, R.S.,
  2011b. Higher dynamic medial knee load predicts greater cartilage loss over 12
  months in medial knee osteoarthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 70, 1770–4.
- Bennell, K.L., Hunt, M.A., Wrigley, T. V., Lim, B.W., Hinman, R.S., Hunt, M.A., Lim,B.W., Hinman, R.S., 2013. Update on the Role of Muscle in the Genesis andManagement of Knee Osteoarthritis. Rheum. Dis. Clin. North Am. 39, 145–176.
- Bennell, K.L., Hunt, M.A., Wrigley, T. V, Lim, B.W., Hinman, R.S., 2008. Role of muscle in the genesis and management of knee osteoarthritis. Rheum. Dis. Clin. North Am. 34.
- Berkson, S.S., Espinola, J., Corso, K.A., Cabral, H., Mcgowan, R., Chomitz, V.R., 2013.
  Reliability of Height and Weight Measurements Collected by Physical Education
  Teachers for a School-Based Body Mass Index Surveillance and Screening System.
  J. Sch. Health 83, 21–27.
- Birmingham, T.B., Giffin, J.R., Chesworth, B.M., Bryant, D.M., Litchfield, R.B., Willits,
  K., Jenkyn, T.R., Fowler, P.J., 2009. Medial Opening Wedge High Tibial
  Osteotomy: A Prospective Cohort Study of Gait, Radiographic, and Patient-Reported
  Outcomes. Arthritis Rheum. 61, 648–657.

Birmingham, T.B., Hunt, M.A., Jones, I.C., Jenkyn, T.R., Giffin, J.R., 2007. Test-retest

reliability of the peak knee adduction moment during walking in patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 57, 1012–7.

- Bombardier, C, Hawker, G, Mosher, D., 2011. The Impact of Arthritis in Canada : Today and Over the Next 30 Years, Arthritis Alliance of Canada.
- Brady, T.J., 2011. Measures of self-efficacy: Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES),
  Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale-8 Item (ASES-8), Children's Arthritis Self-Efficacy
  Scale (CASE), Chronic Disease Self-Efficacy Scale (CDSES), Parent's Arthritis
  Self-Efficacy Scale (PASE), and Rheumatoid Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (RASE).
  Arthritis Care Res. 63, S473–S485.
- Braun, H.J., Gold, G.E., 2012. Diagnosis of Osteoarthritis: Imaging. Bone 51, 278–288.
- Brisson, N.M., Wiebenga, E.G., Stratford, P.W., Beattie, K.A., Totterman, S., Tamez-Peña, J.G., Callaghan, J.P., Adachi, J.D., Maly, M.R., 2017. Baseline knee adduction moment interacts with body mass index to predict loss of medial tibial cartilage volume over 2.5 years in knee osteoarthritis. J. Orthop. Res. 1–8.
- Browning, R., Kram, R., 2007. Effects of Obesity on the Biomechanics of Walking at Different Speeds. Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc. 39, 1632–1641.
- Browning, R.C., 2006. Effects of obesity and sex on the energetic cost and preferred speed of walking. J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 390–398.
- Bruyere, O., Genant, H., Kothari, M., Zaim, S., White, D., Peterfy, C., Burlet, N., Richy,
  F., Ethgen, D., Montague, T., Dabrowski, C., Reginster, J.Y., 2007. Longitudinal study of magnetic resonance imaging and standard X-rays to assess disease progression in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 15, 98–103.

- Buckland-Wright, J., Wolfe, F., Ward, R., Flowers, N., Hayne, C., 1999. Substantial superiority of semiflexed (MTP) views in knee osteoarthritis: a comparative radiographic study, without fluoroscopy, of standing extended, semiflexed (MTP), and schuss views. J Rheumatol 26, 2664–2674.
- Buckwalter, J.A., Mankin, H.J., Grodzinsky, A.J., 2005. Articular Cartilage and Osteoarthritis. AAOS Instr. Course Lect. 54, 465–480.
- Button, K., Roos, P.E., Spasić, I., Adamson, P., van Deursen, R.W.M., 2015. The clinical effectiveness of self-care interventions with an exercise component to manage knee conditions: A systematic review. Knee 22, 360–371.
- Callaghan, M.J., McCarthy, C.J., Al-Omar, A., Oldham, J.A., 2000. The reproducibility of multi-joint isokinetic and isometric assessments in a healthy and patient population. Clin. Biomech. 15, 678–683.
- Callahan, D.M., Tourville, T.W., Slauterbeck, J.R., Ades, P.A., Stevens-Lapsley, J.,
  Beynnon, B.D., Toth, M.J., 2015. Reduced rate of knee extensor torque development in older adults with knee osteoarthritis is associated with intrinsic muscle contractile deficits. Exp. Gerontol. 72, 16–21.
- Carpenter, M.R., Carpenter, R.L., Peel, J., Zukley, L.M., Angelopoulou, K.M., Fischer, I., Angelopoulos, T.J., Rippe, J.M., 2006. The reliability of isokinetic and isometric leg strength measures among individuals with symptoms of mild osteoarthritis. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 46, 585–589.
- Chang, A.H., Moisio, K.C., Chmiel, J.S., Eckstein, F., Guermazi, A., Prasad, P.V., Zhang, Y., Almagor, O., Belisle, L., Hayes, K., Sharma, L., 2015. External knee adduction

and flexion moments during gait and medial tibiofemoral disease progression in knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 23, 1099–1106.

- Chehab, E.F., Favre, J., Erhart-Hledik, J.C., Andriacchi, T.P., 2014. Baseline knee adduction and flexion moments during walking are both associated with 5 year cartilage changes in patients with medial knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 22, 1833–1839.
- Chen, C-T., Burton-Wurster, N., Lust, G., Bank, R.A., Tekoppele, J.M., 1999.
  Compositional and Metabolic Changes in Damages Cartilage are Peak-Stress, Stress-Rate, and Loading-Duration Dependent. J. Orthop. Res. 17, 870–879.
- Cicuttini, F., Forbes, A., Asbeutah, A., Morris, K., Stuckey, S., 2000. Comparison and reproducibility of fast and conventional spoiled gradient-echo magnetic resonance sequences in the determination of knee cartilage volume. J Orthop Res 18, 580–584.
- Cicuttini, F., Hankin, J., Jones, G., Wluka, A., 2005. Comparison of conventional standing knee radiographs and magnetic resonance imaging in assessing progression of tibiofemoral joint osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 13, 722–727.
- Collins, J.E., Katz, J.N., Dervan, E.E., Losina, E., 2014. Trajectories and Risk Profiles of Pain in Persons with Radiographic, Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis: Data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 22, 622–630.
- Collins, N.J., Prinsen, C.A.C., Christensen, R., Bartels, E.M., Terwee, C.B., Roos, E.M., 2016. Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): Systematic review and meta-analysis of measurement properties. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 24, 1317–1329.

Costigan, P.A., Deluzio, K.J., Wyss, U.P., 2002. Knee and hip kinetics during normal

stair climbing. Gait Posture 16, 31–7.

- Creaby, M.W., 2015. It's not all about the knee adduction moment: the role of the knee flexion moment in medial knee joint loading. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 23, 1–3.
- Creaby, M.W., Wang, Y., Bennell, K.L., Hinman, R.S., Metcalf, B.R., Bowles, K., Cicuttini, F.M., 2010. Dynamic knee loading is related to cartilage defects and tibial plateau bone area in medial knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 18, 1380–5.
- Crema, M.D., Roemer, F.W., Marra, M.D., Burstein, D., Gold, G.E., Eckstein, F., Baum,
  T., Mosher, T.J., Carrino, J.A., Guermazi, A., 2011. Articular cartilage in the knee:
  current MR imaging techniques and applications in clinical practice and research.
  Radiographics 31, 37–61.
- Culvenor, A.G., Wirth, W., Roth, M., Hunter, D.J., Eckstein, F., 2016. Predictive Capacity of Thigh Muscle Strength in Symptomatic and/or Radiographic Knee Osteoarthritis Progression. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 95, 931–938.
- Davis, A.M., Lohmander, L.S., Wong, R., Venkataramanan, V., Hawker, G.A., 2010.Evaluating the responsiveness of the ICOAP following hip or knee replacement.Osteoarthr. Cartil. 18, 1043–1045.
- Davison, M., Ioannidis, G., Maly, M., Adachi, J., Beattie, K., 2016. Intermittent and constant pain and physical function or performance in men and women with knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. Clin. Rheumatol. 35, 371–379.
- Dekker, J., van Dijk, G.M., Veenhof, C., 2009. Risk factors for functional decline in osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. Curr. Opin. Rheumatol. 21, 520–524.

DeVita, P., Hortobágyi, T., 2003. Obesity is not associated with increased knee joint

torque and power during level walking. J. Biomech. 36, 1355–1362.

- Ding, C., Parameswaran, V., Cicuttini, F., Burgess, J., Zhai, G., Quinn, S., Jones, G., 2008. Association between leptin, body composition, sex and knee cartilage morphology in older adults: the Tasmanian older adult cohort (TASOAC) study. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 67, 1256–1261.
- Dobson, F., Hinman, R.S., Hall, M., Terwee, C.B., Roos, E.M., Bennell, K.L., 2012.
  Measurement properties of performance-based measures to assess physical function in hip and knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 20, 1548– 1562.
- Dobson, F., Hinman, R.S., Roos, E.M., Abbott, J.H., Stratford, P., Davis, A.M.,
  Buchbinder, R., Snyder-Mackler, L., Henrotin, Y., Thumboo, J., Hansen, P.,
  Bennell, K.L., 2013. OARSI recommended performance-based tests to assess
  physical function in people diagnosed with hip or knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr.
  Cartil. 21, 1042–1052.
- Doré, D.A., Winzenberg, T.M., Ding, C., Otahal, P., Pelletier, J-P., Martel-Pelletier, J., Cicuttini, F.M., Jones, G., 2013. The association between objectively measured physical activity and knee structural change using MRI. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 72, 1170– 1175.
- Dougados, M., 2004. Monitoring osteoarthritis progression and therapy. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 12A, S55-60.
- Du, H.Y., Newton, P.J., Salamonson, Y., Carrieri-Kohlman, V.L., Davidson, P.M., 2009. A review of the six-minute walk test: Its implication as a self-administered

assessment tool. Eur. J. Cardiovasc. Nurs. 8, 2–8.

- Dyrstad, S.M., Hansen, B.H., Holme, I.M., Anderssen, S.A., 2014. Comparison of Selfreported versus Accelerometer-Measured Physical Activity. Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc. 46, 99–106.
- Eckstein, F., Burstein, D., Link, T.M., 2006. Quantitative MRI of cartilage and bone: degenerative changes in osteoarthritis. NMR Biomed. 19, 822–854.
- Eckstein, F., Glaser, C., 2004. Measuring cartilage morphology with quantitative magnetic resonance imaging. Semin. Musculoskelet. Radiol. 8, 329–353.
- Eckstein, F., Reiser, M., Englmeier, K.H., Putz, R., 2001. In vivo morphometry and functional analysis of human articular cartilage with quantitative magnetic resonance imaging from image to data, from data to theory. Anat. Embryol. 203, 147–173.
- Erhart-Hledik, J.C., Asay, J.L., Clancy, C., Chu, C.R., Andriacchi, T.P., 2017. Effects of Active Feedback Gait Retraining to Produce a Medial Weight Transfer at the Foot in Subjects With Symptomatic Medial Knee Osteoarthritis. J. Orthop. Res. 1–9 [Epub ahead of print].
- Erhart-Hledik, J.C., Favre, J., Andriacchi, T.P., 2015. New insight in the relationship between regional patterns of knee cartilage thickness, osteoarthritis disease severity, and gait mechanics. J. Biomech. 48, 3868–3875.
- Faucher, M., Poiraudeau, S., Lefevre-Colau, M.M., Rannou, F., Fermanian, J., Revel, M., 2002. Algo-functional assessment of knee osteoarthritis: Comparison of the testretest reliability and construct validity of the Womac and Lequesne indexes. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 10, 602–610.

Felson, D.T., 2006. Osteoarthritis of the Knee. N. Engl. J. Med. 354, 841–848.

- Felson, D.T., 2004. An update on the pathogenesis and epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Radiol. Clin. North Am. 42, 1–9.
- Felson, D.T., Zhang, Y., Hannan, M.T., Naimark, A., Weissman, B., Aliabadi, P., Levy,D., 1997. Risk factors for incident radiographic knee osteoarthritis in the elderly.Arthritis Rheum. 40, 728–733.
- Fillingim, R.B., King, C.D., Ribeiro-Dasilva, M.C., Rahim-Williams, B., Riley III, J.L.,
  2009. Sex, gender, and pain: a review of recent clinical and experimental findings. J.
  Pain 10, 447–485.
- Fink, B., Egl, M., Singer, J., Fuerst, M., Bubenheim, M., Neuen-Jacob, E., 2007.Morphologic changes in the vastus medialis muscle in patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Rheum. 56, 3626–3633.
- Foley, S., Ding, C., Cicuttini, F., Jones, G., 2007. Physical activity and knee structural change: A longitudinal study using MRI. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39, 426–434.
- Fowler-Brown, A., Kim, D.H., Shi, L., Marcantonio, E., Wee, C.C., Shmerling, R.H., Leveille, S., 2015. The mediating effect of leptin on the relationship between body weight and knee osteoarthritis in older adults. Arthritis Rheumatol. 67, 169–75.
- Freedman Silvernail, J., Milner, C.E., Thompson, D., Zhang, S., Zhao, X., 2013. The influence of body mass index and velocity on knee biomechanics during walking. Gait Posture 37, 575–579.
- Fukui, N., Yamane, S., Ishida, S., Tanaka, K., Masuda, R., Tanaka, N., Katsuragawa, Y., Fukui, S., 2010. Relationship between radiographic changes and symptoms or

physical examination findings in subjects with symptomatic medial knee

osteoarthritis: a three-year prospective study. BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 11, 269.

- Gerbrands, T.A., Pisters, M.F., Theeven, P.J.R., Verschueren, S., Vanwanseele, B., 2017. Lateral trunk lean and medializing the knee as gait strategies for knee osteoarthritis. Gait Posture 51, 247–253.
- Goldring, M.B., Goldring, S.R., 2010. Articular cartilage and subchondral bone in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1192, 230–237.
- Gomez, R., Conde, J., Scotece, M., Gomez-Reino, J.J., Lago, F., Gualillo, O., 2011.What's new in our understanding of the role of adipokines in the rheumatic diseases?Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 7, 528–536.
- Griffin, T.M., Guilak F, 2005. The Role of Mechanical Loading in the Onset and Progression of Osteoarthritis. Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 33, 195–200.

Guccione, A.A., 1994. Arthritis and the process of disablement. Phys. Ther. 74, 408–414.

- Guermazi, A., Eckstein, F., Hayashi, D., Roemer, F.W., Wirth, W., Yang, T., Niu, J.,
  Sharma, L., Nevitt, M., Lewis, C.E., Torner, J., Felson, D.T., 2015. Baseline
  radiographic osteoarthritis and semi-quantitavely assessed meniscal damage and
  extrusion and cartilage damage on MRI is related to quantitatively defined cartilage
  thickness loss in knee osteoarthritis: The Multicenter Osteoarthritis Study.
  Osteoarthr. Cartil. 23, 2191–2198.
- Guilak, F., 2011. Biomechanical factors in knee osteoarthritis. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 25, 815–823.
- Hafez, A.R., Alenazi, A.M., Kachanathu, S.J., Alroumi, A.M., Mohamed, E.S., 2014.

Knee Osteoarthritis: A Review of Literature. Phys. Med. Rehabil. Int. 1, 8.

- Hall, M., Wrigley, T.V., Metcalf, B.R., Cicuttini, F.M., Wang, Y., Hinman, R.S., Dempsey, A.R., Mills, P.M., Lloyd, D.G., Bennell, K.L., 2015. Med. Sci. Sport Exerc. 47, 1549–1556.
- Hall, M., Wrigley, T.V., Metcalf, B.R., Hinman, R.S., Cicuttini, F.M., Dempsey, A.R.,
  Mills, P.M., Lloyd, D.G., Bennell, K.L., 2015. Mechanisms underpinning the peak
  knee flexion moment increase over 2-years following arthroscopic partial
  meniscectomy. Clin. Biomech. 30, 1060–1065.
- Han, H-S., Lee, J-Y., Kang, S-B., Chang, C.B., 2016. The relationship between the presence of depressive symptoms and the severity of self-reported knee pain in the middle aged and elderly. Knee Surgery, Sport. Traumatol. Arthrosc. 24, 1634–1642.
- Hanna, F., Teichtahl, A.J., Bell, R., Davis, S.R., Wluka, A.E., O'Sullivan, R., Cicuttini,F.M., 2007. The cross-sectional relationship between fortnightly exercise and knee cartilage properties in healthy adult women in midlife. Menopause 14, 830–4.
- Hanna, F.S., Wluka, A.E., Bell, R.J., Davis, S.R., Cicuttini, F.M., 2004. Osteoarthritis and the postmenopausal woman: Epidemiological, magnetic resonance imaging, and radiological findings. Semin. Arthritis Rheum. 34, 631–636.
- Harding, G.T., Dunbar, M.J., Hubley-Kozey, C.L., Stanish, W.D., Astephen Wilson, J.L.,
  2016. Obesity is associated with higher absolute tibiofemoral contact and muscle forces during gait with and without knee osteoarthritis. Clin. Biomech. 31, 79–86.
- Harrison, A.L., 2004. The Influence of Pathology, Pain, Balance, and Self-efficacy on Function in Women With Osteoarthritis of the Knee. J. Am. Phys. Ther. Assoc. 84,

822-831.

Hawker, G.A., Davis, A.M., French, M.R., Cibere, J., Jordan, J.M., March, L., Suarez-Almazor, M., Katz, J.N., Dieppe, P., 2008. Development and preliminary psychometric testing of a new OA pain measure - an OARSI/OMERACT initiative.
Osteoarthritis Cartilage 16, 409–14.

- Hawkeswood, J., Reebye, R., 2010. Evidence-based guidelines for the nonpharmacological treatment of osteoarthritis of the hip and knee. BC Med. J. 52, 399–403.
- Helminen, E.-E., Sinikallio, S.H., Valjakka, A.L., Väisänen-Rouvali H., R., Arokoski,
  J.P., 2013. Effectiveness of a cognitive-behavioral group intervention for knee osteoarthritis pain: protocol of a randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet.
  Disord. 14, 46.
- Henriksen, M., Graven-Nielsen, T., Aaboe, J., Andriacchi, T.P., Bliddal, H., 2010. Gait changes in patients with knee osteoarthritis are replicated by experimental knee pain. Arthritis Care Res. 62, 501–9.
- Hunt, M.A., Birmingham, T.B., Giffin, J.R., Jenkyn, T.R., 2006. Associations among knee adduction moment, frontal plane ground reaction force, and lever arm during walking in patients with knee osteoarthritis. J. Biomech. 39, 2213–2220.
- Hunter, D.J., Guermazi, A., Lo, G.H., Grainger, A.J., Conaghan, P.G., Boudreau, R.M.,Roemer, F.W., 2011. Evolution of semiquantitative whole joint assessment of kneeOA: MOAKS (MRI Osteoarthritis Knee Score). Osteoarthr. Cartil. 19, 990–1002.

Hunter, D.J., Guermazi, A., Roemer, F., Zhang, Y., Neogi, T., 2013. Structural correlates

of pain in joints with osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 21, 1170–1178.

- Hunter, D.J., Lo, G.H., Gale, D., Grainger, A.J., Guermazi, A., Conaghan, P.G., 2008.
  The reliability of a new scoring system for knee osteoarthritis MRI and the validity of bone marrow lesion assessment: BLOKS (Boston-Leeds Osteoarthritis Knee Score). Ann. Rheum. Dis. 67, 206–211.
- Hurwitz, D.E., Ryals, A.R., Block, J.A., Sharma, L., Schnitzer, T.J., Andriacchi, T.P., 2000. Knee pain and joint loading in subjects with osteoarthritis of the knee. J. Orthop. Res. 18, 572–9.
- Iannone, F., Lapadula, G., 2010. Obesity and inflammation targets for OA therapy. Curr. Drug Targets 11, 586–598.
- Ikeda, S., Tsumura, H., Torisu, T., 2005. Age-related quadriceps-dominant muscle atrophy and incident radiographic knee osteoarthritis. J. Orthop. Sci. 10, 121–126.
- Issa, R., Griffin, T., 2012. Pathobiology of obesity and osteoarthritis: integrating biomechanics and inflammation. Pathobiol. Aging Age-related Dis. 2, 17470.
- Johnson, V.L., Hunter, D.J., 2014. The epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 28, 5–15.
- Jones, G., Bennell, K., Cicuttini, F.M., 2003. Effect of physical activity on cartilage development in healthy kids. Br. J. Sports Med. 37, 382–383.
- Juhl, C., Lund, H., Roos, E.M., Zhang, W., Christensen, R., 2012. A Hierarchy of Patient-Reported Outcomes for Meta-Analysis of Knee Osteoarthritis Trials: Empirical Evidence from a Survey of High Impact Journals. Arthritis 2012, 1–17.

Kaufman, K.R., Hughes, C., Morrey, B.F., Morrey, M., An, K-N., 2001. Gait

characteristics of patients with knee osteoarthritis. J. Biomech. 34, 907–915.

- Kaukinen, P., Podlipská, J., Guermazi, A., Niinimäki, J., Lehenkari, P., Roemer, F.W.,
  Nieminen, M.T., Koski, J.M., Arokoski, J.P.A., Saarakkala, S., 2016. Associations
  between MRI-defined structural pathology and generalized and localized knee pain the Oulu Knee Osteoarthritis study. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 24, 1565–1576.
- Kean, C.O., Birmingham, T.B., Garland, S.J., Bryant, D.M., Giffin, J.R., 2010. Minimal detectable change in quadriceps strength and voluntary muscle activation in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 91, 1447–1451.
- Kean, C.O., Hinman, R.S., Bowles, K.A., Cicuttini, F., Davies-Tuck, M., Bennell, K.L., 2012. Comparison of peak knee adduction moment and knee adduction moment impulse in distinguishing between severities of knee osteoarthritis. Clin. Biomech. 27, 520–3.
- Kellgren, J.H., Lawrence, J.S., 1957. Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 16, 494–502.
- Kennedy, D.M., Stratford, P.W., Wessel, J., Gollish, J.D., Penney, D., 2005. Assessing stability and change of four performance measures : a longitudinal study evaluating outcome following total hip and knee arthroplasty. BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 6, 3.
- Kessler, S., Guenther, K.P., Puhl, W., 1998. Scoring prevalence and severity in gonarthritis: the suitability of the Kellgren & Lawrence scale. Clin. Rheumatol. 17, 205–9.
- Kijowski, R., Blankenbaker, D., Stanton, P., Fine, J., De Smet, A., 2006. Arthroscopic

validation of radiographic grading scales of osteoarthritis of the tibiofemoral joint. Am. J. Roentgenol. 187, 794–799.

- Kinds, M.B., Welsing, P.M.J., Vignon, E.P., Bijlsma, J.W.J., Viergever, M.A.,
  Marijnissen, A.C.A., Lafeber, F.P.J.G., 2011. A systematic review of the association
  between radiographic and clinical osteoarthritis of hip and knee. Osteoarthr. Cartil.
  19, 768–778.
- Koo, S., Andriacchi, T.P., 2007. A comparison of the influence of global functional loads vs. local contact anatomy on articular cartilage thickness at the knee. J. Biomech. 40, 2961–2966.
- Kornaat, P.R., Ceulemans, R.Y.T., Kroon, H.M., Riyazi, N., Kloppenburg, M., Carter,
  W.O., Woodworth, T.G., Bloem, J.L., 2005. MRI assessment of knee osteoarthritis:
  Knee Osteoarthritis Scoring System (KOSS) Inter-observer and intra-observer
  reproducibility of a compartment-based scoring system. Skeletal Radiol. 34, 95–102.
- Kothari, M., Guermazi, A., von Ingersleben, G., Sieffert, M., Block, J.E., Stevens, R., Peterfy, C.G., 2004. Fixed-flexion radiography of the knee provides reproducible joint space width measurements in osteoarthritis. Eur. Radiol. 14, 1568–73.
- Kumar, D., Manal, K.T., Rudolph, K.S., 2013. Knee joint loading during gait in healthy controls and individuals with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 21, 298–305.
- Kutzner, I., Trepczynski, A., Heller, M.O., Bergmann, G., 2013. Knee adduction moment and medial contact force - Facts about their correlation during gait. PLoS One 8, 8– 15.
- Lai, P.P.K., Leung, A.K.L., Li, A.N.M., Zhang, M., 2008. Three-dimensional gait

analysis of obese adults. Clin. Biomech. 23, S2-S6.

- Lane, N.E., Brandt, K., Hawker, G., Peeva, E., Schreyer, E., Tsuji, W., Hochberg, M.C.,
  2011. OARSI-FDA initiative: Defining the disease state of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr.
  Cartil. 19, 478–482.
- Lange, A.K., Vanwanseele, B., Fiatarone Singh, M.A., 2008. Strength training for treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: A systematic review. Arthritis Care Res 59, 1488–1494.
- Leatherdale, S.T., Laxer, R.E., 2013. Reliability and validity of the weight status and dietary intake measures in the COMPASS questionnaire: are the self-reported measures of body mass index (BMI) and Canada's food guide servings robust? Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 10, 42.
- Lee, R., Kean, W.F., 2012. Obesity and knee osteoarthritis. Inflammopharmacology 20, 53–58.
- Lin, E.H.B., Katon, W., Von Korff, M., Tang, L., Williams Jr, J.W., Kroenke, K., Hunkeler, E., Harpole, L., Hegel, M., Arean, P., Hoffing, M., Della Penna, R., Langston, C., Unutzer, J., 2003. Effect of Improving Depression Care on Pain and Functional Outcomes Among Older Adults With Arthritis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. JAMA 290, 2428–2434.
- Lin, W., Alizai, H., Joseph, G.B., Srikhum, W., Nevitt, M.C., Lynch, J.A., McCulloch, C.E., Link, T.M., 2013. Physical activity in relation to knee cartilage T2 progression measured with 3 T MRI over a period of 4 years: data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 21, 1558–1566.

- Litwic, A., Edwards, M.H., Dennison, E.M., Cooper, C., 2013. Epidemiology and burden of osteoarthritis. Br. Med. Bull. 105, 185–199.
- Lorig, K., Chastain, R.L., Ung, E., Shoor, S., Holman, H.R., 1989. Development and Evaluation of a Scale to Measure Perceived Self-Efficacy in People with Arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 32, 37–44.
- Lu, X.L., Mow, V.C., 2008. Biomechanics of articular cartilage and determination of material properties. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 40, 193–199.
- Lynn, S.K., Reid, S.M., Costigan, P.A., 2007. The influence of gait pattern on signs of knee osteoarthritis in older adults over a 5–11 year follow-up period: A case study analysis. Knee 14, 22–28.
- Maffiuletti, N.A., Bizzini, M., Desbrosses, K., Babault, N., Munzinger, U., 2007.
  Reliability of knee extension and flexion measurements using the Con-Trex isokinetic dynamometer. Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging 27, 346–353.
- Maly, M.R., Acker, S.M., Totterman, S., Tamez-Peña, J., Stratford, P.W., Callaghan, J.P., Adachi, J.D., Beattie, K.A., 2015. Knee adduction moment relates to medial femoral and tibial cartilage morphology in clinical knee osteoarthritis. J. Biomech. 48, 3495– 3501.
- Maly, M.R., Costigan, P.A., Olney, S.J., 2008. Mechanical factors relate to pain in knee osteoarthritis. Clin. Biomech. 23, 796–805.
- Maly, M.R., Costigan, P.A., Olney, S.J., 2006. Determinants of self-report outcome measures in people with knee osteoarthritis. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 87, 96–104.
- Maly, M.R., Robbins, S.M., Stratford, P.W., Birmingham, T.B., Callaghan, J.P., 2013.

Cumulative knee adductor load distinguishes between healthy and osteoarthritic knees - A proof of principle study. Gait Posture 37, 397–401.

- Manal, K., Gardinier, E., Buchanan, T.S., Snyder-Mackler, L., 2015. A more informed evaluation of medial compartment loading: the combined use of the knee adduction and flexor moments. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 23, 1107–1111.
- McAlindon, T.E., Bannuru, R.R., Sullivan, M.C., Arden, N.K., Berenbaum, F., Bierma-Zeinstra, S.M., Hawker, G. a., Henrotin, Y., Hunter, D.J., Kawaguchi, H., Kwoh, K., Lohmander, S., Rannou, F., Roos, E.M., Underwood, M., 2014. OARSI guidelines for the non-surgical management of knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 22, 363–388.
- McConnell, S., Kolopack, P., Davis, A.M., 2001. The Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC): a review of its utility and measurement properties. Arthritis Rheum. 45, 453–461.
- McFadyen, B.J., Winter, D.A., 1988. An Integrated Biomechanical Analysis of Normal Stair Asecent and Descent. J. Biomech. 21, 733–744.
- Messier, S.P., Ettinger, W.H., Doyle, T.E., Morgan, T., James, M.K., O'Toole, M.L.,Burns, R., 1996. Obesity: Effects on Gait in an Osteoarthritic Population. J. Appl.Biomech. 12, 161–172.
- Messier, S.P., Pater, M., Beavers, D.P., Legault, C., Loeser, R.F., Hunter, D.J., DeVita, P., 2014. Influences of alignment and obesity on knee joint loading in osteoarthritic gait. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 22, 912–917.

Meyer, A.J., D'Lima, D.D., Besier, T.F., Lloyd, D.G., Colwell, C.W., Fregly, B.J., 2013.

Are external knee load and EMG measures accurate indicators of internal knee contact forces during gait? J. Orthop. Res. 31, 921–929.

- Mezhov, V., Ciccutini, F.M., Hanna, F.S., Brennan, S.L., Wang, Y.Y., Urquhart, D.M., Wluka, A.E., 2014. Does obesity affect knee cartilage? A systematic review of magnetic resonance imaging data. Obes. Rev. 15, 143–157.
- Mikesky, A.E., Mazzuca, S.A., Brandt, K.D., Perkins, S.M., Damush, T., Lane, K.A., 2006. Effects of strength training on the incidence and progression of knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Care Res. 55, 690–699.
- Miller, M.E., Rejeski, W.J., Messier, S.P., Loeser, R.F., 2001. Modifiers of change in physical functioning in older adults with knee pain: the Observational Arthritis Study in Seniors (OASIS). Arthritis Rheum. 45, 331–9.
- Mills, K., Hunt, M.A., Ferber, R., 2013. Biomechanical deviations during level walking associated with knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Arthritis Care Res. 65, 1643–1665.
- Miyazaki, T., Wada, M., Kawahara, H., Sato, M., Baba, H., Shimada, S., 2002. Dynamic load at baseline can predict radiographic disease progression in medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 61, 617–22.
- Moyer, R.F., Birmingham, T.B., Bryant, D.M., Gif, J.R., Marriott, K.A., Leitch, K.M., 2015. Biomechanical effects of valgus knee bracing: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 23, 178–188.
- Moyer, R.F., Birmingham, T.B., Dombroski, C.E., Walsh, R.F., Leitch, K.M., Jenkyn, T.R., Giffin, J.R., 2013. Combined effects of a valgus knee brace and lateral wedge

foot orthotic on the external knee adduction moment in patients with varus gonarthrosis. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 94, 103–112.

- Moyer, R.F., Ratneswaran, A., Beier, F., Birmingham, T.B., 2014. Osteoarthritis Year in Review 2014: mechanics – basic and clinical studies in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 22, 1989–2002.
- Mundermann, A., Dyrby, C.O., Hurwitz, D.E., Sharma, L., Andriacchi, T.P., 2004.
  Potential Strategies to Reduce Medial Compartment Loading in Patients With Knee
  Osteoarthritis of Varying Severity. Reduced Walking Speed. Arthritis Rheum. 50, 1172–1178.
- Neogi, T., Zhang, Y., 2013. Epidemiology of Osteoarthritis. Rheum. Dis. Clin. North Am. 39, 1–19.
- Newton, P.M., Mow, V.C., Gardner, T.R., Buckwalter, J.A., Albright, J.P., 1997. The Effect of Lifelong Exercise on Canine Articular Cartilage. Am. J. Sports Med. 25, 282–287.
- Niinimäki, T., Ojala, R., Niinimäki, J., Leppilahti, J., 2010. The standing fixed flexion view detects narrowing of the joint space better than the standing extended view in patients with moderate osteoarthritis of the knee. Acta Orthop. 81, 344–346.
- Nuesch, E., Dieppe, P., Reichenbach, S., Williams, S., Iff, S., Juni, P., 2011. All cause and disease specific mortality in patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis: population based cohort study. BMJ 342, d1165.
- O'Connell, M., Farrokhi, S., Fitzgerald, G.K., 2016. The role of knee joint moments and knee impairments on self-reported knee pain during gait in patients with knee

osteoarthritis. Clin. Biomech. 31, 40-46.

- O'Reilly, S.C., Jones, a, Muir, K.R., Doherty, M., 1998. Quadriceps weakness in knee osteoarthritis: the effect on pain and disability. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 57, 588–594.
- Oak, S.R., Ghodadra, A., Winalski, C.S., Miniaci, A., Jones, M.H., 2013. Radiographic joint space width is correlated with 4-year clinical outcomes in patients with knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 21, 1185–90.
- Oiestad, B.E., Juhl, C.B., Eitzen, I., Thorlund, J.B., 2015a. Knee extensor muscle weakness is a risk factor for development of knee osteoarthritis. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 23, 171–177.
- Oiestad, B.E., Quinn, E., White, D., Roemer, F., Guermazi, A., Nevitt, M., Segal, N.A., Lewis, C.E., Felson, D.T., 2015b. No Association between Daily Walking and Knee Structural Changes in People at Risk of or with Mild Knee Osteoarthritis.
  Prospective Data from the Multicenter Osteoarthritis Study. J. Rheumatol. 42, 1685– 1693.
- Oiestad, B.E., White, D.K., Booton, R., Niu, J., Zhang, Y., Torner, J., Lewis, C.E., Nevitt, M., LaValley, M.P., Felson, D.T., 2016. Longitudinal Course of Physical Function in People With Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis: Data From the Multicenter
  Osteoarthritis Study and the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Arthritis Care Res. 68, 325–331.
- Peterfy, C.G., Guermazi, A., Zaim, S., Tirman, P.F.J., Miaux, Y., White, D., Kothari, M., Lu, Y., Fye, K., Zhao, S., Genant, H.K., 2004. Whole-organ magnetic resonance imaging score (WORMS) of the knee in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 12, 177–

190.

- Petterson, S.C., Barrance, P., Buchanan, T., Binder-Macleod, S., Snyder-Mackler, L., 2008. Mechanisms underlying quadriceps weakness in knee osteoarthritis. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 40, 422–427.
- Pisters, M.F., Veenhof, C., van Dijk, G.M., Heymans, M.W., Twisk, J.W.R., Dekker, J., 2012. The course of limitations in activities over 5 years in patients with knee and hip osteoarthritis with moderate functional limitations: Risk factors for future functional decline. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 20, 503–510.
- Prodromos, C.C., Andriacchi, T.P., Galante, J.O., 1985. A Relationship between Gait and Clinical Changes following High Tibial Osteotomy. J. Bone Joint Surg. Am. 67, 1188–1194.
- Protopapadaki, A., Drechsler, W.I., Cramp, M.C., Coutts, F.J., Scott, O.M., 2007. Hip, knee, ankle kinematics and kinetics during stair ascent and descent in healthy young individuals. Clin. Biomech. 22, 203–210.
- Qi, C., Changlin, H., 2006. Effects of moving training on histology and biomarkers levels of articular cartilage. J. Surg. Res. 135, 352–63.
- Radzimski, A.O., Mundermann, A., Sole, G., 2012. Effect of footwear on the external knee adduction moment A systematic review. Knee 19, 163–175.
- Raynauld, J.P., Martel-Pelletier, J., Berthiaume, M.J., Labonté, F., Beaudoin, G., De
  Guise, J.A., Bloch, D.A., Choquette, D., Haraoui, B., Altman, R.D., Hochberg,
  M.C., Meyer, J.M., Cline, G.A., Pelletier, J.P., 2004. Quantitative Magnetic
  Resonance Imaging Evaluation of Knee Osteoarthritis Progression over Two Years

and Correlation with Clinical Symptoms and Radiologic Changes. Arthritis Rheum. 50, 476–487.

- Reid, K.F., Fielding, R.A., 2012. Skeletal Muscle Power: A Critical Determinant of Physical Functioning In Older Adults. Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 40, 4–12.
- Rejeski, W.J., Miller, M.E., Foy, C., Messier, S.P., Rapp, S., 2001. Self-efficacy and the progression of functional limitations and self-reported disability in older adults with knee pain. J. Gerontol. B. Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 56, S261-5.
- Rice, D.A., McNair, P.J., 2010. Quadriceps Arthrogenic Muscle Inhibition: Neural Mechanisms and Treatment Perspectives. Semin. Arthritis Rheum. 40, 250–266.
- Riddle, D.L., Stratford, P.W., 2013. Unilateral vs bilateral symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: associations between pain intensity and function. Rheumatology 52, 2229–2237.
- Rikli, R.E., Jones, C.J., 1998. The Reliability and Validity of a 6-Minute Walk Test as a Measure of Physical Endurance in Older Adults. J. Aging Phys. Act. 6, 363–375.
- Robbins, S.M., Astephen Wilson, J.L., Rutherford, D.J., Hubley-Kozey, C.L., 2013.
  Reliability of principal components and discrete parameters of knee angle and moment gait waveforms in individuals with moderate knee osteoarthritis. Gait Posture 38, 421–427.
- Robbins, S.M., Rastogi, R., Howard, J., Rosedale, R., 2014. Comparison of measurement properties of the P4 pain scale and disease specific pain measures in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 22, 805–812.

Robbins, S.M.K., Birmingham, T.B., Jones, G.R., Callaghan, J.P., Maly, M.R., 2009.

Developing an estimate of daily cumulative loading for the knee: examining testretest reliability. Gait Posture 30, 497–501.

- Roemer, F.W., Crema, M.D., Trattnig, S., Guermazi, A., 2011. Advances in imaging of osteoarthritis and cartilage. Radiology 260, 332–354.
- Roos, E.M., Dahlberg, L., 2005. Positive effects of moderate exercise on glycosaminoglycan content in knee cartilage: A four-month, randomized, controlled trial in patients at risk of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 52, 3507–3514.
- Roos, E.M., Lohmander, L.S., 2003. The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): from joint injury to osteoarthritis. Health Qual. Life Outcomes 1, 64.
- Runhaar, J., Koes, B.W., Clockaerts, S., Bierma-Zeinstra, S.M.A., 2011. A systematic review on changed biomechanics of lower extremities in obese individuals: a possible role in development of osteoarthritis. Obes. Rev. 12, 1071–1082.
- Russell, E.M., Braun, B., Hamill, J., 2010. Does stride length influence metabolic cost and biomechanical risk factors for knee osteoarthritis in obese women? Clin. Biomech. 25, 438–443.
- Rutherford, D.J., Hubley-Kozey, C.L., Stanish, W.D., Dunbar, M.J., 2011. Neuromuscular alterations exist with knee osteoarthritis presence and severity despite walking velocity similarities. Clin. Biomech. 26, 377–383.
- Sallis, J.F., Saelens, B.E., 2000. Assessment of Physical Activity by Self-Report: Status, Limitations, and Future Directions. Res. Q. Exerc. Sport 71, 1–14.
- Sayers, S.P., 2007. High-speed power training: a novel approach to resistance training in older men and women. A brief review and pilot study. J. Strength Cond. Res. 21,

518–526.

- Schipplein, O.D., Andriacchi, T.P., 1991. Interaction between active and passive knee stabilizers during level walking. J. Orthop. Res. 9, 113–119.
- Schmitt, L.C., Rudolph, K.S., 2007. Influences on Knee Movement Strategies During Walking in Persons With Medial Knee Osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 57, 1018– 1026.
- Segal, N.A., Glass, N.A., Torner, J., Yang, M., Felson, D.T., Sharma, L., Nevitt, M., Lewis, C.E., 2010. Quadriceps weakness predicts risk for knee joint space narrowing in women in the MOST cohort. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 18, 769–775.
- Segal, N.A., Yack, J., Khole, P., 2009. Weight, Rather Than Obesity Distribution, Explains Peak External Knee Adduction Moment During Level Gait. Am. J. Phys. 88, 180–246.
- Segal, N., Glass, N., 2011. Is Quadriceps Muscle Weakness a Risk Factor for Incident or Progressive Knee Osteoarthritis? Phys. Sportsmed. 39, 44–50.
- Sharif, B., Kopec, J.A., Rahman, M., Bansback, N., Sayre, E.C., Fine, P., Wong, H., Anis, A.H., 2012. Projecting the Direct Cost Burden of Osteoarthritis in Canada Using a Population-Based Microsimulation Model From [2010–2031]. Arthritis Rheum. 64, \$1037.
- Sharma, L., Cahue, S., Song, J., Hayes, K., Pai, Y.C., Dunlop, D., 2003. Physical Functioning over Three Years in Knee Osteoarthritis: Role of Psychosocial, Local Mechanical, and Neuromuscular Factors. Arthritis Rheum. 48, 3359–3370.

Sharma, L., Hurwitz, D.E., Thonar, E.J-M.A., Sum, J.A., Lenz, M.E., Dunlop, D.D.,

Schnitzer, T.J., Kirwan-Mellis, G., Andriacchi, T.P., 1998. Knee adduction moment, serum hyaluronan level, and disease severity in medial tibiofemoral osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 41, 1233–1240.

- Sharma, L., Pai, Y.C., 1997. Impaired proprioception and osteoarthritis. Curr. Opin. Rheumatol. 9, 253–258.
- Shelburne, K.B., Torry, M.R., Pandy, M.G., 2006. Contributions of Muscles, Ligaments, and the Ground-Reaction Force to Tibiofemoral Joint Loading During Normal Gait.J. Orthop. Res. 24, 1983–1990.
- Silverwood, V., Blagojevic-Bucknall, M., Jinks, C., Jordan, J.L., Protheroe, J., Jordan,
  K.P., 2015. Current evidence on risk factors for knee osteoarthritis in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 23, 507–515.
- Simic, M., Hinman, R.S., Wrigley, T. V, Bennell, K.L., Hunt, M.A., 2011. Gait Modification Strategies for Altering Medial Knee Joint Load: A Systematic Review. Arthritis Care Res. 63, 405–426.
- Simic, M., Hunt, M.A., Bennell, K.L., Hinman, R.S., Wrigley, T. V, 2012. Trunk LeanGait Modification and Knee Joint Load in People With Medial Knee Osteoarthritis:The Effect of Varying Trunk Lean Angles. Arthritis Care Res. 64, 1545–1553.
- Sischek, E.L., Birmingham, T.B., Leitch, K.M., Martin, R., Willits, K., Giffin, J.R., 2014.
  Staged medial opening wedge high tibial osteotomy for bilateral varus gonarthrosis:
  biomechanical and clinical outcomes. Knee 22, 2672–2681.
- Skou, S.T., Rasmussen, S., Laursen, M.B., Rathleff, M.S., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Simonsen,O., Roos, E.M., 2015. The efficacy of 12 weeks non-surgical treatment for patients

not eligible for total knee replacement: A randomized controlled trial with 1-year follow-up. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 23, 1465–1475.

- Sowers, M.R., Karvonen-Gutierrez, C.A., 2010. The evolving role of obesity in knee osteoarthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 22, 533–537.
- Spector, T.D., Hochberg, M.C., 1994. Methodological problems in the epidemiological study of osteoarthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 53, 143–6.
- Spector, T.D., MacGregor, A.J., 2004. Risk factors for osteoarthritis: Genetics. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 12, S39–S44.
- Srikanth, V.K., Fryer, J.L., Zhai, G., Winzenberg, T.M., Hosmer, D., Jones, G., 2005. A meta-analysis of sex differences prevalence, incidence and severity of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 13, 769–781.
- Stannus, O., Jones, G., Cicuttini, F., Parameswaran, V., Quinn, S., Burgess, J., Ding, C., 2010. Circulating levels of IL-6 and TNF-α are associated with knee radiographic osteoarthritis and knee cartilage loss in older adults. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 18, 1441– 1447.
- Stannus, O.P., Cao, Y., Antony, B., Blizzard, L., Cicuttini, F., Jones, G., Ding, C., 2015. Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between circulating leptin and knee cartilage thickness in older adults. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 74, 82–88.
- Steultjens, M., Dekker, J., Van Der Esch, M., 2006. The pros and cons of muscle cocontraction in osteoarthritis of the knee: Comment on the article by Lewek et al. Arthritis Rheum. 54, 1354.

Stratford, P.W., Kennedy, D.M., 2004. Does parallel item content on WOMAC's pain

and function subscales limit its ability to detect change in functional status? BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 5, 1–9.

- Stratford, P.W., Kennedy, D.M., Woodhouse, L.J., 2006. Performance Measures Provide Assessments of Pain and Function in People With Advanced Osteoarthritis of the Hip or Knee. Phys. Ther. 86, 1489–1496.
- Sun, H.B., 2010. Mechanical loading, cartilage degradation, and arthritis. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1211, 37–50.
- Tanamas, S., Hanna, F.S., Cicuttini, F.M., Wluka, A.E., Berry, P., Urquhart, D.M., 2009.Does knee malalignment increase the risk of development and progression of knee osteoarthritis? A systematic review. Arthritis Care Res. 61, 459–467.
- Teichtahl, A.J., Wluka, A.E., Wang, Y., Strauss, B.J., Proietto, J., Dixon, J.B., Jones, G., Forbes, A., Kouloyan-Ilic, S., Martel-Pelletier, J., Pelletier, J-P., Cicuttini, F.M., 2014. The longitudinal relationship between changes in body weight and changes in medial tibial cartilage, and pain among community-based adults with and without meniscal tears. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 73, 1652–1658.
- Thorp, L.E., Sumner, D.R., Block, J.A., Moisio, K.C., Shott, S., Wimmer, M.A., 2006. Knee joint loading differs in individuals with mild compared with moderate medial knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 54, 3842–9.
- Thorp, L.E., Sumner, D.R., Wimmer, M.A., Block, J.A., 2007. Relationship between pain and medial knee joint loading in mild radiographic knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 57, 1254–60.

Trepczynski, A., Kutzner, I., Bergmann, G., Taylor, W.R., Heller, M.O., 2014.

Modulation of the relationship between external knee adduction moments and medial joint contact forces across subjects and activities. Arthritis Rheumatol. 66, 1218–1227.

- Turkiewicz, A., Petersson, I.F., Björk, J., Hawker, G., Dahlberg, L.E., Lohmander, L.S., Englund, M., 2014. Current and future impact of osteoarthritis on health care: A population-based study with projections to year 2032. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 22, 1826– 1832.
- Valtonen, A.M., Pöyhönen, T., Manninen, M., Heinonen, A., Sipilä, S., 2015. Knee
  Extensor and Flexor Muscle Power Explains Stair Ascension Time in Patients With
  Unilateral Late-Stage Knee Osteoarthritis: A Cross-Sectional Study. Arch. Phys.
  Med. Rehabil. 96, 253–259.
- Van Dijk, G.M., Dekker, J., Veenhof, C., Van Den Ende, C.H.M., 2006. Course of functional status and pain in osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: A systematic review of the literature. Arthritis Care Res. 55, 779–785.
- Vignon, É., Valat, J.P., Rossignol, M., Avouac, B., Rozenberg, S., Thoumie, P., Avouac, J., Nordin, M., Hilliquin, P., 2006. Osteoarthritis of the knee and hip and activity: a systematic international review and synthesis (OASIS). Jt. Bone Spine 73, 442–455.
- Villadsen, A., Roos, E.M., Overgaard, S., Holsgaard-Larsen, A., 2012. Agreement and Reliability of Functional Performance and Muscle Power in Patients with Advanced Osteoarthritis of the Hip or Knee. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 91, 401–410.

Walter, J.P., D'Lima, D.D., Colwell, C.W., Fregly, B.J., 2010. Decreased knee adduction

moment does not guarantee decreased medial contact force during gait. J. Orthop. Res. 28, 1348–1354.

- Wang, D., Jones, M.H., Khair, M.M., Miniaci, A., 2010. Patient-reported outcome measures for the knee. J. Knee Surg. 23, 137–151.
- Wang, J-W., Kuo, K.N., Andriacchi, T.P., Galante, J.O., 1990. The Influence of Walking Mechanics and Time on the Results of Proximal Tibial Osteotomy. J. Bone Joint Surg. Am. 72, 905–909.
- Wang, Y., Simpson, J.A., Wluka, A.E., Teichtahl, A.J., English, D.R., Giles, G.G.,
  Graves, S., Cicuttini, F.M., 2011. Is physical activity a risk factor for primary knee
  or hip replacement due to osteoarthritis? A prospective cohort study. J. Rheumatol.
  38, 350–7.
- Ware, J., Kosinski, M., Keller, S.D., 1996. A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey:
  Construction of Scales and Preliminary Tests of Reliability and Validity. Med. Care 34, 220–233.
- Ware, J.E., Sherbourne, C.D., 1992. The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36): I. Conceptual Framework and Item Selection. Med. Care 30, 473–483.
- Webster, K.E., Feller, J.A., 2016. Comparison of the short form-12 (SF-12) health status questionnaire with the SF-36 in patients with knee osteoarthritis who have replacement surgery. Knee Surgery, Sport. Traumatol. Arthrosc. 24, 2620–2626.
- Weidow, J., Tranberg, R., Karrholm, J., 2006. Hip and Knee Joint Rotations Differ between Patients with Medial and Lateral Knee Osteoarthritis: Gait Analysis of 30 Patients and 15 Controls. J. Orthop. Res. 24, 1890–1899.

- Wessel, J., 1996. Isometric strength measurements of knee extensors in women with osteoarthritis of the knee. J Rheumatol 23, 328–331.
- Whelton, C., Thomas, A., Elson, D.W., Metcalfe, A., Forrest, S., Wilson, C., Holt, C.,Whatling, G., 2017. Clinical Biomechanics Combined effect of toe out gait and hightibial osteotomy on knee adduction moment in patients with varus knee deformity.Clin. Biomech. 43, 109–114.
- White, D.K., Neogi, T., Nguyen, U-S.D.T., Niu, J., Zhang, Y., 2016. Trajectories of functional decline in knee osteoarthritis: the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Rheumatology 55, 801–808.
- Wilken, J.M., Rodriguez, K.M., Brawner, M., Darter, B.J., 2012. Reliability and minimal detectible change values for gait kinematics and kinetics in healthy adults. Gait Posture 35, 301–307.
- World Health Organization, 2006. BMI Classification. Global Database on Body Mass Index. URL http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro\_3.html
- Zacharias, A., Green, R.A., Semciw, A.I., Kingsley, M.I.C., Pizzari, T., 2014. Efficacy of rehabilitation programs for improving muscle strength in people with hip or knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 22, 1752– 1773.
- Zeni Jr, J.A., Higginson, J.S., 2009. Differences in gait parameters between healthy subjects and persons with moderate and severe knee osteoarthritis: A result of altered walking speed? Clin. Biomech. 24, 372–378.
- Zhang, Y., Jordan, J.M., 2010. Epidemiology of Osteoarthritis. Clin. Geriatr. Med. 26,

355-369.

Zhao, D., Banks, S.A., Mitchell, K.H., D'Lima, D.D., Colwell, C.W., Fregly, B.J., 2007. Correlation between the knee adduction torque and medial contact force for a variety of gait patterns. J. Orthop. Res. 25, 789–797.